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GANG VIOLENCE AND CONTROL 

MONDAYr FEBRUARY 7, 1983 

U.S. SENATE, 
SUBCO~I~IITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE~ 

C0~J[~rlTTEE ON THE ~UDICIARy, 
Westwood, Gali/. 

The subcommittee met pursuant to notice, at 9:30 a.m., in room 
11209, Federal Building, 11000 1Vilshire Boulevard, Westwood, Calif., 
Hon. Arlen Specter (chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Also present: Kevin S. Mills, counsel; Jonathan C. Le~ in, counsel. 

OPENING STATEMENT 0]~ HON. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SENATOR 
FROM THE STATE OF I~ENNSYLVANIA, CHAIRMAN OF THE SUB- 
COMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE 

Senator Srzcw~a. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. 
The hour of 9:30 having arrived, we will commence these hearings. 
This is a hearing of the Juvenile Justice Subcommittee of the Com- 

mittee on the Judiciary of the U.S. Senate. 
And the propose of these hearings will be to inquire into the gang 

killings in the Los Angeles area with a view to what might be done by 
the Federal  Government. 

Last year, Congress passed a Justice Assistance Act which would 
provide Federal funding for imporLant projects on the State and local 
level. 

Unfoi~unately, that act was pocket vetoed by President Reagan on 
danual T 14 because of a provision unrelated to justice assistance, but 
rather on the issue of a drug coordinator. 

Last week I reintroduced this legislation on justice assistance, which 
comes within the jurisdiction of the Juvenile Justice Subcommittee. 

And the essence of this justice assistance bill is to take the best of the 
old Law Enfol~ement Assistance Administration with a view to pro- 
viding Federal funding on problems where the Federal Government 
can be of some special assistance. 

The problem of gang ldllings is one ~¢here Los Angeles has attracted 
nationwide attention ~ ith some 351 gang killings in the calendar year 
-1980. 

I t  is a subject that I have had great concern about over the years. 
When I was district attorney inPhi ladelphia  in the late 1960's and 

ea r ly  1970's, Philadelphia and Chicago had the national lead in gang 
killings. 

Los Angeles has overtaken all existing records. 
(1) 
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In PhiladelpMa we received t'he ill-st of juvenile gang control grants 
from the old Law Enforcement Assistancca Administration back in . 
]969 and 1970. 

And it is my thought that there may be some sort of analogous help 
which the Federal Government can provide for Los Angeles at t lris.  
time. 

We have a distinguished list of ~itnesses today. We have the district.- 
attorney of Los Angeles. We have a supervisor o':f Los Angeles County.~ 

And we've been requested to call first of all Hon. Ed Edehnan, 
Los Angeles County Supervisor. 

Is he here? ~'Ir. Edehnan ? 
5Ir. LEVIN. Not yet. 
Senator SeECTEm Well, it gives me great pleasure to call Hon. 

Robert H. Philibosian. district attorney o:f Los Angeles. 
District Attorney Philibosian, I welcome you here. I have some 

famili.u'itv with tim natm'e of your problems. 
I t  is a. difficult but fascinating job to be It district attorney in a big, 

tough area like Los Angeles, bigger than Philadelphia: I_)tlt I don't 
think any tougher than Philadelphia. 

We have comparable rates of homicide~ rape~ robbery, burglary, 
and organized crime. 

But we welcome you here. We '/ppreciate your being with u% and 
I might say by wa3;'of an ~lddition. we had c:'dled you last week. 

There:s one other subject whi(.h I 'm interested iii, even though it is 
beyond tim scope of the gang killings, and that is the question of cal- 
endar control, which figures into what we are doing a lot of work on 
in the Committee on the Judiciary. 

So to the extent thai; .you could lend some guidance on that subject 
after we go into the gang issue~ I would be very grateful to you. 

The floor is yours. 

STATEMENT OF HON. ROBERT H. PHILIBOSIAN, DISTRICT ATTOR- 
NEY, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, ACCOMPANIED BY IAMES BAS- 
CUE, CHIEF DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, COUNTY OF LOS 
ANGELES 

5'Jr. PrnLmOStaX. Thank you, Senator. 
In the absence of a supervisor let me welcome you and your com- 

mittee to Los Angeles County. 
I kmow that Supervisor Edehnan had planned to be here. He may 

be delayed because of the traffic and the rainfall. 
I 'm very pleased that this committee has decided to come to Los 

Angeles County to take stock of our problems here. 
And I:d like to sl'are with you some thoughts tlmt we have in the 

district attorney's office about gang violence in this particular county. 
Street gang violence in Los Angeles County has re'lched an intolei'- 

able intensity. 
Rival gang activities have turned some areas of the county iv.to 

war zones. This violence is regressing full circle back to the days o-f 
blood feuds. 

Each attack is viewed by the victim's gang as a cause for new 
revenge. Reason is lost. A lethal act may be payment in advance'or 
collection of past debts. 



Gang members  cannot  art iculate specific purposes for  specific shoot- 
" ings or killings. Acts of  violence may also occur for  reasons which 
• are ha rd  to be l ieve- - the  color of  one's shoelaces, an incorrect  hand  

sign, crossing out of  a name on a graffiti covered wall are but  a few 
- examples. 
. Addi t iona l ly ,  gang  violence creates a climate of  te r ror  for  the citi- 
"zens who live m the affected areas. 
" Fami l y  owned residences are f requent ly  r iddled with gunshots.  

e' Some of  these families eat  and sleep on the floor at night  for  fear  of 
.getting shot. 

Remdents do not  ven ture  outdoors a f te r  dark  because they know 
f rom experience tha t  a substantial number  of the victims of gang  
violence are innocent  bystanders.  

In  certain neighborhoods in Los Angeles the so,rod of gunfire is so 
co!nmonplace that  law-:lbicling citizens~m longer exhibit  enough curi- 
osity to go qs f.,v as the i r  windows to see what  is happening.  

This noninvolvement  arising from both comphtcency and f rom fear  
has helped create the problems we face today. 

An indic ' t tor  of the level of violence is the type  of weapons tha t  are 
being used. 

We're  no longer ta l ldng about zip guns and bicycle chains. 
I b rought  with me a 9-millimeter machine pistol that  was recently 

seized f rom a gang naember. We've had it thoroughly  checked, Senator .  
I t  is not loaded. 

This is a 9 - m i l l i m e t e r - - -  
Senator  SI'EGTEII. I shall not ask that  it be marked as an exhibit .  We 

cer ta inly couldn' t  car ry  that  with us across Sta te  lines. 
~[1'. I)IIILIllOSL~,N. "Very well. 
This  weapon, by tile way, is now illegal. I t  has been modified to be- 

conle till alltolnllti¢ weapon, therefore,  being illegal. 
When it was or ig ina l ly  sold, it was semi'lutomatic. I t  was legal at 

that  time. Even  at senfiautomatic, today it is now illegal. 
The  weapon was modified with a kit  which could be purchased, and 

that  kit was used to modi fy  this weapon. 
In its cur ren t  state it is a ful ly  automat ic  weapon. 
When it was seized, three clips were seized with it, including this 

car t r idge  case which is U.S. A r m y  issue. 
Senator  Sm.:c'rER. Would  you ;{find br inging  that  fo rward  so I can 

take a look at  it ? 
Mr. PmLmosb~x.  Certainly.  
This  is a 30-ro,md clip, Senator.  I t  is empty.  
To act ivate  tiffs weapon the clip is inserted, taken off safety. I t  can 

fire------ 
Senator  Sm,:m'ER. And this is an automat ic  weapon there ? 
~[1'. PII ILIIIOSIA~'. Yes, sir, it is. 

"Tha t  can fire 30 rounds in approximate ly  a second and a half .  You 
can iymgi~)e the devtLstation that  that  can do to a crowd of people, let's 
s,q.3', m a p~zza parlor.  
- Senator  SI'EGTEIL Was  this actually used in a gang  battle ? 

Mr. P1nLIt~OSbXX. This  was seized pursuan t  to a search warrant .  We  
don't  know what  its use was. 

"I'm now removing tile flash suppressor which is not necessary for  the 
operat ion of  the weapon. So 3,oct can see what  we're left  with, a very  



small, very compact, and easy to conceal weal)on with tremendous fire- 
power, more firepower than some of our police officers have. 

Senator SrF~CTER. What  were the circumstances which led to the 
seizure of that  weapon ? 

Mr. PHrLmOST~X,','. This was seized pursuant to a search warrant fol: 
weapons that  we understood were being concealed within the home of a 
gang member. 

~ n a t o r  SVECTER. It, was a gang member 
Mr. PItrLmOSrAX. Yes, sir. 
Senator SI'F~CTE~R. Has the case been tried ? 
Mr. PmLmOStAN. hrO. It 's still under investigation. 
I think that  will give the committee an idea of what we're talking 

about. That 's  the kind of gang firepower that's out on our streets. 
The county of Los Angeles encompasses 4,083 square miles and has 

70 different incorporated cities. The unincorporated areas are policed 
by the county sheriff's department. 

But gang violence does not respect our jurisdictional bomldaries. 
The Los Angeles City Police Department reports that  there are 122 

separate street gangs in the city of Los Angeles, alone. 
I t  is estimated that there are al)l)roximately 400 streets gangs in the 

county of Los Angeles and that the total gang membership exceeds 
30,000. 

In East Los Angeles every block is claimed as tur f  or territory by 
at least one gang. 

Literally, every identifiable ethnic population is involved in street 
gang activity. 

Part;cular gangs historically have been violent or passive, depending 
on whether or not the given :rang possesses a requisite 5 percent or 10 
percent of habitual violent offenders. 

As the violent offenders are killed by rivals or incareer.qted, the 
violence of that particular g~mg generally decreases. 

Gang violence has been on the increase in our secondary schools. Los 
Angeles Unified School District has recently issued a rei)ort identify- 
ing 9~07 gangs actively operatin~ on school campuses with as many as 
200 known members i]1 some groups. 

To further  exacerbate the situation n relationship exists between 
the infamous California prison gangs and .~everal of the locally power- 
ful street gangs according to information that we have received. 

I t  appears that street gangs have been infiltrated by paroled prison 
gang members to facilitate the distribution of narcotics in the terri- 
tories dominated by these infiltrated gangs. 

I t  is believed byc¢~istrict attorney's office gang experts ~hat several 
seemingl 3 moti~ele, s street gang murders are in reality orchestrated 
bv prison gangs to cement the control of local neighborhood narcotics 
distribution channels. 

Gang violence is not a new problem to the residents of Los Angeles" 
County. 

Some of the oldest street gangs have existed in Los Angeles for morn 
than 50 years. Histm'icallv, some of these gangs have been purely- 
cultural in origin and acti~;itics. Occasional violence was only inciden- 
tal in nature. 



What  is new, however, is the intensity of the violence and the rapid 
increase in the level of lethal violence which has plagued our county 
over the past 6 years. 

Between 1977 and 1980 the number of gang homicides increased 
" from 168 in 1977 to 351 in 1980. The number of violent gang crimes 

in other categories during this tinm period was equally staggering. 
What  is perhaps most ~i'ightenin=-- to tim a~ erage citizen is t~e fact 

that fully half of the victims of gang violence are not involved in any 
way in gang activity. They simply tend to be in the w,'ong place at the 
wrong t~me. They are victims of random killing. 

The size of this county, the number of gangs, their considerable 
mobility, and the escalating level of violent gang crimes has com- 
pelled local law enforcement agencies to develop specialized units and 
tactics to deal with the complexities of street gang violence. 

The Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department and the Los Angeles 
Police Department ha~e'organized,, specialized divisions of higlaly 
trained officel~ who are assigned to investigate gang activities within 
special geog,'aphic areas. 

The success of this approach is indisl?utable. 
In ,Ianuary, 1979, thc hardcore gang (hvision of the office of the dis- 

trict attornely became operational. This was federally funded origi- 
nally as a pimt project. I t  was introd,tced as a logical extension of the 
law enforcement concept of gang specialization. 

Senator SeECTEm When did that begin, again ? 
Mr. PHILrnOSIA~. January  1, 1979. 
Hardcore became the prosecution component in a police-prosecu- 

tion-probation team effort. And its successes have surpassed even the 
most optimistic of expectations. 

Premised on the belief that only a small percentage of gang mem- 
bers are hardcore violent offenders, the division sought to foctls its 
limited resources on the ~-iolent central cadre ~,;ithin each street gang. 

These habitual violent offenders, or hardcore gang members, gen- 
erally have a lengthy record of arrests and convictions. They are usu- 
ally on active parole or probation. 

The hardcoregang member lends and influences the younger gang 
members and often because of his record will endeavor to use a 
younger member with no record to be the trigger man when the gang 
perpetuates its acts of violence. 

I t  is believed that  once these negative role models are removed from 
the community, a vacuum is created, which often goes unfilled. 

Tho hardcore's objective is just to do that, to remove the shooters 
from tim streets. 

As tlm hardcore division increased in size and as other law enforce- 
meat agencies added their components, ever increasing numbers of re- 
petitive violent offenders were convicted and incarcerated. 

In 1979 hardcore handled 53 cases and obtained 52 convictions. Last 
year 354 cases were processed, and 328 convictions resulted, a 93-per- 
cent conviction rate. 

" This compares with a 46-percent gang conviction rate in 1976 and a 
'17-percent rate in 1977. 

As a validation of the hardcore premise, the homicide rate has de- 
-clined significantly. From a high m 1980 of 351 deaths, 1981 saw a 



reduction to 292. The 1982 figures reveal a total of only 205 gang 
homicides. 

While this number is still totally unacceptable, it does show that a 
unified and well-funded law enforcement effort can impact directly 
upon gang violence and the state of terror which it breeds. 

With me today is Chief Deputy District Attorney J im Bascue. 
Jim, would you step forward. -" 
J im headed file t tardcore unit from its inception until today when "- 

he assumed the role of Chief Deputy District Attorney. " , 
One of the reasons I appointed J im as Chief Deput3 "is to underscore 

my own determination to combat gang violence in this country. 
Senator SrECTER. Mr. Philibosian, I understand that Stipervisol' 

Edelman has arrived. I f  he could join us, I would appreciate it as well. 
~'[r. PIilLIBOSL~.N. Certainly. 
I 'd like to let J im give you his firsthand observations as soon as the 

Supervisor speaks, and then we'll be happy to answer your questions, 
Senator. 

Senator SPy.c-rim All right. Very ~ood. , 
M:r. PmLmOSL~.  Good morning, ~uper~ isor. 
Mr. EDEL~tA~¢. Good morning. 
Senator SPEC'rEm Welcome, Mr. Edelman. We very much appreciate 

your joining us here today. 
Do you pronounce your name Bas- - -  
3~[r. BASCVE. Bascus, Senator. 
Senator SPECTraL Baseue. 
Before we hear from Chief Deputy Bascue, Mr. Edclman, we'll be 

very pleased to hear your opening comments. 

STATEMENT OF ED EDELMAN, SUPERVISOR, L0S ANGELES COUNTY 

~ r .  :EDEL)fA:N'. Thank you very much, Senator. 
We appreciate your coming here to Los Angeles County, a county 

that a few years ago had the unenviable distinction of being called th'e 
gang capital of the world. 

We had at that time in 1979-80 about 300 or so gang, s, composed of 
about 100 members each ~ n g .  So we had about 30,000 ~ang members. 

Now, let me make clear that .gangs are something that are here to 
stay. People join gangs for various reasons. 

]3nt they also tend to create ~ iolence if left unchecked and without 
any nppropriate programs. 

We alsohad at that time, in 1979-80, about 351 murders due to gang- 
related activity. 

And let me point out to the Senator that the people killed were not 
just other gang mcmbel~, as bad as that is, but innocent bystnnders. 

In fact, statistics showed us that about 60 pellcent of the people 
killed in gang-related murders were innocent b3st'mders, mistakela 
identities, innocent women and children. 

We found that of the 2,000 murders in this county, roughly, lS per- 
cent were gang related. So if you look at those statistics, gang-invoh,orl 
killings accounted for 18 I~ercent of the murders in Los Angelo.~ 
County. 

And of the gang-related murders, 60 percent involved innoceat 
bystanders. 



7 

" W e  had every  day in the paper stories about drive-by shootings. We 
had literM feat' in out" neighborhoods. 

At that time I went to your good city of Philadelphi~t because we 
l~eld some hearings in Los Angeles County to determine what could be 
done to stem this gang violence. We had l~w enforcem~lt working as 

- hard as they could. 
Senator ~PECTER. I have said, ~lr. Edelman, before you arrived that 

Phihtdelphia was the gang capital early on in the late 1960's and early 
ll)70:s. 

Mr. EO~L~I*x. Wc claimed that distinction, unenviable, about 1979~ 
1980. 

[ don"t think we have that  situation here today~ and I 'd like to tell 
you why not and what the Federal Government might do because as 
I understand it, you're here to hear, basically, what the Federal Gov- 
ernment migh~ be able to do to help reduce gang violence. 

Senator S I'I':CTEII. Yes~ thlit's correct, Mr. Edelman. 
I have said shortly before your arrival and before the arrival of 

others~ and it might be worth just a moment of repetition, that the Con- 
gress passed a Justice Assist:race Act at the end of the 1982 session, 
which unfortunately was vetoed by the President because it was one of 
seven bills with at drug coordinator bill that the Department of Justice 
and the President oppo~d. 

But last week i introduced a new justice assistance bill. And that 
bill is within the jurisdiction of the Juvenile Justice Subcommittee 
which has oversight responsibilities on Federal assistance. 

When I was district attorney of Philadelphia, we received in 
Philadelphi~L one of the first Federal grants under the old Law 
Enforcement Assistance Administration. 

And one of the purposes of this hearing is to see how the Federal 
Government can bc hell)ful to local law enforcement on a l)roblem like 
juvenile ~,~an,,~ violence. 

Mr. EnEL)r,~X. We appreciate your efforts because you know first- 
hand in Philadelphia what, was ~ble to be accomplished by some in- 
novative community l)rograms reaching out to the gang members. 

Now, let me say l:hat in 1980 we held some hearings--I  heard from 
50 witnesses--to try to come up with a program that would better 
reduce gang violence. 

As a result of those hearings and as a result of my traveling to 
Philadelphia. we did a number of things. 

One, we beefed up our traditional law enforcement operations. 
Operation Hardcore which the district attorney iust recounted to you 
was funded by Federal dollars under the L E A  program that  you 
mentioned. 

That  program ended about 19S0. We stepped in--the county tax- 
payers stepped in and doubled the size of Hardcore because we felt that  
it was so imnortant a r)rogram. 

- Senator SeECTF~m How much funding had you received from the 
Federal Government, if you know ? 

5'[r. EnEL~[,~X..Tim. Iql defer to you on that. 
Mr. BASCUE. ,~enator. the inita'l grant funded five lawyers. And I 

think we augmented thnt the secon<~ year of the program to where we 
had eight lawyers funded. 



It  was a small program, the only one of its kind, ]: believe, ever 
funded by LEAA. And we used some Justice dollars, I believe. 

Senate;" SPECTER. Was that  funded for just 1 year or more than 1 
yea.r ? 

Mr. BAscm~. I t  was funded for 2 full years. 
Senator SPr:cTErc Two full years. 
And then since the Federal funding ended, the Los Angeles County 

Supervisors have picked up tim fin,ancing responsibility. 
Mr. EDr:L~rA~r. Ili~ht. And we've doubled the size because wc feel 

it's so important. So that was one element, to increase law enforcement 
efforts directed, particultLrly at the shootcrs, the few hardcore gang 
h.aders, if  you will, to isolate them. 

We also increased Operation Safe Streets. That 's  ,a sheriff's depart- 
ment program that has deputies assigned to troubled areas to give 
extra law enforcement activity and surveillance of gang leaders who 
are committing violent crimes. 

We also star ted--and I think this is most important--an innovative 
program similar to Philadelphia's where we tried to intervene before 
gangs would fi~ht each other. ~Ve tried to intevvene to head off that 
violence by setting up a crisis intervention network. 

That  was funded, to start out, with about eight teams. And that 
was a risky program to begin with because we knew, .as you had in 
]: hiladelphia, that there were problems with that 

We were hiring people who were not necessarily civil-service types. 
These were not angels. These were people who had, themselves, to some 
degree been in trouble with the law. But we felt it was worth it ,be- 
cause up until that point, Senator, there was not a revel.,sal of ,any sta- 
I istics. The statistics were erowinff. 

I thinl.c the year that weset up t'be crisis intervention network using 
commumty people, we had an increase in the city of Los Angeles, about 
a 71-percent increase, in ffang-rclated homicides; and in the county 
about r~ 35-percent increase, ahnost a killing a day, related to gang 
activity. 

Now, this prog, ram modeled after Philadelphia's, obviously, had to 
be responsive to our local conditions. And we tried to make it that  way. 

We also at the same time set up a probation gang supervision serv- 
ice where probation officers had a reduced workload to handle the 
l~ang mem'bers who were out on probation, and who were violating 
those conditions of probation, to just pull them in off the streets if 
we had any indication that they were committing acts against the law. 

And. in'deed. ~ four-pronged attack using prol~ation department 
specialized ~ang supervision services. Operation Safe Streets with the 
Sheriff, Operation Hardeore witl, the DA, and this crisis network, 
lhe eommmlity youth ~rang services prog,'am, funded by the county, a 
total package of a.bont $3 million, went into ibis effoit:. 

And as a result of all these programs, we had a united coordinated 
efl'ort on ,~an~, activity. 

We also set up an inter-agency task force to coordinate all lhe dif- 
ferent activities. And, indeed, they met month by month. For  the first 
time in ,,,any years, you had a coordinated atta(:k on ffang violence. 

Now, I think one could--let me just recite the statistics which I think 
are impressive. And I'm not saving that one part of this program re- 
duced the statistics. That  would'be unfair. 



I think it's a combination of law enforcement, both the Sheriff, the 
DA, and the Probation Department, which is a J1 arm of law enforce- 

. ment, and the community working with the crisis intervention network. 
Thev have all imp)acted gang violeuce to reduce it. 

• W"o had last year ill the city of Los Angeles a 35-pc, cent reduction 
of gang-related murders. In tile count), of Los Angeles, we had a 17- 

_ percent reduction in gang-related murders. 
L~t me just recite, if I may, what those statistics mean because 

s t a t i s t i c s - -  
Senator S1)ECTER. When you go over those statistics, Mr. Edelman, 

if you have the overall statistics on murders, homicides, ]: would be in- 
terested in those, too, to see how that  drop correlated to the homicide 
rate, generally. 

Mr. EL)m~A~. With  gangs, yes. 
Senator 51,Ec'rEm Well, if you have them overall, I~d be interested in 

those, too. 
M,r. ED~L~X. We will supply them to the colmnittce. I don't  have 

them now~ but we can bring them to your attention. 
Let me indicate that in 1980, as I said, we had 351 gang-related 

homicides in the county. In  1981 that figure dropped, after this co- 
ordinated approach was utilized, to 292. ]~'rom 1980 to 1981, it dropped 
from 351 to 29"2. A_nd then in the next year it dropped to 205. 

So we have over this "2-year period a drop in gang-related homicides 
from 351~ that was the high in 1980, to the end of this calendar year, 
we had 205, over 146 reduction in gang-related homicides. 

And I think that 's significant. I think it's a tribute to the coordina- 
tion of law enforcement with the colmnunity. ~ l d  I think that  thos~ 
are figures that we've very proud of in the county. 

I might  say, also, Senator, that as a result of our program setting 
up this Philadelphia pla~l in the county, the city of Los Angeles joined 
the program. 

And that  has significantly helped the city because the city had a more 
serious gang hommide problem than the county of Los Angeles. 

But working together we~ve been able to reduce those figures sub- 
stantially. 

And I say, Senator, that this is a national problem as you rightfully 
pointed out and as you've said over the )ears. This is a national 
problem. 

Gangs know no boundary today. They can ride around in cars, or 
motorcycles. 'I hey're not limited to any one area of the county. A.nd, 
indeed, the homicides take place throughout the county. 

And we feel that your efforts here today to look at how the Federal 
Government might step in is worthy of my being here, and you'll see 
other members here. 

Now, I think, Senator, if  you were to help by Federal funds, I 
" thinl~ it would require a coordination, a showing that the local com- 

munity has set up a coordinated approach to fight gang violence. And, 
indeed, you m,ight even require some matching funds. 

- I realize the Federal Govenunent is trying to reduce expenditures. 
We in this state may be forced to reduce expenditures because we've 

h a d  a very difficult problem now. 
And I think we're going to need all the help we can get to keep 

financing these programs that we have in place, programs that  we 
know work. 
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And any help that  you can give by way of legislation that would 
nssiS~ lhis r'Ollillv wouhl be vei'v iliur'h ilpprecilife~l. 

I 'd  be happy' to answer any questions, and I wi l l ,  indeed, ~lrnish 
that information to tim committee that you requested. 

Senator Sl,~:ovEli. Well, thank you 'very much, gentlemen. I very. 
much appreciate your testimony. 

Let us hear from Chief Dep'uty Bascue first, and then I do have a _~ 
number of questions. 

STATEMENT 01~ JAMES BASOUE 

3Jr. ]Lxscr'i,:. "l'hanl~ veil. ~enalor. 
I 'd just like to expand on some of the observations in, perhaps, a 

little more detail. 
I think the Senator has a lot of knowledge, coming from the Phila- 

i]e]l)]iill, area, about the terror in a ('Olii i i l i l i i i lv rcial:ing to g:ing 
violence. 

But I 'd like to talk about--jllst have people think about what it's 
like to grow tip in a community, what it's like to Go to school and not 
be worried about an education on some of our campuses. 

Our campuses are armed camps. You've got to be worried about 
whether or not you're going to come home from some of our schools. 

In the last two years we've prosecuted three homicides that have 
occurred on our high school campuses. And this kind of violence and 
terror permeates the entire community. 

People can't go to the store. People can't enjoy parks. 
We had a family this last year, 7-year-old glrl was shot in the head, 

just heing i l l  the park. 
We had a small girl--it:s the children that are being victimized 

recently~ gang memlJers firing into crowds, hit t ing small children. 
In the last year we must have had close to 10 small children under 

the age of 10 struck by bul lets. 
Recently, a 10-year-old young man sitting in front of his TV at 

home in east Los Angeles was killed by a 30 to 30 slug, result of a 
gang fight. 

A further example, I want to talk about south central Los Angeles 
where most of the violence is occurrin G right now. 

We have a housin G project there called the ,lordan Downs housin G 
project. And in a 1S-day period in n two-block ;ll'ea--thi.~ is two hlocles 
around the honsing projeet--15 days there were 30 robberies. 0.2 mur- 
dell, and a vicious kidnap-ral)e of a local chllreh menlber in tha£ par- 
t icular coumlunity. 

Sena£or Sl'EGTi':il. HOW nluch of that, do you aftl ' ibute to gang ac- 
t i v i ty?  

]%fi'. 7ASOUE. A l l  of i1, ,~enator. That  was all ganT-related. 
There was a gan7 in this housing project. There was a hardcore 

nucleus of about 15 or 20 who were committing all of these crimes 
together. 

And as a result of this the local law enforcement specialized gang.. 
people, the hardcore ganz division--we got, arrest warrants, search 
warrants. We arrested 14= people. 

Immediately after those 14 were arrested, for the following 6 weelcs, 
there was not one robbery in that housing project area. 
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Senator SeECVFat. Have those cases been tried y e t ?  
Mr. B a s c ~ .  We obtained 13 convictions out. of the 14. One we had 

• insufficient evidence to file. 
So we felt that was a very successful operation. Our feedback from 

t'he community--and we go into tlmt housing project, and the com- 
munity people, their reaction is, "Where have you been ?" 

"- You know, we're t rying to bring back the rule of law into some of 
• tim communities in our count)'. 

And to give you ,~ profile of the type of gang member we're talking 
about, we have a young man that we're presently pending trial. 

" He committed a murder at the aff¢~ of 15. He and another gang mem- 
ber committed g robbery-murder, killed a young man. 

He was sentenced to our California Youth ~kuthority for less than 
3 years. He was released at the age of 1S. He went right back in thcl 
community, right back into the same gang setting and within 3 months 
killed two additional people. And that  is the profile of the hardcore 
otl'endcr we:re dealing with. 

Senator SPl.:cwmrt. ~Vhat is the age span for gang membership ? 
M:r. BaSCUE. Senator, it ranges all the way from--we see gang mem- 

bers getting invoh'ed as early as 10 to 12. 
We prosecuted two 13-year-olds for the crime of robbery-murder in 

the I.lst ~9 years. 
I t  goes on up in some communities up until 25 to 30 years of age. 
Senator Sm~CTEr. The age of ending for juvenile offenders is 18 u n -  

d e r  California law ? 
~[r. Bascua. ¥es~ it is, Senator. 
Senator SVECTEr. But  you can prosecute some under 18 as adult 

offenders ? 
Mr. BaSCUE. Yes. We can certify 16 and above, Senator. 
Senator St'EC'll~r. And below 16 they cannot be prosecuted as adult 

ofl'enders. 
~'[r. BaSCtrE. That 's correct. 
Senator SpEc'rEr. ] low about if the charge is murder, c a n . - -  
3Jr. ]LxSCUE. Exclusive jurisdiction lies in juvenile court for 15 and 

below, Senator. 
Senator Sm.:cwEr. For  anybody under 16 regardless of the nature 

of the chargo? 
3Jr. ]~Ascul.:. Yes. And it is a recurring problem we have because 

there are soma 15-year-old young people in our conamunity who are 
ctdd-bh)oded kille,'s who are recidivist. 

They get right b.ack out. We:ll put tlwm into an institution. They'll  
spend a v e r y  short period. And it's like tL revolving door. 

Senator ~m':c'rEr. And when you have somebody who is under 16 
who is prosecuted .~s n j uvenile oil'ender, what is the m:lximuna amount 
of time that  they can be kept in detention for those juvenile offenses? 

5Jr. ]3.~scul.:. ~'VelI. that  would go 1o the California Youth Authority. 
And that 's an indeterminate. In other words, how l o n g -  
- Senator SPECTEr,. Can they stay there beyond 18 ? 

Mr. l~.xsct-i.:. Yes. they can. Senator. 
They can stay up to'the age of Ol and in certain instances up to 23. 

But our g e n e r a l - -  
Senator SPECTER. Twentv-tlu'ee, would be lhc maximum, say, for a 

15-year-old who committed first degree murder. 
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Mr. BASCVE. Absolutely. 
But our profile for people who commit murder at the age of 15, 

they spend less than ;J )),ears in the California Youth Authority, and 
they're returned right b a c k - -  

Senator SPECTEr{. For murder. 
Mr. BASCUE. That 's correct, Senator. 
Senator Sm.:c'rl~m So what is the experience, generally, as to 

sentencing? 
Are the sentences insufficient for the nature of the crimes, in your 

judgment ? 
]~lr. ]~ASCUE. ~,VeI], one of the things that happened--our community 

hue and cry about this crime p rob lemiwe  have gotten longer sentences 
and longer sentences. 

Senator SI'ECTER. Doesn't sound to me like you're up too high if the 
average is 3 years. 

Mr. B,~scm.:. Well, see, that's the problem. See, we've gotten longer 
sentences in our adult com'ts. 

But what we:re been facing recently has been the younger gang 
member committing the violent crime who goes .to the Youth 
Authority. And the Youth Authorit)), is still premised upon a pure 
rehabilitation. 

So we're addressing that right now. The district attorney, Bob 
Philibosian, is going to introd,,ce some legislation this .),ear that's 
going to specifically address this problem requiring minimums on the 
juveniles who are convicted of murder. So we're going to seek legisla- 
five aid in that  department this year. 

Senator ,~T'ECTER. When Ph ilibosi'm testified, he used tire expression, 
"repetitive violent offenders." 

T would be interested in a comparison on sentences between the 
repetitive violent offenders who qre juveniles contrasted with the 
repetitive violent offondm.'s who a re adults. 

Does Califorina have an habitual-offender statute which provides for 
a life sentence for someone convicted of three or, perhaps, four major" 
felon ies ? 

~'[r'. PHTLTnOSTAN'. GO ahead. 
]~'h'. B,~sc~:. ~rcll, we had a habitual-offender statute. And there are 

some enhancements available. 
I do not believe that we have the life sentence for, quote, just pro'ely 

the "habitual offender." 
Senator ST'ECTEm What  is the situation--shifting to adults for just a 

moment, if I may, as a basis of coral)arisen to juvenile.~--for someone, 
say. who has been convicted of three or more armed robberies ? 

"Can you generalize on what kind of a sentence that kind of an indi- 
vidual would get,? 

Mr. B.~SCD-E. As an adult that person wo,,ld 1)robably receive a sen- 
tence of.. approximately. S years with approl)riate enhancements, and " 
would serve, realistically, probabl))', two-thirds of that in ore' prison 
sy.~tem. 

Senator SrEC)"E.R. I ask .because one of the lezislative proposals that 
I've had a special interest in has been the Career Criminal Act which 
passed, again, the Congress. but was part of this package which was 
subject to the pocket veto. 



13 

And it was my bill which provides that anyone who has been con- 
rioted of two or more robberies in State courts and is charged with a 
subsequent robl)ery or burglary would be subject to being tried in th¢~ 
Federal court with the speedy-trial provisions with a minimum of 15 
years. I had wanted a life sentence, but compromised at 15 years. 

And the thrust of that legislation, which would require the aequies- 
cence of the local district attornevs--it  could not be prosecuted in the 
Federal court without agreement'by the U.S. attorney and the district 
atl:ornev. 

And one thrust of this legislation is--and it is patterned after a prob- 
lem which I had when I was district attorney. I wolfld have many 
defendants who would jump from one judge to another, judge shop- 
ping--very difficult to try the cases--and had several hundred of these 
career criminals. 

And I felt that if I could send about five of them to the Federal court 
where they would get a mandatory 15-year sentence with the individual 
judge calendar which the Federal court had~ that there would be an 
inducement for a tremendous number of guilty pleas. 

I wouldn't get that  kind of a se~ltence in my State court where we had 
tremendous problems of lenienc.~ and sentencing. But I thought that it 
would be great leverage for a d~strict attorney to have the ax ailability 
of that kind of • Federal l)roeedu,'e where i r a  few were taken to the 
Federal court, the ethel's would be inclined to plead guilty in the State 
coln'ts. 

Would you have an opinion as to how that might be of assistance to 
you here ~;ith your own Los Angeles problems with the adult offenders ? 

~'[r. P:,tmmosr,~x. Senator, our office is in favor of such legislation. 
That  would be helpful from the standpoi~t of the deterrent effect that  
you point out. 
" Also, our procedures iour  court procedures in California are ex- 
tremely lengthy, convoluted. They result in intolerable delays. 

~re have been trying to address some of those via some legislation. 
Supervisor Edehnan has been invoh, ed with a countywide committee, 
as ha~,e some of the other members of the board of supervisors, includ- 
ing the chairman, Mike Antonovich, looking for ways to streamline 
our court processes, looking at the Federal system as a model for 
streamlining our own State court processes. 

Such a program as you envision by means of your legislation would 
not only provide some short-term assistance, but would provide an 
additional model for us in modifying our own State procedures in the 
criminal courts. 

Senator SP,~CTEm What  kind of legislation are you looking toward 
for the j t,~,eniles which Mr. Bascue refcrrred to ? 

Mr. P,HLmOS~.~'. For juveniles, specifically, I'll let Mr. Bascue 
address that since he's been writing that  legislation, Senator. 

~'[r. ]~,xsc~.:. Well, Senator, what we're looking at right now, as I 
explained, in California a 15-year-old, let"s call a recidivist or a violent 
gang member, commits the crime of murder. 

He goes to the California Youth Authority. That's the maxinmm 
that can happen to hhn. How long that person stays in the California 
Youth Authori ty is up to the discretion of the California Youth 
Authority.  

21-571 0 - 83 - 2 
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As they get more crowded, we here in Los Angeles see them open 
in floodgates, and they start i'eleasing at earlier periods of time. 

We want to take aw'ay some of that discretion and to put some mini- 
alums ell the period of time that these murderers would spend because 
we find that the most dangerous people in the county of Los Angeles 
run from the age of about 15 to '_91 "¢ears of age. 

They commit the most violent--Lthev COml)etc---commit the most 
frequent offenses, and when they're retiwned within short periods of 
time back into their home setting to go right back in that gang-peer 
setting x."here they want to nrovc how tough they are--and we've had 
them time after time go right ,back to prove how tough they a re. And 
they'll go right back out and commit arrother shooting. 

~enator SeECTEm .krc your juvenile institutions pricked ? 
Mr. BaSCUE. Yes. We have an overcrowding pz~blem in our State. 
Senator' SPECTER. DO .yOU ]lave inore than one inmate to a cell ? 
~I1.. BASCUE. I believe our youth authority is limited, has been re- 

stricted. Unlike our adults, our youth authority institutions az~ 
limited to one, and that's created some of the crowding problems. 

Senator SPEC'rER. Do you know what is the total capacity of the 
prisons under your youth authority ? 

I hadn't  asked you that question before. So I know I catch you, 
perhaps, by surprise. But I:d be interested either to know that now on" 
to have that figarre falrnished to us. 

Mr. EDEL~I,X~¢. We can get that information for you. Senator. 
I do know that  we are overcrowded, both in adult and juvenile fa- 

cilities. And juvenile facilities require more space, more privacy for 
the individual, more recreation because of tender" age. 

]~lr. B^scc'E. Senator, we have a representative from the youth au- 
thority, and I 've just been told that our inmate population in'the youth 
authority st~tewide is 5,800. "' 

Senator SPF.CTEm 5~800 in the youth authority. And that constitvtes 
all the spaces you have, and you're filled up. 

~ [r. B^SC~E. That 's  my understanding. 
enator SI~EOTER. SO that  what you're saying is that when new 

people are sentenced, the youth authority has to make a decision as to 
whom to release, somebod.~; they might not like to release, but they have 
to because of limitations of space. 

Mr. Basco-E. Well, Senator, I won't say the youth authority says 
that. " " " 

Under a prior administration we had that  feeling in Los Angeles. 
that a lot of people were ~,etting out a lot earlier than we wanted. I 
don~t think that  is the policy of the present administration. But we 
felt. that effect in the last few'years. 

Senator SPECTER. And how about as to the adult offenders, arc the 
so,me conditions prevalent, where all lhe spaces are taken now? 

~'[r. PrTTLTI~OSIAN'. WeYe overloaded now in the adult institHtions. 
Senator. In fact. they are goin~ to be building some tent cities at two 
of our prisons to house some of the nonviolent offenders. 

~Ve are overcrowded in our State prisons. As a long-term .~olution 
the ncople of thi,~ ,~tate have authorized by bond issues the building of 
~dditional prison faeilitie.q. But  on a short-term basis we're lookin~g at 
alternatives for housin~ those people. 
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Senator SPECTEIL There are plans at the present time to build more 
p r i s o n s ~  

5'Ir. PriiLmosrA~r. Yes, sir, there are. 
Sena, tor SPECTI.;R [continuing]. To be funded by bonds which Cali- 

fornia voters have approved ? 
Mr. PnH.m0STAX. Yes. And in addition to that our new Governor. 

Governor Deukmejian, has been investiRating ways of havin,~ prison 
construction financed by private industry with a le,qse-baek to the State 
with a future option to purchase. This is one of the alternatives that's 
being explored by the current administration. 

Mr. E~r:L~rAX." Senator, can I just say--to answer your ques t ion . .  
Tile county used to hold Federal prisoners awaitin~ Federal trial 

in our Federal district courts. 
The county was so overcrowded handling its own prisoners, we had 

to serve notice to the Federal Government to remove their F~dm'al 
prisoners. And now they're no longer kept in our cmmty facilities. 
They're kept at Terminal Island. 

And I j(Ist noted that the administration lms proposed building a 
Federal prison in downtown Los Angeles to help handle the number 
of Federal prisoners we can't handle in our own county prison. 

Senator SrI.:CTmL One of rhe thin_~ms that the Committee on the Judi- 
ciary is considerin~ is the is'sue of prison construction. 

A'nd t few velu'S back there had been some proposals for very exten- 
sive prison construction ranging in tile neighborhood of $41/... 2" billion: 
All of that has become unfashionable today given tile economies ana 
tha budget deficit. 

But it, is my .~ense that i he American people would be willing to pay 
the price for 'what  it costs "l'or a e,'iminal justice system that worked. 

And we will again one day, perhaps not too far down the road, aTain 
I)e lookin~ at this Idnd of a l:unding issue and some funding assistance 
from the Federal Governmmlt. 

One of the bills which I had put in last 3,ear would provide where 
tllerO were sentences under imbitual offender statutes, life sentences by 
tile 40-odd States which have those habitual offender statutes, that  the 
Federal Government ought Io ta ee tile responsibility for housin~ be- 
cause many people are not sentenced to the kinds of sentences necessary 
because of insufficient jail Slmee. And that would be, I think, an appro- 
priate Federal initiative. 

M'r. PltlI,IBOglAN. Senator, I think that it's signifie'mt that the peo- 
ple of Califm'nia have not been approving other bond issues. 

Sell ltOl' SPEGT'EII. Well, I was focusing on that when you made tim 
comment. I 'm not, obviously, as close to the situation as you are. 

But from afar, 'from IVashington, we know the heqvy eml)llasis on 
tax savings frmn California. You:re the Stale which made proposition 
13 famous. 

So that 's why I asked the question twice as to whether or not you 
wero funding prisons. 

Mr. Pt-t,Lt,asLxx. I think the point is that the people of California 
are willing to put their money where their mouth is when it comes to 
having facilities to incarcerate tile people being i)roseeuted aml con- 
victed pursuant to the heavier penalties which the people have asked 
their legislators to pass in Sacramento and tlmy're asking the judges 
to impose. 
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Senator SPECTER. Thats'  very good. 
Let me come back to one of the items which Mr. Edehnan had com- 

nlented about, a crisis-intervention network and your statement about 
the people who work there did not necessarily have the most exemplary 
IJackground. 

I take it the crisis-intervention network was handled by people who 
have records al.ic.l who had experience in gangs, themselves, bu~ who 
had been rehabihtated sutlicmntly to put in that kind of a supervisory 
role. 

I 'd be interested to know j ust how it worked. 
Mr. EOE1~tar¢. Well, Sen'llor, we recognized going ira that another 

civil-service-type program would not be the answer. 
• ~'Ve had enough civil service programs. Law enforcement was work- 
Lag as hard as they could, and so these people were not ]aired under 
civil service regulations. 

In fact, we set up this crisis intervention network outside of the 
normal county bureaucracy. It 's an independent contract. The head 
of it is an inclependcnt con}a'actor. And the county contracts with this 
person to provide the services. 

The director can fire or hire people as he chooses, similar to what 
Benny Swm:, set up 

Senator SI ECa'En. Did the director, himself or herself, lmve a back- 
g r o u n d ~  

~'lr. EDELM:AN. Yes, sir'. 
Senator SI'EC~R [contimring]. In juvenile violence ? 
:~'[r. EDEL~I:a,X~. Well, I doil't know about violence, but we have 

some--people with records for which they have served their time. We 
were aware of tiffs. 

And this was a risk that we felt we had to take at that particular 
time. 

Senator SI'EC'rEm How did it work out? 
~lr. Er)EL~rA~x ~. ~'Vell~ I think it's worked out OK. 

• f r  ' - - • ,~ As I say, going, in ~e l, ne~ we d have m'oblems. And there have 
been problems from time to time in this program. 

But when you consider the bottom line, Selmtor, that we have had 
through this approach, as well as with the sheriff and the district at- 
torne.y and the pt'obation departtnent---we:ve had a bottom-line sue- 
tess m reducine the number of l¢illings ira this county due to gang- 
related aetivitie~s. 

Senator SZ'ECTEm HOW big a unit was that ? How many people did 
they employ ? 

Mr. Et)mJ~tA,-~. We started oil' without the city of Ires Angeles join- 
ing our program. 

We started off with abol~t 40 to 50 people. Then we increased it 
somewhat. And then I got Mayor Bradley and the city council to 
join our program. 

So all told now we hnve abottt 90 to 100 people working in street 
teams in various communities where there is a need• 

Senator SI'ECTEr¢. What vole would you say for the Federal Govern- 
ment in assisting Los Angeles at the "present time with your existing 
gli, n~  problem ? 

~'~1'. ]~JDEL~I:AX'. W e  WOllld certainly w e l c o m e  Eome funding, Senator'. 
We would welcome the type of funding that was heretofore used by 
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the operat ion hardcore,  the district  a t torney 's  good unit  t ha t  has done 
such fine work in this area. 

We would welcome funding  for a coordinated approach  for  innova- 
tive approaches  tha t  would work and that  would relieve the local tax- 
payers  of  the burden of car ry ing  this program alone. 

~lr. l~nn.mostA.w. Senator, there is in place State  Icgislatmn, gang  
supp re s s ion - -gang  violence suppression program through  our office 
of cr iminal  justice planning. 

W e  have  an advisory  committee which J im sits as the cha i rman of, 
which I sat as a member of in my former  capacity as chief deputy  at- 
torney general. We will continue in that. 

We have  had a few dollars left over f rom L E A A  funds  which we 
used to fund about  four  lawyers. T h a t  w.as money that  has now---or 
is now runn ing  out. 

I f  we do not  get  additional f lmding,  either th rough  the State or 
th rongh  reallocation witlfin our own short-staffed depal~ment, weh~ 
going to have to drop  three lawyem in that  par t icular  unit. 

I f  you like, J im  can address some of the specifics of the legislation 
that  will ca.able us to spend the money wisely should tha t  money be 
gran ted  by the Federal  Government  or by the State  government .  

Mr. SPECTER. Yes, I~d be very interestec1 in that,  Mr. Bascue. 
Mr. B,xscrm.. Senator ,  I ' l l  give you the citation. This  is the Califor-  

nia Pena l  Code, and it 's section 13826. 
[The  fol lowing was submitted for  the record :] 

CHAPTER 3.5. GANG VIOLENCE S U P P R E S S I O N  

13826. Legislative findings, declaration and Intent. 
13826.1. Establishment of program; administration, allocation and award of 

funds; guidelines and procedurees; annual report; criteria for fund- 
ing ; composition of advisory committee. 

13826.2. Enhanced prosecution efforts. 
13820.3. Individual  subject to gang violence prosecution efforts. 
13826.4. Law enforcement agencies ; enhanced efforts ; criteria. 
13826.5. County probation departments;  enforcement of court-ordered condi- 

tions of probation ; activities. 
13826.6. Community-based organizations; activities. 
13820.7. Federal funds ; operative effect of act. 

Operative Effect 

This act becomes operat ive  only t l  1cdcral lund8 arc made a v a i l a b l e / o r  i t s  im- 
plementation, see § 138~6.7. 

§ 13826. Legislative findings, declaration and intent 
The Legislature hereby finds and declares that violent activity by gangs is a 

serious and growing problem in the State of California. In enacting this chapter, 
the Legislature intends to support increased efforts by district attorneys' offices 
to prosecute the perpetrators of gang violence, support increased efforts by local 
law enforcement agencies to identify, investigate, and apprehend perpetrators of 
gang violence, support increased efforts by county probation departments to In- 
tensively supervise gang members who are on court-ordered probation, and sup- 
port gang violence suppression efforts by community-based organizations. (Added 
hy Stats. 1981, e. 1030, § 1. Amended by Stats. 1982, c. 1093, § 1.) 
§ 13826.1. Establ ishment  of program; administration, allocation and award of 

furds;  guidel ines  and procedures; annual report; criteria for fund- 
ing; composit ion of advisory committee 

(a) There Is herehy established In the Office of Criminal Justice Planning, the 
Gang Violence Suppression Program. a program of finauclal and technical assist- 
ance for district attorneys' offices, local law enforcement agencies, county pro- 
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batten d ep a r tm en t s ,  and  communi ty -based  organ iza t ions  wheih a re  p r imar i ly  en- 
gaged in the suppress ion  of gang  violence. All funds  apl)roprlated to the Office of 
Cr imina l  Jus t i ce  P l a n n i n g  for the purl)oses of this  chap te r  shall  he admin i s t e r ed  
and d l shursed  hy the  exec~lt:ive director  of the office in consu l ta t ion  with the  Cali- 
fornia  Council on Cr imina l  Jus t ice .  aud shal l  to the g rea tes t  ex ten t  feasible  h0 
coordhmtcd  or consol idated  with federal  funds  t ha t  may be nmde ava i lab le  for 
these purposes.  

(b) The  execut ive  director  is au thor ized  to al locate and award  f lmds to cities. 
counties,  and  comuni ty -hased  organ iza t ions  in whicl~ gang  violence suppress ion  
p rog rams  are  es tab l i shed  in subs t an t i a l  compliance with the policies and  cr i te r ia  
set  for th in this  chapter .  

(c) The  al locat ion and  award  of funds  shal l  be made  on the appl icat ion nf tbe 
dis t r ic t  a t torney ,  elite/' law enforeemeJ~t: officer or chief  probation oflieer of the  ap- 
pl icant  uni t  of g o v e r n m e n t  and approved by the legislat ive body. or on the apldl- 
cat ion of the ch ief  execut ive  of a communi ty -based  organizat ion.  Funds  d isbursed  
unde r  this  c h a p t e r  shal l  not supp l an t  local f lmds  tha t  would, in the absence  of 
the Gang Violence Suppress ion Program.  be made  avai lable  to suppor t  the activi-  
t ies set  for th  in th i s  chapter .  F u n d s  awarded  under  th is  program as  local ass i s t -  
ance g r a n t s  sha l l  not  be sub jec t  to review as  specified in Section 147S0 of the  
Government  Code. 

(d) On or before April  1. ]9S3, the execut ive  director  shall  p repare  and  issue 
wri t ten  pr~Jgram and  a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  gulde l tees  and procedures  for the  Gang 
Violence Suppress ion  Program,  cons i s ten t  with It,Is chapter .  In addi t ion to all 
o ther  formal  r equ i r emen t s  tha t  may apply to tim enactmel~t of the guidel ines  and 
procedures,  a eoml)lete and lhmI d r a f t  of the guidel ines  and procedures  shal l  be 
submi t t ed  on or before March 1, :1!)~3. to the Cha i rpe r sons  of the Criminal  Jus t i ce  
Commit tee  of the  Assemhly  and Ihe Judi~dary Commit tee  of the Senate  of the 
Callt 'ornia l .egls la ture .  These  guidel ines  shall  set  for th the t e rms  and condi t ions  
HI)On which tim Office of C rhnhml  Jt~stice l ' l anuh lg  is prepared to offer g r a n t s  of 
i'llnds p u r s u a n t  to s l a t u to ry  au thor i ty .  '.l'he guidcli,~es do not  cons t i tu te  rules, 
regulat ions,  o rders  or s t a n d a r d s  of gener~fl applicat ion.  

(e) Annual ly ,  eomnmncing  Nove,nher 1, ]!JS.'. the exet, ut ive director  shal l  pre- 
pare  a report  to the Leg i s l a tu re  deser ih tng In detai l  Ihe operat ion of the s ta te-  
wide program and the resu l t s  ohla ined hy d is t r ic t  a t to rneys '  offices, local law 
enforcement  agencies,  eou,~ty prob:l thm del)artnlents,  and community-I)ased orga- 
nizat ions  receiving funds  under  this  ehal)ter and under  comparable  ledera l ly  
l lnanced awards .  

(f) Cri ter ia  for selection of d is t r ic t  a t t o rneys '  offices, local law en fo rcemen t  
agencies, county prol~atiun ( lepar tments ,  and eomnlunity-l)ased organizatiou.~ ' ,  
receive gang  violence suppress ion  funding  shal l  he developed h, consu l ta t ion  wit 
the Gang Vloleqee Suppress ion  Advl.~.~ry Commit tee  whose me mhe r s  shal l  be 
apl)olnted by the  ExecuLlve Director  of the Office o£ Criminal  Jus t i ce  P lanning .  

(g) The Gang Vlolenee Suppress ion  Advisory Commit tee shall  be composed of 
five dis t r ic t  a t t o r n e y s  ; two chief  proh.~tlun olllcers ; two represen ta t ives  of com- 
munlty-I)ased o rgan iza t ions  : three a t to rneys  pr inmri ly  engaged in the pract ice  of 
Juvenile c r iminal  (lel'ense ; three  law enforcemc~lt officials with exper t ise  iu gang-  
related Inves t iga t ions ;  one member  f rom the Cal i fornia  Youth Author lD Cang  
Task  l,'orce nomi lmted  i~y tile Director  of tile Cal i fornia  Youth A u t h o r i t y ;  onc~ 
nmmher  of the l ) e lmr lment  of Correct ions 1.aw Enforcemen t  Liaison Uni t  nomi- 
ztate(l by tim I).irector of the D e p a r t m e n t  of Correct ions ;  and one meml)er from 
the l ) e p a r t m e n t  of Jus t i ce  nomizmted hy the At to rney  General.  (Added hy Stats .  
19SI, c. 1030, § 1. Amended  by Stats.  1!)it2, c. 1093, § 2.) 

§ 13826.2. Enhanced prosecut ion effor ts  

Gang violence prosecut ion unlt.~ reeeiving funds  s l ider  this  chap te r  shal l  cou- 
c e u t r u t e  e l lh f l l l ce ( l  p r o s e e u t i o u  c l ~ o r l s  f lud  r e s o t l r e e s  n p o n  c a s e s  identilied u n d e r  
cr i ter ia  set  for th  in Section ~13826.3. Enhanced  prosecut lun efforts shall  tl~clude, 
hat  not be l imited to : 

(a)  "Verticull" IWOSeCutorIal representa t ion ,  whereby the prosecutor  who 
melees the init ial  filing or appearance  in a gang-re la ted  case will pcrl~orm all 
suhseqael l t  COllrt a l ) p e a r a n c e s  on t ha t  pa r t i cn la r  ease thr0ngll  its eonchlsion,  
Including the sea t enc lng  phase.  

(b) A s s i g n m e n t  of h ighly  qualified inves t iga tors  and prosecu tors  to gang- 
related cases.  

(c) Signif icant  reduet:ion of caseloads  for Jnves t iga tors  and  p rosecu tors  as- 
s igned to gang-related eases.  
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(d) Measu re s  take,l  in coordinat ion with law enforcement  agencies  to protect  
coopera t ing  wi tnesses  f rom int imidat ion or re t r lbut lon  a t  the h a n d s  of gang  
m e m b e r s  or associa tes .  (Added by Stats.  1981, c. 1030, § 1.) 

§ 13826.3. Individuals subject to gang violence prosecution efforts 
(a)  An individual  shal l  be subject  to g'ang violence prosecution efforts  who is 

raider a r r e s t  for the  commission or tim a t t empted  commiss ion  of any  gang-re la ted  
violent c r ime where  the  individual  is (1) a known member  of a gang,  and  (2) ha s  
exh lh i l ed  a prior  c r imina l  I)ackground. 

(b) F o r  purposes  of this  chapter,  gang-re la ted  m e a n s  tha t  the suspec t  or vict im 
of the  cr.ime Is a known memtler of a gang. 

(c) F o r  purposes  of this  chapter ,  gang  violence prosecution includes hoth 
e r h n h m l  prosecut ions  and proceedings in Juven i le  Cour t  in which a peti t ion is 
fl'.ed p u r s u a n t  to Section 602 of the Wel fa re  and  in s t i t u t i ons  Code. (Added by 
Stats .  J981, e. 1030, § 1.) 

§ 13826.4. Law enforcement agencies; enhanced efforts; criteria 
Law enfo rcemen t  agencies  receiving funds  under  th is  chapter  sha l l  concen t ra te  

enhan ced  law en fo rcemen t  efforts and resources  t, pen cases  identified under  
c r i te r ia  se t  for th  In Suetion 13826.3. Enhanced  law enforcement  cr i ter ia  efforts  
shal l  include, but  not  be limited to : 

(a)  T h e  fo rma t ion  of a specialized gang violence uni t  whose staff  shal l  be com- 
posed of i:he mos t  highly qualified and  tra.ined personnel.  

(b) Th e  efforts of the gang  violence uni t  shal l  hmlude, 1)ut not be l imited to:  
(1) Inc reased  effor ts  to apprehend,  prosecute,  and  convict violent  "ha rd  core" 

ta rge t  g an g  members .  
(2) I n c r ea s in g  the  clearance rate  of reported cr imes which are ta rge ted  as  gang  

rela ted. 
(3) E s t a b l i s h i n g  more  positive re la t ions with,  and encouraging the  suppor t  of 

local cit izens, commuzLlty-based orgall lzat lons,  bus iness  representa t ives ,  and  o ther  
c r imina l  ageucles. 

(4) Aidi,)g and as s i s t ing  other  cr iminal  Jnst ice and governmenta l  agencies  in 
pro tec t ing  coopera t ing  wi tnesses  from lntimidaltion or re t r lbvt ion a t  tlle h a n d s  of 
gang  members  and  thei r  associates.  

(c) Law enforcement  agencies receiving funds  under  this  p rogram sha,ll main-  
ta in  a cr ime an a ly s i s  capabil i ty which provides  the following type of Informa-  
tion : 

(1) Ident i f ica t ion  of act ive gang  members  who have  exhibi ted a pr ior  e rhn tna l  
background.  

(2) Identif ieat lo, l  of evolving or ex is t ing  cr ime pa t t e rns  tha t  are  gang  related.  
(3) P rov id ing  inves t iga t ive  leads. 
{4) M a i n t a i n i n g  s ta t i s t ica l  in fo rmat ion  pe r ta in ing  to gang  related c r imina l  

act ivi ty .  {Added by Stats .  1982, e. 1093, § 4.) 
F o r m e r  § 13826.4 was renumbered  § 13826.7 and amended  by Stats .  1982, c. 

1093, § 3. 
§ 13826.5. County probation departments; enforcement of court-ordered condi- 

til.ns uf p, 'obati(m; aeAvi tms  

Coun ty  probat ion depa r tmen t s  receiving fund ing  under  this  chap te r  shal l  
s t r ic t ly  enforce court-nrdered condit ions of prnl)ation for gang  members .  

(a)  County  probat ion depa r tmen t s  supported under  the Gang Violence Sup- 
liression l ' rog ram shal l  implement  the  fol.lowing act iv i t ies  : 

(1) A Caug  Violence In tens ive  Supervis ion Unit  deal ing with gang  nmmbers  
shal l  lie es tabl ished.  

(2) Cr i te r ia  used to dl, termine which l irobationer shal l  be ass igned  to the  G a ng  
Violence Intensive  Supervision l ' n i t  shal l  be approved by the d is t r ic t  a t t o rney  
hav ing  a Gang Violence Prosecut ion Unit  described in Section 13826.2. 

(3) P roba t ione r s  whose eases a re  assl~,med to the in tensive  snperv ls ion  un i t  
m u s t  be informed of wha t  types of behavior  are  prescribed or forbidden. Such 
notice sha l l  be provtded in both oral mid wr i t ten  forln. 

(4) P roba t ioue r s  whose eases are  ass igned  to the in tensive  supervis ion  ml i t  
m u s t  be informed, tn writ ing,  t ha t  all cour t -ordered condi t ions  of probat ion will 
lie s t r ic t ly  enforced.  

(5) DelmtY probation officers in the in tensive  supervis ion un i t  shal l  have  
reduced prolmtioner  caseloads and  shal l  eoordhmte  thei r  superv is ion  efforts  
wi th  l aw enforcement  and  prosecut ion p e r s o n n e l  Such coordinat ion sha l l  In- 
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elude informing law enforcement  and prosecution personnel of the condit ions 
set for probat ioners  and of tile s t r ic t  enforcement  procedures  to be implemented.  

(6) Deputy probat ion oincers in the intensive supervision i,nlt shall coordi- 
nate with the d i s t r i c t  a t torney in iusuring tha t  court-ordered conditions of pro- 
bation are  consis tent ly enforced. 

(7) In tens ive  supervision unit  deputy probat ion officers shall  coordinate,  
whenever feasible, with community-based organizat ions in seeking to ensure  tha t  
probationers adhere  to their  court-ordered conditions. (Added by Stats. 1982, 
c. 1093, § 5. ) 

§ 13826.6. Community-based organizations; act ivi t ies  
For  purposes of this chapter ,  a "community-based" organizat ion is defined as 

a nonprofit operat ion establ ished to serve gang members,  their  families, schools, 
and the community  with programs of community supervision and service which 
maintain communi ty  par t ic ipat ion in the planning, operation and evaluation 
of their  programs.  

(a) Community-based organizat ions supported under  the Gang Violence Sup- 
presslon Program shall  implement  the following ac t iv i t ies :  

(1) Providing informat ion to law enforcement  agencies concerning gang related 
activit ies In tile community.  

(2) Providing informat ion to school admin i s t ra to r s  and staff  concerning gang 
related act ivi t ies  in the community.  

(3) Provide conflict resolution by means of in tervent ion or mediation to pre- 
vent and limit gang  crisis situations.  

(4) Increase wi tness  cooperation through coordinat ion with local law enforce- 
ment  and prosecutors  and by education of the community about  the roles of these 
government agencies and the availabil i ty of wi tness  protection services. 

(b) Community-based organizat ions supported under  the Gang Violence Sup- 
pression Program shall  implement  at  least  one of the following act ivi t ies  : 

(1) Main ta in ing  a 24-hour public telephone message center  for  the receipt  of 
information and  to ass is t  individuals  seeking services from the organization.  

(2) Mainta in ing a "n lmor  control" public telephone service to provide accurate  
and reliable in format ion  to concerned citizens. 

(3) Providing technical  ass is tance and t ra in ing concerning gang related activ- 
ities to school s taff  members,  law enforcement  personnel,  and community mem- 
bers including lmrental  groups. Such t ra in ing and ass is tance shall incude cov- 
erage of how to p reven t  and minimize intergang confrontat ions .  

(4) Providing recreat ional  activit ies for  gang members  or potential  gang 
members. 

(5) Providing Job t ra in ing and placement services for youth. 
(6) Refer r ing  gang members, as needed, to appropr ia te  agencies for the treat-  

ment Of health,  psychological,  and drug-related problems. (Added by Stats.  1982, 
c. 1093, § 6.) 

§ 13826.7. Federa l  funds ;  operative effect of act 
The Office of  Criminal  Jus t ice  Planning and the California Council on Criminal  

Justice are  encouraged to utilize any federal  funds tha t  may become available for  
purposes of this act. This act becomes operative onJy if federal  f lmds a re  made 
available for i ts  implementat ion.  (Former ly  § 13826.4, added by Stats. 1981. c. 
1030, § ~l. Renmnbered  § 13826.7 and amended by Stats. 1982, c. ~I093, § 3.) 

Mr. BAscuE. This legislation was introduced initially by Assembly- 
man 5fartinez, who is very sensitive to the gang prol)lem, given t~e 
community that he serves. 

He---~Ve set this program up to replicate the hardcore gang division 
statewide. I f  there were any Federal money availuble, thev could be 
used through our office of criminal justice planning for (~istrict at- 
torney programs in counties throughout the State. 

After  studying and talking among ourselves we real!zeal that the 
most viable way to attack a gang violence 1)roblem ~ as the. coordinated 
effort approach that we have hei'e in Los Angeles County, that is law 
enforcement, very specialized law enforcement people, probation com- 
ponents, and district attorney. 
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We also brought into this as the fourth component conmmnity-based 
organizations. 

And, presently, funding through this statcwide p rogram-- I  think 
we have five counties involved throughout the State, big counties, 
small counties, rural. 

See, the gang problem's just not an inner city problem. It 's a subur- 
ban problem. It 's a rural problem. 

And these five counties have some colmnunity-based organizations 
funded and law enforcement and prosecution a n d - -  

Senator SPECTER. HOW adequate are your courts, your juvenile 
courts, to handle the trials and the dispositions of these nmttcl~ ? ~kre 
you backed up ? 

~'[r. ]3ASCUE. Well, the congestion problem in our juvenile courts--i t  
moves much quicker. Wc don't have the congestion problem. We have 
speedy justice. 

~enator ~PECTEm ~Vlmt is the average time from arrest to trial in 
the juvenile court 2. 

~'[r. BASCI~E. Less than 30 days, generally, Senator, very speedy. We 
do not have jury trials. 

Senator StreTCh. You have benefited from the absence of the jury 
trial. 

Mr. B,sccm. Absolutely. 
Senator SPECTER. That was otir case out in Phi ladelphia-- that  held 

the line on jury trials in juvenile matters---went back to 1970-1972. 
Mr. BAsc~m. Well, Senator, fins partmular l%lslatmn I spoke about, 

the Office of Criminal Justice Planning could only find the last year 
$800#00 to do a statcwide program. And needless to say, we're all very 
concerned about the cxisting programs, that if we don't have addi- 
tional funds by July,  as Bob Philibosian indicated, we're going to lose 
five lawyers in Hardcore. 

But these other counties and their programs which are just getting 
s tar ted--and their gang problem is growing. Now is the time to address 
i t~ they ' r c  going to lose those programs. 

Senator SPECTER. HOW many judges do you have sitting on ~uvcnile 
cases in Los Angeles County ? 

Mr. BASG~ZE. I would just guess, Senator, and say. it 'd be somewhere 
around 60, and those would be part-time commissioners and judges, 
approximately. 

Senator SPECTER. How does that compare with the calendar problems 
and backlog on the adult trials 2. 

This is part of the calendar control issue that I 'm concerned about. 
And this really leads into the question as to whether there might be 
some Federal funding in the issue of calendar control. 

I know that's a tremendous problem in many cities, certainly is in 
the city of Philadelphia. 

And I 'd be interested in the way you arc able to process your cases 
in tlm adult--sounds like you're in'p['etty good shape in juvenile court, 
trying cases on the average within 30 days. 

Mr. BAscu~.. Well. from a time or calendaring perspective, we're in 
much better shape than, certainly, we're in the adult. 

Wc have problems in our adult court. Both Supervisor Edelman and 
Bob Philibosian have mentioned the problems. There's just tremendous 
delay and congestion in our adult courts. 
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Senator S~,Ec'rrm. What  is the backlog of untried cases in the county, 
if you know 

Mr. PHmmOSr.~N. I don't have ~he figures with me. We can supply 
tile figures to the cmnmittee. 

~Ve, of course, have our central cotnCs downtown which are now 
operating relatively efficiently. We use the measure of how well we're 
doing by whether or not we have to invade the civil courts with any 
criminal court cases. 

Since the first of January  we have not had to send any criminal court 
cases in our downtown courts over to the civil courts. 

Senator SPE(~TER. What is the total number of judges you have in 
Los Angeles County 

Mr. EDEL~taX. Municipal and Superior ? 
n t ' ~ • ' ' " S e a  or SPECTER. Yes. l~rymg criminal cases. 

~'l'r. EDEL,MA1V. Oh, t rying criminal. I 'd h a v e - -  
,Senator SPECa'ER. Would that be just the Superior Court j udges~ 

Municipal C o u r t - -  
Mr. EDEL~tAN. NO. They h a n d l e - -  
Senator St'ECTER. They try preliminary hearings- 
Mr. EOEL~taX [continuing]. They handle orcliminarv hearings. 
Senator SPEC'rEn [continuing]. And lesscl:offenses ? ~ 
Mr. EDEB~raN. Misdemeanors, yes. 
Do you know, J im ? 
~'[r. BASCUE. Senator, I don't have those figures. 
Senator SPECTER, I would be interested to know. How ninny 

assistant DA's do you have now ? 
~'ir. PmmBOSlaX. Wc have approximatcly, 500 deputy district 

attorneys in the county of Los Angeles. 
What  I was going to point out to the Senator, in addition to t'he 

central courts downtown, we have eight branches of the Superior 
Court located in various areas of tile county. 

I t  is in some of those branches where we are experiencing tremen- 
dous overcrowding and tremendous bacldogging of cases. We don't 
have the flexibility of tile downtown courts there. 

Senator SPECTER. Ill the 1960's many of us from around the country 
admired your system here when you put on deputy district attorneys 
at the discretion of the supervisors. 

And the theo,'y was that the supervisors would stand for election, 
and their conduct would be judged at that time. 

And you lind a much better ratio of deputy DA's--Evelle Younger 
was DA back in 196fl--than so many of us did around the country. 

Mr. PmLmOmaX. There was more money then, Senator. 
Senator SPECTER. Well. that  was a helpt~ul factor as well. 
~ro,,ld there be any role that  you can see, M,'. Philihosian, for the 

Federal Government on a grant  which would aid you in any way on 
calendar control ? 

Mr. PmLmosrax.  We have land many. many studies on calendar 
control. I 'm not, sure that po,,,'ing more money into that is going to 
make very much difference. 

,qenator SPECTerS. Do you have the individual judge calendar here? 
Mr.  EnEL~tA,X*. Master. 
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Mr. Puu.mos~t2¢. Well, we have various systems in different parts 
of the county. We have some that are direct calendar. Some are master 
ca lender. 

There's a great deal of autonomy among our Superior Court iudges. 
It:s our conclusiou that, re.~lly, what we need is to streamhne our 

system. And that 's something that we have to address through our own 
State l a w s ~  

Senator SPECTER. Have you considered the individual judge 
calendar ? 

~[r. EI)ELI~fAN'. There have been, I think, some studies made of that. 
Senator SPECTRa. Does you r Federal court have the iadividual j udge 

c a l e n d a r - -  
Mr. EDEL~[A~. Yes. Yes, they do. And, in fact, I know our new DA 

shares with me a concern about some of the procedural delays tlmt 
are used in our State court~ where we have, for example, lawyet~ 
questioning jurors on voir dire, ra~her th'tn judges. That  takes up a 
lot of time. 

And we're moving, Senator, to try to look into how we can improve 
o[lr criminal and civil justice systems without pouring in a lot of 
money, which, obviously, we don't have. 

We will see some legislation introduced in Sacramento that will 
hel p. 

Senator SPECTFJR. I would be very interested in any suggestions that  
you might have on the issue of calendar control, any role that you 
might see for Ihe Federal Government. 

l%'[y own sense of the situation is that the problem begins with the 
calendar control and the long delays. And the second facet is the 
adequacy of sentencing. And the th'ird facet is the adequacy of the 
correctional facilities and that you have to move on all three fronts 
i£ we really are to have a chance of bringing the criminal system 
under control. 

And, of course, the juvenile offenses are the starting point. 
Back to the juvenile--just another question or two. 
~'Vlmt is the quality of your rehabilitation facilities as to the juve- 

nile offenders ? 
Mr. Em.:L,~tA,','. In the county we have gone beyond what the State 

requires by opening up camps for the young pel~son who has com- 
mitted what would be otherwise a crime. Not all counties have done 
this in California. 

'So we keep a number of juveniles, try to rehabilitate them, try. to 
~ive tllem work experience in an environment that we feel they'll 
benefit from. 

~re've had to open up more of these facilities because of the 
overcrowding. 

But there's no question we have put more attention into our juvenile 
area over the last few years. 

In the past, Sena,tor, we used to h.tve commissioners be the judges 
in those cases. 

:kTow, I thinl¢, bec:ulse of the great interest in how we're handling 
juveniles, we have judges handling these cases, not just commission- 
ers, and very qualified judges who ~re handling these situations. 
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Senator SPECTER. Well, thank you very much, gentlemen. 
Is there anything that you'd like to add. Mr. Philil)osian? 
~,{r. PHILIBOSI:X:N. I have nothing more to add, Senator. 
I want to t.hanlr tile Senator and the committee for the opportunity 

to address you at this time. 
Senator SPECTER. Well, I very much--we very much appreciate 

your coming. We have a transcript, t~nd my colleagues on the Judi- 
ciary Committee will be very interested in these results. Thank you 
v e r y  lnnch.  

Mr. Em.:L,~t,xx. ~Ve thank you for your leadership in this area. And 
we hope that, you'll be more suceessfl,l in those 1)ills that y o n ' r e - -  

Senator SPECTER. Well. I anticipate that we are going to be success- • 1 ¢ ~  " 

ful to tim extent that you can persuaoe tim Attorn%, General, who is 
a former resident of your area, or the President, who is a former resi- 
dent of your area, to join my voice there. 

We expect to be successful in getting them through and getting them 
si~mled with a little help f r o m - -  

Mr. EOEL,~taX. ].lob may have more influence than I. 
Senator SPECTER. Has politics reared its head ? 
]l'[r. EDEL,~tAN'. Well, this is good politics. 
Senator SPECTER. Tl~ank you very nauch. 
Mr. Pt nLmOSTaX. Thank you, Senator. 
Senator SPECTER. Our next witnesses that we're going to hear are 

~[r. Bamon Mendoza, a former gang member; Mr. Mike Duran, direc- 
tor of the Los Angeles Probation l)epartnmnt; and Mr. Tom Chung, 
executive director of the Comnmnity Youth Gang Services of Los 
Angeles. 

But we;re going to take a lO-minute recess before we proceed with 
those three w~tnesses. 

[Recess.] 
Senator SPECTER. Out" next witness is Mr. Ramon Mendoza. 
We al.)preciate your being here, Mr. Mendoza. I think it would be 

approprmte at tile outset of your testimony to identif3., your own back- 
ground. 

On out' witness hearing sheet, you are listed simply as a former gang 
member. But I understand that you arc--well, I']1 ask you what is your 
status at the present time ? Arc you in custody ? 

STATEMENT 0F RAMON MENDOZA, ~0RMER GANG MEMBER 

Mr. MENDOZa. I am. 
S e n a t o r  SPECTER. O n  w] la t  charge? 
~']~F. ~'[ENDOZA. Ex-con ill possession of a firearm. 
Senator SPECTER. And how long have you been in custody 
Mr. ~ENDOZA. Sillce January  11 of this year. 
Senator SPECTFm. And arc you awaiting trial at the present time ? 
Mr. MErcOoza. I am awaiting the trial, yes. 
Senator SPECTER. Mr. Mendoza: when we ask you these questions, we 

arc interested in any light that you can shed on the problem of juvenile 
gangs or adult ;~angs or prison gangs. 

But we do not want in any way to impinge upon any of your 
rights. So that  if we ask ycu a ~luest]on--I ask you a question that  you 
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would prefer not to answer, you have a perfect right to decline to 
answer any question. 

You are not here by subpena, as you know. You have volunteered 
to come here. 

But i f  any of the questions should get into an area where you feel 
that  it might incriminate you, or make your life more difficult in any 
judicial proceeding, then you should feel free not to speak. 

We are not governed here by the Miranda rules. You are not in 
custodial interrogation. You are not under subpena. You are free, so 
far as this proceeding is concerned, to walk out at any moment. You 
can't walk out generally because you're in custody. 

But  you donTt have t-o answer any questions. And it would be foolish 
of me to say we will provide a lawyer for you because you are not here 
in that  kinc~ of a relationship. 

But  I do want it plain that  we do not wish in any way to impinge 
upon your rights to make your life more difficult or ask you anything 
which is embarrassing. 

So if any of that  arises, you feel free to say, " I  choose not to answer," 
or, " I  choose not to say anything more." 

Mr. MEz~noz.~. I understand that. 
With  regard to my current charge, I intend to plead guilty anyway. 
With  regard to areas that I might feel are incriminating in other 

areas, I 'll  take your advice. 
Senator SI'E~rER. All right. 
I want to be very careful that  we do not overstep any boundaries and 

we respect all of your rights. 
I i u s t  want to make that plain. 

# 

You understand everything I ve said~ 
Mr. M_mm)ozA. Yes. 
Senator St~cvem. OK. 
That 's  fine. 
Where are you a native of, Mr. Mendoza ? 
Mr. MEN~OZA. I 'm from---originally from East  Los Angeles. I was 

born in tlm Los Angeles area. 
Senator SvEcamm Have you spent all of ,your life here ? 
Mr. Mr~¢nozA. Well when I wasn't in pmson, yes. 
Senator SP~.CTEm HOW long have you been in prison ? 
Mr. ME,',~nOZA. I have spent app~.oximately 17 of my last 19 .),ears 

behind bars. 
Senator SPECTER. That 's a long time. 
How old are you ? 
~ r .  Mv.m)ozn. Thirty-three. 
Senator SvF.c'r~.m Thirty-three. 
So you started in jail when you were 147 
Mr. ]X'tE~-r~zA. Ahout 15 years old. 14, 15. 
Senator SPF.CTEm Fifteen years old. 
And you spent 17 of the last 19 years in jail ? 
Mr. l~,[~:~r)oz:x. Apnroximately, yes. 
Senator ,~PECTER. What  were you first put in jail for? 
Mr. MFNDOZA. I be~an--I  began doing time for truancy, running 

away, basically for being incorrigible. 
Senator SPECTER. Jail time fox" truancy ? 
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Mr. ME:¢DOZA. Yes. 
Senator SPECTER. For not going to school ? 
Mr. ME~'DOZa. Well that was one of the additional charges. I t  was 

riding in a stolen automobile and truancy and being beyond parental 
control. " " 

I was committed to the Youth Authority for that. 
Senator SPEC'rl~R. You were committed to the Youth Authori ty at the 

age of 15 because of that? 
~I1". ~{E~DOZA. Right. 
Senator SPrCTER. And what were your experiences in that Youth 

Authori ty ? 
Mr. ME~Clr~,za. In the Youth Authority I was~ini t ia l ly  I was just 

a pretty nai~ e person regarding the youth underworld and the street 
gang scene. 

But during my 4 years in confinement in the Youth Authority, I be- 
came trained or schooled in the ways of the criminal. 

Senator SPECTER. You went in as a naive 15-year-old and came out as 
an educated young criminal ? 

Mr. i~lE~Doza. Exactly. 
Senator  SPECTER. What  institution were you incarcerated in ? 
Mr. ME~¢D0Za. In the Youth Authority I .spent time in just about all 

their facilities. 
In the 4 years I was incarcerated in about nine. I was in Preston. I 

was at the Youth Training School in Chino. In Norwalk. In Paso 
Robles. Just  about all o.f the Youth Authority places~ 

Senator  SPECTER. Wha.t formal education, if  an), was available to 
you there ? 

You were of high school age at the time. You would have been a 
freshman or sophomore in high school at the age of 15 ? 

Did they have classes for you to attend ? 
h[l'. 2~'~ENDOZA. They did. And they had trades. 
They had available facilities there. ]3ut, again, you know, there 

were ~ lot of street gang people there and the peer pressure was enor- 
mous, or that's the way I felt. 

Senator SPECTER. So yoll had the :lvailabilitv of educational oppor- 
tunities, but yon didn't  utilize them ? 

Mr. MENDOza. That's correct. 
Senator SEVCTER. You could have taken com'ses in 'flgebra or his- 

tory or grammar or English literature? 
Mr. ME,'¢DO",~. I could have. And in fact I did. In between my act- 

ing up, while I was in there, to try to impress mv peers, I did take 
some courses. And I graduated while I was in ~outh Authority. 

Senator SPECTER. From high school ? 
Mr. ME,'¢ooz~x. From high school. 
Senator SPrCTER. And you spent 4 years from the time you were 15 

until 197 
~'[1'. ~IEN'DOZA. 2~tbollt that, about 19 years old. 
Senator SPECTER. And you were then'released ? 
Mr. MEyooz:~. I was then released. 
Senator SPECTER. l-lOW ]Oll~ ~,Vt~l'e VOU lit large? 
Mr. MEyooza. I was at large, oh, about 90 days, about 3 months. 
Senator SPECTER. And what happened to you ? 
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Mr. M~XDOZA. Well  1 joined a street  gang  and subsequently be- 
came involved ill a street  gang fight ill which 1 murdered  a rival gang  
nmmber with ~ machete. 

Sena to r  St'E(rI'ER. W h a t  gang was that  ~. 
Mr. ME.','nozA. Well ,  I was a member of the Bar r io  Nuevo Gang.  

And the  rival gang  was the Whi te  Fence Gang.  
Sena to r  SPECTER. And this goes back to about  1968 or 1969 then ? 
~{r. ~IENDOZA. About  early pa r t  of 1969. 
Sena to r  SeEC'l'l':m Wha t  was the nature  of  tha t  gang fight ? Tell us 

a l i t t le bit about  it. 
Mr. ME:,'DOZA. Well  it  was ~ situation in which I was jumped by 

members of the rival gang  because I was an enemy of theirs and I 
was in their  tur f .  

And  I re turned with members of my street  gang  and_we retaliated.  
Sena tor  Sm~CTER. ] low many gang inelnbers jumped you'~ 
Mr. ME:,'DOZA. The re  were about six or seven Whi te  Fence  melnbers 

tha t  jumped  me. 
Selmtor  SPECTER. YOU say White  Fence? 
Mr. ME:,'DOZA. Yeah. T h a t  was the name of  the rival  street  gang. 
Sena to r  SrEc'rrm ~Vcre there racial overtones between the two 

g a n ~  ? 
l~'~r. Mr~'r)ozA. A.VeII, the composition of both gangs were Mexican- 

American.  There  were no - - the  only racial overtones was tha t  both  
gangs happened to 13e Chicano gangs. 

Sena tor  Serc'n.:n. So you were jumped 1)y how many, again ? 
Mr. Mrxl~o',,x. About  six or seven gang members. 
Sena tor  SeEcll.:a. And what  happened a.s a result  of tha t?  

~[r. ME.','OOZA. "Well, I w a s - - I  fel t  humil ia ted in the fact  tha t  not only 
I personally had been assaulted but my gang had suffered the humil ia-  
tion of hav'ing been jumped by a rival', our arch enemy. 

I re turned to my 'street gal~g in Eas t  L.A. and tolc!, them what  1.and 
happened We gat 'hered up the fellows and got our ~eapons  together  
and re turned in my ear. And it was like a teen center, like a dance hall,  
and we ran in and began fighting with the other  guys. Th ey  had pipes 
and boa rds, et cetera. 

Sena to r  S1'I':CTEn. Did the other gang have guns ? 
Mr. Mr:,'nozA. No. There  were no guns at this point.  
Senator  SVECTEn. W h a t  was the murder  weapon that  you used ? 
~'[r. MEN'~OZ,X. I t  was a ma~'hete. ]l: was abotl[5 Ihal; long [ indicat ing] .  
The  victim, what  I did, I sliced his head dur ing  the confronta t ion.  

H e  died on the spot. 
La t e r  that  night- 
Senator SPECTER. DO yOU know whether  he had been one of the six or 

seven who at tacked you previously ? 
Mr. MExnozA. H e  was. 
Sena to r  SeEc'rEm Did you know that  at the t ime you struck him ? 
Mr. MF~'DOZA. No. at the time that  I struck, I was j u s t - - -  
Sena tor  Srr, cwEn. I t  d idn ' t  make any difference ? 
Mr. MrNnozA. I t  didn ' t  make any difference because my anger was 

di rected at tha t  gang and their  meal.bets and whoever died in the proc- 
ess, as f a r  as I was concerned, it  was considered ga'avy. 
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Senator St',¢cTnr. SO you had been out of jail 90 days and you had 
gotten yourself on a murder charge? 

~fr. ]~E~mOZA. Correct. 
Senator SPECTEr. And ),oil were tried ? 
Mr. Mn,-,-~z,x. T pled guilty to invohmtary manslaughter and was 

sentenced to State l)rison. 
Senator SPECTEr. You pied guilty to invohmtary manslaughter or 

voluntary manslaughter ? 
Mr. M~:nmozA. Tnvohmtary manslaughter. 
Senator SPECTEII. That was a pretty light conviction, wasn't it ? 
]~[r. ME~mOZ,~. I t  was. 
Senator' SPF.CT~;r. I t  doesn't sound like invohmtary manslaughter. 
Mr. Mnn'noz,x. No. Tt wasn't. But I don't know. The possibility, from 

what my attorney told nm. was that there were problems for the prose- 
eution's office in acquiring witnesses to testify. And my street gang 
members were in a position where they could discourage them from 
testifying in that  they would kill any o'f the guys that would show up 
to testify.. 

Senator SPECTEr. And what sentence did you receive? 
~{1'. ),IEN'I)OZA. I received a 6-months-to-15-years prison sentence. 
Senator SPECT~.r. T-Joy,' long did you serve? 
M:r. ME~mOzA. I did a little over 6 years, about 61~ years. 
Senator SPECTEr. How long were )'o'u at large after" being released 

at that time? 
~Tow you're up to about 1975 ? 
Mr. ~'[V.~DOZ:~. Yes. 
I might add at this point that I joined another gang while I was 

in San Quentin. 
In 1970 1 joined a prison gang called the Mexican Mafia. 
And it was a gang made up of street gang members from Los 

Angeles. And it late,, carried out into the community, to the Cali- 
fornia communities. 

And when T was r e l e a s e d ~  
Senator SPF-Cl~.r. How biff was th is ~,ana ~. 
Mr. MF.~'t~z,~. At that time or today? 
Senator. Sm.'.CTEr. Well, at that  time. 
W'hen you were in jail with this Mexican Mafia in San Quentin, 

how many gang members were there ? 
M'r MK.,,-r~zA. OK. AI that time in San Quentin there were approxi- 

mately 20 to 30 legitimate members. 
There was a total membe,~hip of about 100 to 150. 
Senator SPECTER. What do you mean by "le~itim~lte members"? 
T-Tow many illegitimate melhbers were ,:.here ? 
Mr. Mi.x-r~z:~. Well. what I mean bv legitimate are made members. 
:Illegitimate. as you say. are what 1 consider associates o r  ha.ngers- 

on. people that  we" would use in the fm'thet'~nee of our activities. 
When Z was released then in l.q75--while T was incarcer0ted in 

the various prisons. T had become involved in more gang-related homi- 
cides, hut these were in prison. 

So when T got, out. 
Senator SPECTER. Mful'ders in prison ? 
]~'[r. ME~'DOZA. Murders in 1)rison. 
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Senator SeECrEm You were involved in those 
Mr. ME~DOza. In several homicides while I was in there. 
Senator StEerER. Don't answer if you don't want to, but how many ? 
Mr. 5'[E~DOZa. Oh, I 'd  say about six, about six or seven. 
Senator SeECVE~. Were you ever tried on those ? 
Don't answer, again, if you don't want to. 
Mr. MEnDOZA. Was I ever tried on them ? 
Senator SrI.:CTEm Were you ever charged or tried ? 
M,'. MENDOZa. I was charged with one of them. And I believe the 

D.A.'s office rejected it for lack of evidence. 
Senator SPECTER. IIow did these six or seven gang nmrders occur? 

What were the circumstances surrounding them 
~'~r. ~'~ENDOZA. Well, I can say that they were prison-gang-related 

mu,'dcrs in which the Mexican Mafia would have coufrontations with 
rival gangs, such as 

Senator ~PECTEa. In prison ? 
Mr. MalgoOZ:t. In prison. Such as Nuestra Familia and Black Guer- 

,'ilia Family.  
Seuator ~I, EC'rEm Were there racial overtones in any of these ? 
Black Gue,'rilla. was that a Mexican-American ~ang as well ? 
Mr. MEX'~0ZA. NO. Nuestra Familia was Mexl'-can-American. The 

Black Guerrilla Family was comprised of black inmates. 
Senator SI'EC'rER. So the,'c were racial overtones in the battles be- 

tween the Mexican Mafia and the Black Guerrillas~ 
l~Ir. MENDOZA. Well, the only thing racial was the composition of the 

gangs~ because the reason for the confrontations wasn't necessarily be- 
hind race. 

Se,mtor SI'ECTER. What  was the reason for the confrontations 
M,'. ME.X,,~oza. I t  was vying for power within the ~,,'ison system for 

control of the respective prisons~ which were San ~,uentin~ Folsom, 
Solcdad, all the prisons were------- 

Senator Sr~c~rEl~. Were there branches of these gangs in all the 
prisons ? 

Mr. MENDOZA. There was and there are. They exist today in all the 
California ]prisons. 

Senate,' SPEC'r~. Do~rison officials know about that 
M,'. MENDOZA. I hey co. 
Senator S"ECTEm DO they care ? 
~[r. M-ENOOZa. They very much do. 
Senator SI'ECTER. What  do they do about it ? 
Mr. ME.X',>oza. To my knowledge, they try to isolate hardcorc mem- 

bers as much as possible. 
But, like I say, there are a lot of illegitimate members, as ~,ou termed 

it, or associates, that carry out the hits for tim respective prason gangs. 
Senator SI'ECTEIL ~Vhen you say there were six or seven gang murdel~ 

"that you were involved in--and, again, I invite you not to answer this 
if you choose not to---was there a serious effort made by the prison 
authorities to identify the perpetrators, or did they care very much if 

. one gan~ was killing somebody from another g a n g ?  
Mr. MENDOZa. I would say they eared. But at that time I understood 

r r ' that there ~ ere conflicts bet~ een the prosecutor s ottice up north and the 
l~rison officials behind security responsibilities, or whatever. 

2 1 - 5 7 1  0 - 8 3  - 3 
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And it's also very hard to prosecutc a prison homicide because you 
have a lot of  witnesses who will not, for their own safety, come up and 
testify as to what they s~w. 

Senator SI'ECTr~. Well, were there prosecutions on any of these six to 
seven gang murdel~s 

~Ir.~IE~DOZA. Well I'll have to refrain from answering that because 
wo're gett ing into an area where I might- 

~enator SPECTEn. OK. 
Z think you have answered the wrong question. You're not answer- 

ing the right question. 
But  as to whether there were any gang murders-- the question that 

I 'm interested in overall that  this goes to is whether there was a real 
effort made by the prison officials to gain witnesses and prosecute 
where it would be possible. 

Mr. MF.~D0ZA. My understanding is that.--in my experience in all 
the~  type of homicides in prison--is that the prison officials do the 
best that they can. 

Senator SI"ECTEn. OK. 
Now when you say these gangs were fighting over power, what kind 

of power was involved here ? 
~Ir. M_E~CD0Z .̂ Well, control of narcotic distributions in the prison 

system, control of the prostitution of male prisoners, homosexuals, 
and just essentially just to have the reputation that  came with con- 
trolling and being the toughest g~mg on the mainline. 

Senator SPECTEm Status ? 
Mr. ME~nOZA. Status, exactly. 
Senator  SPECTER. Anything'else specific besidcs the factor of status 

and control of the male prostitution ? 
Mr. ME~DOZA. Well, with the Mexican Mafia I can say that their 

goal besides the prison status was to take their activities out to the 
outside and establish an organized crime cartel. 

Senator SPECTEm Outside of the prison ? 
l~Ir. MEr,'nozA. Outside of the prison system. 
Senator Sx-acwm~. And what kind of organized crime cartel activities 

did the l~exican Mafia engage in outside the prison, if you care to 
answer that  ? 

Mr. I~'ENDOZA. OK. "~res, we became invoh, ed in executions, dis- 
tribution of  narcotics, contract hits--which would be the executions. 
Anything illicit, illegal that would fu r the r~you  know, anything 
which we considered Mexican Mafia business we would involve our- 
selves for the purpose of furthering our organization. 

Senator SPECTEm What  was the range of cost for a contract hit? 
Mr. MElUDOZA. Well. I was invoh:cd ill one that paid. 
Senator SX'ECT~n. Now proceed to answer this only if you really 

want to. 
~[r. MEI~r~ozA. I know, yes. Well I 've already received immunity." 

I 've testified in this case. 
Senator SeFCT~Z.m Oh, fine. All right. 
Mr. Mn~noz,~. We received about $10.000 in heroin, free use of a- 

bail bonds woman--rather  her services as a bail bonds [)erson to bail 
out members of the group. There were a few other little additions. Z 
just don't recall at this time. 



31 

So it would range anywhere from free, which was considered Mexi- 
can Mafia business, those executions or contracts were performed for 
free. And the murder-for-hire type contract where an outside contrac- 

- tor would give the organization a hit, anywhere up to $20,000. 
Sena tor  SPECTER. On the one where you have already been granted 

immunit),, was there a trial and conviction? 
Mr. MENDOZA. Yes. 
Senator SPEffrER. What  were the circumstances of tlmt contract 

murder ? 
Mr. ~ D O Z A .  I t  was a situation in which a bail bonds woman ap- 

parently coveted her husband's belongings, a couple of houses, a busi- 
ness establishment, et cetera. 

And she approached the godfather of the Mexican Mafia. 
Senator SPECTER. "~Vas he in or out of jail ? 
~!'.  h'[ENDOZA. H e  was out of jail .  
And asked him if  he knew of someone who could, you know~ take 

care of this matter. 
And he subsequently contacted me and gave me the order to have 

someone perform the execution. 
Senator S, "ECTER. Were you in jail at the time ? 
Mr. MENDOZA. NO; I was out. 
I arranged and orchestrated the hit. And I had a street gang mem- 

ber, who I described as a gang youngster, which he was, do the hit. 
And the [)ayment came afterward. I t  was $10,000 in cash, excuse 

me. I t  was St0,000 in cash and a quantity of heroin which I believe 
was about $60,000. ~Ve never received the heroin. But  I had that  mixed 
up. 

Senator SPECTER. And how was the hit carried out? 
Mr. ]~'[EN'DOZA. The hit man went to---per information obtained from 

the bail bonds woman-- the  hit man went to her husband's place of 
business and entered and used a .45, put it upside his head and blew 
his brains out. 

Senator SP~.crEm And there was a prosecution in this matter? 
~1". ~'~ENDOZA. There was. There were three convictions. 
Senator SPECTER. Wire was prosecuted ? 
Mr. ~ D O Z A .  Joe Morgan, the godfather of the Mexican Mafia; 

Helen Morazet, the bail bonds woman; and Att ic  Guzman, who was 
the t r igger  man. , • 

Sena tor  SPECrrER, And )ou received immunit) ? 
]~lr. ~IE~DOZA. I received immunity. 
Senator Sram-Ea. You were not prosecuted at all? 
]~:[I'. ]~IE~I)OZA. ~[ WaS an unindicted coconspirator. 
Senator SPECTEm When was this case completed ? 
Mr. M.E~CDOZA. I believe 1981. 
Senator SPEC~'E,. Were there other contract hits involving the gang 

that  you know about, tlm Mexican Mafia gang? 
Mr. M~WDOZA. There  were. I don't wish to go into detail for obvious 

reasons. I can tell you that I was involved in anywhere from 15 to 20 
contract hits. But, again, as far  as the specific ones, I 'd  rather not go 
into it. 

Sena tor  SPECTER. Well, we'll respect that, Mr. Mendoza. In your own 
career you have brought us up to where you were released from jail in 
about 1975. 



32 

Mr. ]~rDOZA. Right. 
Senator SrEm'ra~. And how long were you at large on that occasion ? 
Mr. ~ D O Z A .  I was at large from 3uly of 1975 until October. At  

that  time I was arrested. 
Senator Sr~-canea. October of 1975 ? 
Mr. MENDOZA. Right. At that time I was arrested in Bakersfield for 

executing two members of lguestra Familia, which was our rival prison 
gang. 

Senator SPF~rrat. These members of hTuestra Familia were out of 
prison at that  time 

Mr. M~DOZA. Yes; they were. They were at their residence. 
8enator 81"r:o'rEm What  happened on that occasion ? 
~I1.. ~'[EIVDOZA. ~Vell, I was--I  can talk about this one because I have 

• since served time for it. 
Senator Sl,,v.cama. Tried and convicted ? 
Mr. MENDOZa. Yes. 
Senator St,~.cvea. On a charge of murder ~. 
h'[l'. ~'~'NI)OZA. Yes, on two counts of second-degree lnurder. 
Senator 8P~-CTEm Did you plead guilty ? 
Mr. MmxDoza. I pled guilty. 
Senator 8eE(.'rEIt. l h a t  doesn't sound much like second-degree mur- 

der tither, does it 
Mr. M.E~rDOZA. What 's that  ? 
~enator ~I'I,:G'rEI~. Why was it classitied a second-degree lnurder 

instead of first-degree, if you know ? 
Mr. MmNDOZa. I don~t know. Again, I don't lmow what the prosecu- 

tion's position was with regard to having their witnesses in one piece 
testify. I know that I chose to plead guilty to second-degree murder. 

Senator SPECa~t. You confessed to this incident ? 
Mr. M.e~DOZa. Yes; I did. 
Senator ~PECTER. What  happened on the incident, if you care to tell 

ua~ 
Mr. M.e~rooza. Sure. Again it was a prison gang related murder in 

which we--which is myself and nay codcfendantc--we sought to take 
over an area in Bakersfield for control to further our narcotic distribu- 
tion activities. And in the process of doing this we came across two 
members of the Nuestra Familia, who at that  time had a certain 
amount of control over the drugs in Bakersfield. 

So to kill two birds with one stone, so to speak, we executed both 
guys to take over their narcotics and because they were enemies of the 
Mexican Mafia. 

Senator SI'ECTEm HOW did you do it? 
Mr. MEr,'DOZa. We incorporated the services of a female who knew 

these guys. She went to the residence with my brother, Mexican Mafia 
brother. And these guys didn't  know him so she approached the resi- 
dence with the guy and she used the ruse of making a drug transaction. 
And I waited in the car. 

So what happened is once they got into the residence, they both 
pulled out revolvers on one of the brothers. And I followed in. We tied 
him up. And we waited for his other brother to arrive. 

Senator SPECTER. HOW lon~ did that take ? 
Mr. MExooz:x. Oh. I think about 4 or 5 hours. In the meantime we 

eliminated the first guy. We stabbed him to death in a bedroom and left 
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him in tile room. And when tile other brother arrived la te l~again ,  
4 or 5 hours later--we shot ~nd stabbed him to death. 

Scmttor SPEG'I'ER. HOW did you feel about committing those murders, 
. Mr. Mendoza, if you care to answer? 

h'[i.. M~:,'qDOZA. Well at that time I saw that as strictly Mexican Mafia 
business. I really didn' t  have any feelings either way. I wasn't over- 
joyc.d with it. At the same time I didn't  feel much remorse. I t  was 
a g a i n - -  

Senator SI'ECTEIL Any remorse ? 
My. MENI)OZA. At that time, no. 
Senator SVECU'r:R. Now ? 
h'[r. ME~I~OZA. Oil, now, yes, of course. Ill fact while I was in the 

county jail, I had a lot of time to reflect on my life, where I was headed, 
what I had done. And I was greatly influenced by the Christian people 
who were allowed to come in and witness. And I embraced Christiamty 
at that point and decided that I was going to disassociate myself from 
that organization. 

Senator SPEc'IrEIL ~Vhell did you embrace Christianity ? 
Mr. ME~mOZA. Oh, that  was in 197(; while I was at the Kern County 

Jail. The main motivation behind all this was the murders that  I had 
been involved in. I was pretty upset when T really got to thinking about 
how easily it could be mr,. I got to thinking about; the victims' families 
and how much they must have suffered for losing their loved ones. 

Senator SvEc'n,:n. How much time did you serve for that  double 
murder ? 

Mr. MEXr)OZA. A total of 6 years. 
Senator SrEC'rV.R. From 1975 through 1981 ? 1976 to 198~2 ? 
~{1". ]~'[ENDOZA. NO. Well, I have to relate something that happened. 
Senator SPECTER. Fine. 
Mr. ME~mOZA. I was arrested October 1975. I was released in l~Iarch 

1977, on a technicality. The charges were dismissed on a speedy trial 
issue. 

~qlen I was rele~tsed in March 1977. I became an undercover oper- 
ative. I approached the prison zang DEA task force and offered my 
services to assist them against the Mexican Mafia as an undercover 
operative. 

Senator SVF.CVE.m You offered that to Federal agents in DEA? 
Mr. M~x~oz,x. Right. Who were members of the prison gang task 

force. 
And in that capacity I assisted in locating various murder fugitives, 

suspects in other crimes, bank robbery, ct cetera. 
To cut that  short, in December of that  year the appellate court 

ruled that the earlier dismissal was illegal. And so I was returned 
and paid mv price for the murders I committed back in 1975. 

Senator ST ECaa.m. What  did you think about being released on that  
speedy trial technicality ? 

l~r. Mvx-t~ozA. Well, without sounding too corny, T looked at it as 
the Lord intervening and allo~ving this to happen. 

Bu6 I mean those were m 3 feelinzs at the time and I was elated, 
you know. of com'se, and I felt that I had been given a reprieve by 
a much higher authority. 

Senator SeECTEm. But  then an even higher authority reversed that. 
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Mr. l~Le~rDOZA. No. What  happened is that I went out and even 
though I was working undercover I was still selling drugs. I was 
u s m g ~  

Senator SrEcVO~. Did the D E A  know you were still selling drugs? .  
Mr. M_E~rDOZO. NO, no, they didn't. In fact, they told me that 

t h e y ~  
Senator SPECTOm That was only a part-time activity 
~1'. h'[_E~DOZA. Well, I told them tJlat tile omy way that I could be- 

come involved with the Mexican Mafia and effectively serve as an 
undercover person would be to involve myself in some capacity in 
some type of criminal activities. 

Senator SPECTER. So the D E A  knew that you were doing that~ 
Mr. ~£E~rDOZA. NO. They made it clear to me that they could not 

give me a license to commit a crime. But  my feeling was that they 
were willing to turn the other way as long as I gave them the more 
serious stuff. 

Senator St'ECT~. So are you saying you were selling drugs in order 
to establish your credibility to perform this undercover work or you 
were selling drugs because you wanted to do that for your own 
reasons ? 

Mr. ME~ooza. For  both~ to maintain my credibility and my status 
among the group and to profit. 

So in that  sense I had regressed to the old form. And subsequently 
the higher authority that you speak of reversed the case and I was 
taken back. 

Senator SPECTER. That 's the appellate court 
l~Ir. l~rDOza.  Right. 
Senator SPEcrrm. And you went back to serve the balance of this 6- 

year sentence 
Mr. l~rrn0ZA. Correct. 
Senator SPECrEm And that ran through until sometime in 1982 
h'Ir. I~£ENDOZA. October 198~. 
Senator SrEc'r~a. And you were at large from October 1982 until 

January  11 
]~Ir. ]~DOZA. Right. 
Senator SPECTEm And January  11 you were arrested on this charge 
Mr. l~r¢OOzA. Possession of a handgun, for being an ex-con in pos- 

sessmn of a handgun. 
Senator SPECTrm. And you intend to plead guilty you have already 

said. 
Mr. I~E~D0ZA. Yes. I did possess a handgun. 
Senator SPEcan~m What  suggestions would you have for law enforce- 

ment on how to deal with f, anc,s in prison, Mr. Mendoza ? 
i~Ir. I~'LE,WD0ZA. In prlson~ 
Senator SPEclzm Start  with in prison and then we'll talk about 

gangs out of  prison. 
Mr. ME,nD0ZA. Well, I would say that, first of all, the death penalty 

should not only be there and saying that it's OK, we can use it, but it 
should be implemented. 

I think that  that .would deter--the old saying, " I f  you save one life, 
you ve clone something," but I think it would deter more than that. 



35 

Senator SPECTER. Why do you think the death penalty would be an 
effective deterrent ? 

Mr. ME~DOZA. Well I think that a lot of people when they are out 
there premeditating their murdel~, especially within the Mexican 

" ]~Iafia, I think that  a lot of tlmm would be hcsltaut to carry it out. 
Senator SPECTER. Would it have made a difference to you if you had 

thought that  the death penalty was a realistic possibility for punish- 
ment for the murdem that you described, if you had known the death 
penalty were available ? 

Mr. ME,'CD0ZA. It 's  hard to answer. But knowing my brainwashed 
state at that  time, :I: would probably have to say that it wouldn't  have 
made a difference. 

Senator SPECTER. So why do you think the death penalty would be 
a deterrent then ? 

Mr. MENr)0zA. Because I know some of the members that  are in 
those groups, and I don't think they wcrc as fanatically--their  loy- 
alty to tha t  group is as fanatic as mine was. 

Senator S~'ECWER. Did you ever have discussions with those men about 
the death penalty which gives you some basis for saying that the death 
penalty would be a deterrent? 

~'[r. ~laNrJoz,~. We had discussions. But, again, I 'm just going on. my 
own feeling of knowing these guys and knowing them a lot more mu- 
mately than other people because they have to maintain fronts. 

But, me knowing them the way that  I do, I would say that i t  would 
have a deterrent effect. 

Senator SPECWF_J¢. Well, why do you say that? Did somebody tell you 
that ? 

Mr. ME,'CDOZA. No. 
Senator SPECTER. Because you're saying that as far as you yourself 

aro concerned it wouldn't have made a difference the way you were out 
of touch with reality, or brainwashed. 

Mr. MENDOZA. Well, I can say that there are some fanatics within 
that  group t h a t - -  

Senator SPECTEm I t  wouldn't make any difference? 
~'Ir. ME~CDOZA [continuing]. I t  wouldn't make any difference. 
Senator SrEc'rFm. But some it would. Now why do you say it would as 

to some ? 
Mr. M~zcr~ozA. Again, I 'm just going on my instincts. 
Senator SPECTEm Just ),",our own feelings ? 
Mr. MEXD0ZA. Right. On knowing them and "knowing how they react 

under certain pressures. 
Senator SPECTER. Beyond the issue of the death penalty, what sugges- 

tions would you have for dealing with gangs in prisons ? 
Mr. MF,~,)OZA. ~Ve]I, the only thing I can think of is when they 

• return to prison on violent offenses that they should, you l¢now, make 
them spend more time in prison. 

Senator SI'ECWEm Do you agree with the principle that where you 
• -have a habitual offender that they ought to have life sentences ? 

Mr. MF.ND0Z,~. Well, I 'm not very familiar with that law. so I can't 
really respond to that. 
• Sc'imtor SH'C'rEa. Well, a habitual ofl'ender is someone who has been 
convicted of three or four major felonies. 
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Mr. i~Nnoza.  Oh, yeah. 
Senator SPECTF~. Robberies or burglaries. 
t~r. :~'[E~q~ZA. Sure. I agree with that. 
Senator SPECTFm. Once 3 ou are a habitual offender you ought to be in 

jail for life ? 
Mr. h'~EnDOZ,~. I don't know about life, but for a great amount of time. 
Senator SPECTER. HOW lon~ would you say ? Fifteen years ? 
~fl. ~IENDOZA. I would say it should vary on tile individual. I think 

that every case is an individual case. I don't really know that you--  
that i t ' ~ - -  

Senator St'ECTER. Isn't  there some stage where an individual is really 
a confirmed career criminal, a habitual criminal, at some point in their 
career, where you know that they are dedicated to a life of crime ? 

~Ir. ~fENDOZA. Well, again, I can bet you that there are a lot of 
people w'ho would have said Ihat I was the type of person that would 
never be rehabilitated or would never turn from the life style in that 
su,icidal course that I was taking. And look what happened. 

Senator SI"Em'Em Well, what has happened ? 
~[1'. ~[ENDOZA. "~Vel], I turned from the homicides. I turned from the 

pattern of living that I was involved in before. 
Senator SPECVER. But you still sell drugs, or sold drugs~ 
~'[r. M_E,X'DOZa. NO, sir. 
Senator SPECTER. YOU said that you sold drugs in 1977 a f a r  you 

embraced Christianity. 
Mr. MExnOZa. Oh, yeah, right. I d, id that, yes. 
Senator SPr:CTER. And you are in possession of a gun in January  of 

this year? 
hit. ME.x-r~oza. Well you're not aware of the circumstances. 
Senator SPECTER. Would you care to say ? 
Mr. MExnoza. I can only say that the gun that I possessed was for 

my own protection and I did not intend to hul¢ anyone. 
Senator SPECTER. Mr. Mendoza, what suggestions would you have 

for hLw enforcement dealing with the street gangs like numerous street 
gangs that arc present in Los Angeles? 

Mr. MENDOZ,X. Well, I would say that they should pursue, or better 
put, they should continue to diligently pursue the more hardeore street 
gang membei.% the hea~3,weights. 

Senator SPECTER. How ? 
~fr. MEXDOZa. Efl'eetive prosecution. They have a unit now that 

really prosecutes the more hardcore guys. 
Senator ~PECTF.r. Do you lhink Unit Hardcore is effective? 
~'[r. MEXDOZ:~. From talking to the guys in the neigh.borhood. I feel 

that they are and that t'hey get the leaders off the streets fox" extended 
periods of time. 

And if for no other reason than to protect society, I think that it's - 
very, very effective. 

Senato'~" SVECTEm DO you think that the juvenile courts are tough 
enough on these j uven fie gang mere'bets ? 

Mr. ME~oOZa. No. No. 
Senator SPECTER. What  should happen to a juvenile gang member 

who en~ages in t h e s e - -  
~'[r. ME~'DOZa. I think Vhere should be a way to determine, with" 

youngstel.'s that are below the adult age, to determine which of these 
kids are demented hardcore or headed in that career criminal road. 
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And they should--I  don't "know if--well,  obviously more time for 
them. 

Senator SrEcWral. More time in jail? 
~[l'. ~IENDOZA. ~lol'e time in jail. 

4 

But I think it goes beyond that. I t 's  a lot deeper than just time. I 
don't think that time is always the solution. 

Senator SPECTrum What  else should bc done ? 
Mr. MV.~DOZA. Well, speaking with regard to tim Mexican-American 

communities, I know there is a language barrier that exists and there 
is a lot of discrimination. I think that the p e o p l c ~  

Age!n, coming fi'om a causation pohlt of view, the schools could be 
improved, more bilingual teachers, more qualified bilingual teachers. 

Senator SI'EGTER. Mr. Mendoza, you speak very well, conduct your- 
self well. 

Are you typical, would you say, of somebody who has come up the 
route that you have described 

Mr. ~'IE~CDOZA. Typical ha what sense 
Senator SI'EGTER. Well, you answer questions. And your sentence 

structure and your vocabulary and your granmmr suggest someone 
who is well educated. 

Mr. ME~'D~JZA. OK. I might talk a little betler than some of the street 
gang guys. But :[ went through the same nmdness that they went 
through, experienced the same peer pressure, and committed more 
crazier acts than the average guy. 

Senator SeECTEm What  could have been done to pull you out of that 
crime cycle at an early age, say, when you described yourself as a 
truant and not subject to parental control ? 

Mr. ~'[ENDOZA. "[ don't know. That is very hard to answer. 
Maybe i f  I could have latched onto someone that I reall~ looked up 

to, maybe-- I  don't know, maybe a priest or maybe an uncm or some~ 
body. 

Senator SPV.CTEm What  was your family background like, if you care 
to answer 

~I1'. ~'[ENI)OZA. Well, I had a stepfather who I really didn't get along 
with. My mother was my No. 1. 

Senator SI'ECTEm You got along well with your mother ? 
Mr. :M'ENnOZA. Oh, veah, very well. 
Senator SI'ECT~:g. ]) id 3 ou listen to her ? 
Mr. ~IE~rDOZ,X. I tried. I was an altar boy when I was 11. I did pretty 

good in school. 
But, you know, the problems I had with my stepfather kind of 

helped push me the other way. That 's when I started running away 
from home and all that  stuff. 

Senator SrECTEm Would you have any suggestions as to what could 
be done in a case like yours to try to ptill you out of this crime cycle ? 

" Mr. Ml"~l)oz,x. Well, I would s~ D, more counseling, more concerned 
people to involve themselves with the youngsters, more sincere reli- 

- gious people to involve tlmmselves with their spiritual life, which I 
think is very important. 

Senator SI?I,:CTER. NOW, except for the intervention of religion in 
. your life. were you pretty well a goner by the time you had spent 5 

years in i~til up to the time you were 197 
Mr. ME.~DOZA. YOU mean until I picked up the first murder ? 
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Senator SPECTER. Well, you described your life ill tile juvenile de- 
tention facilities and you said that you lear,rod how to be a criminal 
there. Were you savable at that point aside f,'om the issue of finding 
Christianity ? 

Mr. M~NDOZA. At  that point I hadn't  been introduced to the Chris- " 
tian point of  view. 

Senator Sl-~zG'r~a~. Well, aside from being introduced to Christianity, 
which you described occurred to you in 1977, which has given you a 
new perspective on your own life as you described it, aside from that, 
at what point were you lost  ! 

Were you lost when )ou  ~ent  to jail for 4 years between 15 to 19, or 
were you lost after  you had the manslaughter conviction when you hit 
the kxd with the machete ? 

Mr. ME~rDOZA. Right  there. I think it was right after that machete 
incident, r ight  after  that corn ictiou something dramatic had to hap- 
pen in my life in order for me to change that course because I was 
headed toward inevitable death or life in prison. 

Senator SX, F~Za'Em And to the extent that you can be saved, you would 
attribute that  to your insights into religion 

Mr. M E ~ z A .  That 's  the only thing it could be. 
Senator SPECTER. DO you think that's a possibility with a significant 

number of people in circumstances like you found yourself? 
Mr. ME~DOzA. I think so. I think so. I think if people really stop 

and think about it, I think that has a lot to do with it. 
Senator SPECIE,. Sir. Mendoza, we very much apprecia teyour  vol- 

unteering to come forward. Is there anything you 'd l ike  to add at this 
point? 

Mr. MENDOZA. No, sir. 
Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much and good luck to you. 
I;d like to call at this time Mr. Thomas Chung, executive director 

of Community Youth Gang Services of Los Angeles, and Mr. Mike 
Duran, director of the Los Angeles Probation Department. 

Mr. Duran, thank you very much for joining us. Mr. Chung, thank 
you very much for joining us. 

The focus of our hearing, as ~'ou know, is to t ry to gain some in- 
sights into how to handle juvenile gangs. 

I would be interested at the start in any reactions you ha~ e to the 
last story of  Mr. Mendoza. 

There is a very dramatic example of the crime cycle which I have 
described on many occasions before coming here, youngsters are tru- 
ants at 7 or 8, vandals at 9 or 10, petty larceny at 11 or 1"2, burglary of 
vacant houses at 13, robbery at 15, and a rmedmurder  at i7. 

Where do we go 
Mr. Chung, would you care to start 

STATEMENT 0:F TOMMY CHUNG, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, COMMU- 
NITY YOUTH GANG SERVICES OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY 

Mr. CHv~o. Sure. 
Thank you, Senator, for giving me the opportunity to be here. 
Unfortunately,  I think that the story we just heard, the testimony 

we just heard, probably runs a lot more true than many of us would " 
like to admit. 
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But  at the same time I think we have to look at not only the indi- 
vidual's behavior, but  the behavior of the community at large, and to 
look at the issues that  have created the kind of environment that  he was 
relating to~ the lack of certain types of support systems, the lack of his 
parents being able to keep him under control or give him the kind of 
guidance that he was looking for. 

I think these are some issues that  are very significant and that we 
all have to face whether we be in Los Angeles or anywhere else in this 
country today. 

The dangers that  develop from stereotyping an individual who has 
had some problems in the past, he or she, can leave a community facing 
more difficulties in tryin,~ to address those root-caused problems. You, 
the community, set up a~ditional barriers for the individuals to be able 
to overcome something, to begin_ to have positive feelings about them- 
selves, and feel like they can be constructive, productive persons in 
this society. 

Senator Sev.CTr~. Mr. Chung, if you could turn the clock back 19 
years on My Mcndoza, go back to the time that he was 14 and you had 
that young man before, what would you do ? 

Answer in two parts:  
What  would you do, given the current resources ? 
And what  would you do if you had your druthers, resources of a 

more expansive nature than those now available to you ? 
l~r. ~HUN0. I think that, one, you have to not only work with the 

individual, but  the individual needs to be worked with. 
As he mentioned, he was looking for a role model. He  didn't  have 

that. But  its important to help that person find a role model, somebody 
who could identify with him-and maybe who had some similar experi- 
ences and had found a way to work within the society, work the sys- 
tem, and become somewhat successful ; successful in the sense that that 
person feels like they are a constructive person, that they are produc- 
tive, that  they are not going to ignore the system, but to t ry  to work 
within it. 

And whether it's going to be counted in dollars or whether it's going 
to be counted in a meanmgful friendship, those are some issues that 
have to be looked at. 

And then you have to look at the parental structure and the family 
structure around that. Take the family structure and t ry  to build sup- 
port  systems within that, particularly communication points. 

Senator SPEOrEa. How do you do that ? 
Mr. C~:ru~x'a. Well, it's different strokes fox' different folks and differ- 

ent strokes for different cultures. 
Many times the problem in malting an address or reaching a par -  

ticular group, whether it be for gang violence, whether it be a pox erty 
issue, whether it be drug abuse, or what have you, too many times 
people t ry  to find one answer. The~ look for one common denominator 
that  is ~oing to be the answer aria if  we used to address a particular 
issue, will solve all the problems. 

I t  doesn't work that way. In fact, it creates failures because you put  
up criteria that other people have to meet and it's not relative to their 
particular issue. 

So you have to go in and deal with it almost on an individual basis, 
but with the experience gained in successfully addressing similar 
kinds of issues that have come up. 
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Senator SPECTER. Is it realistic to do in the sense of difficulty of 
generalizing as you have just pointed out, so that you had a 15-year- 
old boy, Ramon Mendoza, and without having an extensive psychlatrie 
or psychological dossier, knowing a tremendous amount about h im,-  
is it realistic to ever postulate sufficient resources to be able to deal 
with that kind of an individualized mind ? 

Mr. CnuNo. There was a time that I felt that only the.people in the 
street could deal with th6 people in the street, which was about 15 
years ago. 

But  I have since learned that there is a lot of knowledge that psy- 
chiatrists and other professionals can give, but it's something that I 
think you have to merge, a street survival, a certain kind of sensitivity 
that comes from the heart, together with intellect. 

Senator SPECTER. Mr. Chung. at this point, let me get just a little 
bit of your own background: educational background, professional 
experience, current work activity. 

Mr. CHuz~o. I 'm currently the executive director of the community 
youth gang services pro.iect. 

Experience, I guess that brought me to this most recent position or 
I would still be in the field of substance abuse. 

Senator SPECr~. Substance abuse ? 
Mr. CHUNO. Substance abuse. 
Senator SI~ECTER. Drugs ? 
Mr. CT.tu~G. Drugs and alcohol: mental health. 
Senator SI'ECVEm What  is your educational back~ound  ? 
Mr. CHu~o. Well, I did get an AA. But that was after I was already 

into the field. I got that through the National Institute of Drug Abuse 
in a program in ~.Vashin~on, D.C. 

Senator SPF~CTEm And the AA is 
Mr. Cr~u~o. In mental health. 
My experience includes four consecutive terms as cochairman of the 

National Drug Abuse Conference, which helped me coordinate over 220 
national task forces throughout the country, and establish a training 
site for the State Department to train Pacific Rim countries in the field 
of drug abuse programing and treatment. I also established and aided 
in the criteria development for the medical institutions throughout the 
country that  are now part  of that criteria for their lieensorship. In ad- 
dition, I worked for a mlmber of years with the Domestic Council at the 
White House to deal with legislation that is applicable to the local 
levels. 

Senator SPECTER. ~ r .  Duran, would you give us your educational 
background and your work history prior to becoming director of the 
Los Angeles Probation Department specialized gang supervision 
program ? 

STATEMENT OY MIKE DURAN, DIRECTOR, GANG SUPERVISION PRO- 
GRAM, LOS ANGELES COUNTY PROBATION DEPARTMENT 

Mr. DuruN. I have a masters in public administration. I have a 
bachelor in social work with a minor in journalism. And an AA in 
journalism and social work. 

Senator SPECrEn. How old are you, Mr. Duran ? 



41 

~lr. D u ~ x .  Fifty-five. 
Senator SPECTER. And where did you get your bachelor's degree ? 
Mr. D~A~¢. Cal State L.A. 

,, Senator SPEGTER. And your master's degree ? 
Mr. D~ymxx. Cal State I',.A. 
Senator SPECTER. And how long have you been working for the Los 

Angeles Probation Department ? 
Mr. DUrtA,N'. First  time around :from 1955 to 1965, which would have 

been 10 years. And then I transferred out of the probation department. 
I worked in other departments within the count},. And then I've been 
back with the probation department for the last 21/2 yeaL~s. 

Senator SPECTEn. Mr. Chung, I didn' t  ask you how old you are. I f  I 
may, please ? 

~'h'. Cllu.,,'¢~. I 'm 40 years old. 
Senator SPECTER. ~'[r. Duran, you heard the testimony of  Ramon 

Mendoza. 
Mr. D v m ~ .  Yes. 
Senator SPECTER. What  would you have done if you had had that 

young man before you when he was 14 years of age and some in- 
sights into the next 19 },ears of his life ? 

~¢r. Dum~,,,'. He mentioned the two gangs, the one he belonged to 
and the rival gang. I t  just so happens when I was working with the 
probation department the first time out, which is around 1960, I 
worked both those areas that he i~ talking about. 

And he's the prototype of t~ lot of youngsters that came out of that  
neighborhood. 

~enator SPECTER. Typical. 
Mr. DUI~A]V. Typical. 
But, no, I shouldn:t say that. I would say that he is not typical. 

I would say more that if I horsed around with, say, 50 or 60 members 
of Barrio Nuevo that  4 or 5 or 6 were that type of youngster. 

The rest of them I t h o u g h t - -  
Senator SrEcTEn. Weren't as bad ? 
~,{r. Dum~N [continuing]. Weren't as bad, weren't as easy to lead 

or become the type of followers that Mr. Mendoza became later on. 
Senator SPEC'n~R. "Well, Mr. Mendoza had a lot of initiative. 
Would you say he was a follower? He was pretty much an up-front 

guy, wasn't he ? 
Mr. DumtN. From his statement, he was made by the California 

Youth Authority. 
The last part of his statement here was that you ought to aive them 

more time and harder time. Well, he got that. He ~ot the T)enefit of 
more time and harder time at a very young age. And as a consequence 
of that i t  seems to have hurt him instead of helping him. 

. Senator SPECTER. Why should you put somebody in custody with 
the youth authority if tf~ere sole situation is being ~ncorrigible, being 
a truant, and not following parental orders ? 

There is no crime involvedin any of that. 
Mr. Du~a,~,,,,. I don:t know what the circumstances were. There might 

have been something added to that because now our cases in the county 
are 602's. That's what sends you off to the youth authority. 

Senator SPECTER. What 's a 602 
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Mr. DuaA~. Those where you commit some kind of a felony as 
juveniles. 

Senator SPECTm~. So you would be surprised, at least by current 
standards, if  somebody went to ~lle youth authority with just what Mr. 
Mendoza described his situation to be, specifically truancy and. 

Mr. D u m ~ .  Very much so, yes. There are other places you can send 
them to. 

Senator SPECT~ [continuing]. Not followin~ oarental orders 
Mr. D m ~ .  Right. There ate other places a]Fong the line. " 
With what he mentioned, he might begin with suitable placement, 

you know, in foster homes or other types of placements. And then 
from there he might graduate up to the forestry camps that Super- 
visor Edelman talked about. 

Senator SPECTER. SO one thing you would do would be not to send 
somebody like Mendoza to the California Youth Authority 

Mr. D m ~ x .  Not without some kind of psychiatric examination. 
Senator S~cTm~. What  is the availability of psychiatric examina- 

tion 
Mr. D~m~x. I think that it's available if  somebody has a lawyer to 

recommend it. 
Senator SPECTm~. Well, everybody has a lawyer these days, don't 

they 
Mr. D ~ x .  Just  about. But if that  lawyer does not ask for men- 

t a l ~  
Senator SPEC'TER. Regardless of who pays for it, everybody has a 

lawyer. 
I saw a headline in yesterday's Los Angeles Times, about $23 million 

last year and the price going up. 
Gideon v. Wain~.ight has made that guarantee come true. 
But what kind of psychiatric evaluation is available? 
How much can there be for those charged or accused of crime or 

convicted within the resources available ? 
Mr. D ~ ¢ .  During the placement of a juvenile in juvenile hall, he 

has the option by way of a county mental health specialist to have 
that. 

Senator SPECTER. HOW much can he see the mental health expert? 
Mr. Dumx~¢. That  I wouldn't know. I t  would have to be up to pos- 

sibly the probation officer that is investigating. I f  he has already 
gone through court, the court officer or the judge might state that be- 
sides recommending a particular type of sentence that he also get some 
kind of psychiatric examination. 

Senator SPECTER. But people who go through analysis for 5 years, 
5 days a week, frequently find no answers to their problems. 

Tlmse kinds of resources are certainly not available to very many 
people. 

What  do you think of the Operation Hardcore, Mr. Chung? How 
well do you think that is functioning? 

Mr. ClluNo. I think the concept of Operation Hardcore is essential 
in today's situation. 

We have far  too much violence out there. And the ones that are 
doing the shooting--the main shooters--they need to be taken to task. 
And they need somebody who can concentrate and hone in on them 
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and who won't be intimidated by elements outside of the judicial 
system. 

So, therefore, I tlfink that Hardcore is good. 
I th ink that nmch of the efforts by the special task forces in law 

enforcemeut efforts are good. 
I don't  think law enforcement in itself is the answer. 
I also don't think that  it is easy to coordhlate interagency efforts 

as well as additional kinds of effo,~s. 
And the new innovative approaches, such as CYGS, are something 

that I feel have proven their worth, not ouly in Philadelphia, but be- 
cause of the changes that ~ ere made here in Los Angeles to meet the 
geographic areas, the multicultural approaches and the vast number 
of gangs in this particu!a," city and county, here as well. 

Senator SI~EC'rER. Ho~.', many different cultures are involved in the 
gang problem here, Mr. Chung? 

l~r. CHu:~o. Well, we have t2mse Hispanics, blacks, Asians, and 
whites that  were born here in the United States. We have those that  
were fo,'eign born that co,ae in. Then we have those that have dill'er- 
ent economic status and we have those that  speak English and those 
that do,l't speak F, nglish--all of different makeups o~ the particular 
gangs. 

So there are some differences in those ways and there are ditt'erences 
in the sense that some are long entrenched here in the area and there 
are new ones that have just developed. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, you have just ticked off nine different fac- 
tors, all of which have a lot of subspccialities. 

Mr. C~,uxo. Very much. 
Senator SPECTEa. What  can the Federal Government do to be of as- 

sistance in a justice assistance program, recognizing that what we were 
finally able to persuade the administration to put up is $90 million'~ 

Mr. CHUNG. I think that it"s important to support, but not be limited 
to, those existing law enforcement agencies that have specialized con- 
cepts, and to make special provisions for programs such as the com- 
,nunity youth gang services project. 

The rationale behind that particular issue is the coordination and 
the buffer role that  Community Youth Gang Services plays. CYGS 
allows another funnel of information and communication to take place 
on the community level. 

There is too much of the either/or kind of concept when a lot of peo- 
ple want to be law-abiding citizens and want to do so,nethiug but they 
are afraid  and, because o~ their own loct~l peer pressures, they don't 
go out and talk to law enforce,nent as readily as we would ideally like 
to see take place. 

We can't just say because that's the right thing to do, that  people 
will do that. There has to be progress for that to happen. 

And there are some drawbacks or problems tlmt you would encoun- 
ter in developing that. And it's not so much~ I don~t think, on the part  
of agencies as a whole but individuals who nmy be in that  agency 
whose egos may get in the way and feel like t h e y ~  

Senator Sr~:~C'rEa. Their what? 
M,'. CHUNC,. Their egos may get in the way or they may feel that 

their power is being usurped in some kind of manner. 
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Therefore, it is importang to not only identify funds that would go 
to these alternative programs, but some sort of criteria for the agen- 
cies must be established to require interface with the particular pro- 
grams that would be there. 

This can be done by le~slative language or contract language in the 
boilerplates. 

In addition, I think that an established target period ought to be 
identified by the Federal Government so that we have a massive move- 
ment and not just a sporadic flmding of individual programs. 

The problem with that is we find that there are many small pro- 
grams all around. Small programs could be anywhere from, you know, 
$1 million or less operationally. And they don't communicate; 
one doesn't know what the other is doing. So we duplicate time and 
effort to achieve the same goal when we can tie in our particular 
efforts and make a massive movement because you need to change not 
only the youth's behavior and ~ v e  them some hope to do it, you have 
to change the adult's behavior in a community to believe that some- 
thing can be done, so they don't continue to say, "That 's  the way it's 
been, tha t ' s the  way it always is, and that's the way it's going to be." 

~enator SPECTEn. Mr. Chung, during the break my attention was di- 
rected to some of the problems that ha~ e existed witl~in the community 
youth gang services and the question was raised as to whether some of 
the counselors have been themselves arrested while in the employ of 
the gang services agency. 

Mr. Cirvxo. There is no doubt about that, sir. 
Senator SPECn'ER. What  has the experience been and how would you 

evaluate that  
Mr. CrrrrNo. Firs t  of all, when any program gets established, let 

alone one as controversial as this one has been, the minute you give a 
dollar you expect 100 percent for your dollar in meeting those par- 
ticular goals. 
• I think the community youth gang services has achieved something 
m a short period of time that no other agency has a track record of. 

The problem that a lot of people had with our service was that they 
didn't understand what we were doing in the beginning. 

And we could not get people straight from the academ4c field or law 
enforcement background to become staff people to go in and talk di- 
rectly with the youth and have the kind of mutual respect that we 
needed to have with the youth. 

The problem was where the gang activity was taking place. And 
we chose not to go through the normal information developing net- 
works that community le~slators have. 

Senator SI'ECTER. So where did you get the people ? 
Mr. Crlwco. So we went to try and get as many street people from 

the local area or street-wise people. 
Senator SPECTEm HOW much did you pay them ? 
Mr. CITv.-,-o. A thousand dollars a month. OK. Which is I don't 

think a n y t h i n g - -  
Senator SPECTER. SO not surprisingly you had sonic problems ? 
Mr. C~tc~'o. For  real. You couldn't ge t - - for  some people this was 

the best paying job they ever had and for some of them it was their 
first paying job. ]3ut the~, went out there to do 
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Senator SPECTER. ~Vhat percentage would you say of those whom 
you employed proved to be unworkable because the.)' were still in- 

olved in ci:iminal activities themselves ? 
• Mr. CHu.-,-o. The criminal activity element I think was probably 

around 2 percent, 21/~ percent, when')ou talk about criminal activity. 
Senator SPECTER. That 's  a pretty flood lzcord. 
~'[r. Ct~u.','c.. I think so. and I think that the public misinterpreted 

the facts when people ~(ere fired--evervtimc somebody got fired it 
was supposedly because of criminal activitv. 

Senator SVECTEm What  do yon mean by criminal activity? 
~Ir. CIIc,','o. Possession, drug abuse. Well, Z terminated a few people 

for drunk driving on the job in a company vehicle. 
I didn' t  feel tlmt somebody who is out tl'iere trying to save lives and 

being a model in changing the direction of people should be out there 
doing those kinds of negative things on the job. 

Senator SN.:CTFm But  overall you think the system is working rea- 
sonably well ? 

5'[r.'C~Iu,,,'G. I have no other choice but to believe that. Since 
1 9 7 7 - I  

Senator SeECTI.m. YOU think it's better when you find that you went 
out and hired people who didn't have any of these experiences ? 

M'r. CHc,~o. There's no doubt about it because the acceptance and 
your impact in the community comes faster. And I think that the 
results of  the 1982 statistics show that for the first time in 5 years we 
see a turnaromld. So. you l~mw, Z strongly feel that w e - - -  

Senator SI'ECTEm The 1981 statistics show that, too. 
Mr. CHu,','o. Not like this. Not 38 and 17 percent. 
Senator SPECTER. Well, 351 in 1980 and 29., o in 1981. And I 've had two 

figures. 205 and 209 in 1982 
Mr. CHuxo. In the middle of--in 1981 is where the major coordina- 

tion between all the agencies began to take place. So you started to see a 
difference there. 

Senator SrEC'~R. Mr. Chnng, how many people have you employed 
in the community youth gang services of I~os Angeles ro~lghly ? 

Mr. Citu,xc,. We have approximately 1,0 people to co~ er 4..'000 miles. 
Senator SPECTER. Over the life of your agency's existence, how many 

people have yon employed ? 
M:r. CmJxe,. Proba,bly somewhere in the neighborhood of 9,00. 
Senator SeECTEn. And how many of those have been convicted of any- 

thing while they were employed with you ? 
~'[r. CH c:,'(~. Three, I think. 
Senator SPECTER. And how many charged with anything ? 
Mr. CI.Icxo. Five. 
Senator SeECTER. Mr. Dnran, what do you think the Federal Govern- 

" meat should be doing in providing seed money through justice assist- 
ance on this program, on the problem, the problem of juvenile g[mgs? 

Mr. Dr, ma,-,'. Well, I 'd  have to address myself by way of a program 
that I am currently directing. 

Senator SeECTEm Fine. Please do. 
l~{r. Dcmx~'. ~'[ainly I need to toot the probation department's horn 

because nobody else seems to be doing it. All right ? 
And also I~d like to stt,y with something that I am familiar with, 

and that 's the specialized gang supervision program. 
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This program has a direct tie-in with the community youth gang 
services project, with Operation Safe Street with the sheriff's Depart- 
ment~ with C R A S H ,  with Hardcore. I t  also has a good record in terms 
of credibility with the courts. 

I have under my supervision 40 deputy probation officers who are 
carrying a caseload of a maximum of 50, all of them gang members. 

Senator SPECTER. All of them have experience as gang members '~ 
M~r. DO~AS. No, no. 
All tile people on probation are gang members. 
Senator Sl,~xama. Do any of the people in your department have 

backgrounds as,'be, ing gang members themselves 
Mr. DORAN. 1herb are many DPO's ,  but of the 40 that I 've got that 

are working for me maybe 2 or 3 that I k,mw of. 
Senator SpF.CrF_.a. Do they have convictions 
Mr. DORAN. NO~ none of them have got convictions. 
Senator SrSCTZR. Could somebody qualify for your department if  

they had been convicted 
Mr. DvatA~¢. I don't know. I don't really know as probation officers 

whether or not they can be hi,'ed if they have been convicted. 
Senator SP~caT~ Do you think it would be appropriate to hire some- 

body who had a conviction to be in the Probat,on Department 
Air. Dum~N. Well, I used to think for a long period of time that no, 

that it was very necessary for the person who was going to lead the 
parade be somewhat clean lfimself. 

Senator SPEm'F~. And now 
Mr. DURAl. And now there are times when I have felt that there are 

some people out there that mad~ a mistake early on in their life and 
then they did something about it, they cleaned themselves up, they got 
married, they bought homes, they went to college~ they know a heck 
of a lot about what it is, you know, to hurt, and as a consequence can 
help people. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, although my role here is to ask questions, 1 
would venture this comment, having,been in law enforcement for a long 
while, that there is merit in hiringpeople who have experience. I know 
that neither of you gentlemen u ould hire anybody promiscuously. 
But simply having been involved I think is not a conclusive indicator 
that they are disqualified. There has to be perhaps greater care in the 
employment. But they have a lot of insights. 

And in the work I have done as a district attorney, I have seen many 
people who have experiences with gangs and who had records perform 
very useful services and have special insights into these kinds of 
problems. 

So as one voice for whatever value that may have in your future 
evaluations, I would say that it is not a permanent disqualifier. 

Mr. Do~Ax. That's true. 
Senator SPECTER. Going back to the role that  you might see for the 

Federal Government, Mr. Duran, providing some seed money and 
activities like the Probation Department or like dealing with the 
problem of juvenile gangs, would you have any recommendations or 
any suggestions ? 

Mr. DOpAnt. Yes. I would still like to see a program like the one I 'm 
directing continue and expand. We're up to snuff in terms of  the 40 
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probatioa officers, we're carrying a maxhnum, that's 2,000 cases--we 
still have about 10000 cases out of 60,000 caseload of people on pro- 
bation, i still imagine we have about 10,000 that qualify for our gang 
program. 

So I could see an enhancement by way of more probation officers, 
but also by way of more treatment tools with which to get the job 
done. 

The other thing to is that within the Probation Department we need 
prevention type programs. We need after-care type programs as well, 
well thought out, you know, types of programs. 

Programs are going to have to be done somewhere between the Pro- 
bation Department  and the private sector. 

Senator SPECTER. Anything you care to add, Mr. Chung 
Mr. CHuml. Yes. I think that it is very important that all the 

approaches that we have been addressing here be implemented. 
But many of them tend to look mol~ toward after  the fact  type of 

situations. And attention needs to be drawn toward the root causes 
of some of  the problems. 

And one of the major problems, of course, that plagues us all is 
economics. And I strongly urge that the Federal Government create 
some kind of a program to encourage private enterprise as well as 
Federal assistaalce to expand upon perhaps the Small Business 
Administration. This expansion could aid in developing economic 
development programs within the local area to give people opportuni- 
ties for career mobility into the new job market. 

And I think this can be done creatively through limited pal~ner- 
ships ancl what have you: and there are some avenues ~hat can be 
taken with the least amount of expense to the Federal Government and 
maximum participation in the community. 

And I would ceVcainly request your support  in those areas. 
Senator SVECTE~a. Thank you very much, Mr. Chung. 5'Jr. Duran, 

anything you'd care to add ? 
Mr. Du1~A~. No, thank you. 
Senator SVECTER. Thank you ve13., much for coming, gentlemen. I 

appreciate it very much. 
The hearing is now adjourned. 
[The following was subsequently su,bmitted by Mr. Duran:]  
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TIIE 

SPECIALIZED GANG SUPERVISION PROGRAM 

"A MODEL PROG~M WHICH USES CONDITIONS 

OF PROBATION AS TIIE BASIS FOR STRINGENT LAW EN~ORCEME.NT" 

KENNETH E. KIRKPATRICK 
Chief Probation Officer 

Los Angeles County 
Probation Department 

~iguel Duran, Director 

The following composition.relates to the Specialized Gang 

Supervision Program which is part of the Los Angeles County 

Probation Department's efforts to control the incidences of 

youth gang violence and homicides. 

INTRODUCTION 

During October, 1980,-Supervisor Edmund D. Edelman conducted 

hearings into hang violence. 9hese hearings revealed that 

this violence impacts upon the entire County of Los Angeles 

and victimizes innocent, non-gang involved citizens. 

On October 28, 1980, the Board of Supervisors,-in response 

to growing public concern, approved the development and imple- 

mentation of a Probation Department Specialized Gang Supervision 

Pro~, to offer protection to the citizens of this county, 
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to provide a more even adminstration of justice, to rehabili- 

• tate offenders and to reduce gang violence with a primary emphasis 

on preventing gang-related homicides. The Board also approved 

an expansion of the Sheriff's Operation Safe Streets ProKram, 

dcubled the District Attorney's Ooeration }lardcore Prozram and 

established the Oommunity Youth GanK Services Pro~ect. 

The Specialized Gang Supervision lists four program objectives. 

They are as follows: 

Program Objectives 

1. Reduce the rate of homicides committed by gang 

members who are actively under the jurisdiction of 

the Probation Officer. 

2. Significantly reduce the incidence of violent acts 

resulting from gang activities and involving persons 

actively on Probation. 

3. Significantly improve Probation control and surveil- 

lance of RanK-oriented probationers throughout the 

County of Los Angeles. 

4. Ensure compliance with all conditions of Probation 

or the prompt handling of all violations and the return 

of these offenders to Court for appropriate disposition. 

Program Design 

The success of the program to date is based on the program 

design. There are five units. Each unit consists of one 

Supervising Deputy Probation Officer, eight Deputy Probation 

Officers and appropriate clerical and administrative support. 

Each unit supervises a maximum of 400 gang-oriented offends,= 

with an individual officer supervising no more than 50 cases. 

The caseloads consist of both adult and juvenile offenders as 

well as both male and female offenders. Age range is generally 

14 to 25. 
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Deputy Probation Officers are expected to provide extended 

supervision, including evenings and weekends, when indicated 

by caseload activity whether positive or negative in nature. 

Specifically, their duties are as follows: 

Specific Duties of the Deputy Probation Officer~: 

i. Supervising and providing direct Probation services 

to 50 offenders with a history of current youth gang 

involvement. 

2. Expeditiously handling all violations of conditions of 

Probation. 

3. Maintaining close communication with law enforcement 

agencies such as courts, policing agencies, corrections, 

Probation, the District Attorney, and other agencies 

engaged in gang-control activities. 

4. Maintaining close communication with schools as well 

as community based agencies using reciprocal resources 

in order to maintain close supervision over probationers 

and remain knowledgeable of co~nunity occurrences which 

may aid the DPO in carrying out his assigned tasks. 

5. Become well known in the community and spend a significant 

portion of their working time in the field and on the 

street in behalf of the Program. 

Since the 5 units are outstationed in stratigical areas of 

the County, the role of the Supervising Deputy Probation Officer 

is to direct the activities of the eight Deputies, making 

geographical and case assignments and submittin~ monthly data 

reports regarding overall Program developments. The SDPO 

is expected to keep in close contact with elements in the 

community dealing with youth gang violence suppression, such 

as members of Los Angeles County Sheriff's Operation Safe 

Streets, Los Angeles Police Department's Community Resource 

Against Street Hoodlums teams, Hardcore District Attorney, 

and Co.unity Youth Gang Services Project. Further, they involve 
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themselves intimately with staff handling extraordinary cases 

which might attract media and other agency attention. They 

• make sure that in special cases, special incident reports 

are submitted to the Director. 

As Director of the Program I implement, coordinate and execute 

the Program's goals and objectives. I am responsible for the 

functioning of the various components and serve as the formal 

channel between the Probation Department and other aspects of 

law enforcement, the courts, schools, Parks and Recreation, 

community based agencies, elected officials and concerned co~nun- 

ity groups. 

I answer directly to the Executive Assistant to the Chief 

Probation Officer, Kenneth Kirkpatrick. Me is Bill Johnson. 

I also pay close attention to what the DPO, who is the practical 

applicator has to say about Program enhancement. 

Trainin K 

For selected-DPO-Program volunteers there is specialized training 

which is provided by Probation Department's training specialists 

on an ongoing basis. The traini~ consists of refresher courses 

in the Welfare and Institutions Code and Penal Cede as well as 

conversational Spanish, perspectives on street gangs, report 

writing and dynamics of groups and individual counseling and 

and drug abuse. 

Monitorin~ 

A small research and monitoring component is constantly 

compiling statistics to be used in assessing the effectiveness 

of the Program on a quantitative basis. An audit team researches 

the effectiveness of the Program on a qualitative basis. 
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Generic Caseload 

Deputy Probation Officers carry generic caseloads, seventy 

percent juvenile and thirty percent adult. Offenders are 

referred to the Specialized Gang Supervision Program by various 

sources, i.e. Probation, Police, Schools, parents and Courts 

to the Supervising Deputy Probation Officer of the appropriate 

Gang Unit, who screens the case for suitability. 

Fundin~ Source 

The Specialized Gang Supervision Program is funded in part 

by County Probation dollars and augmented by SB 90 money. 

Estimated total is $2.3 million. 

Pro~ramminK 

C o l l a t e r a l  p r e g r a ~ n i n g  w i t h  c a s e l o a d  youth  such as l e a d e r s h i p  

and responsibility workshops as well as involvement with 

con~munity based agencies are becoming part of the units' priorities. 

Since funding is not available, the community at large is asked 

for support. These programs are set up to aid in the rehabili- 

tative process for probationers who indicate a willingness 

to be aided in turning their life around. 

Tid Bits 

There are over 60,000 people on Probation in the County of 

Los Angeles. 

Of that number, we estimate that 15,000 have some type of 

gang affiliation. Of those 15,000, lO,O00 should be on our 

caseload. 

Since we do n~ have the capacity by way of man power rio do 

a quality job we lind t ourselves to 2,000 hardcore cases. 
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Ours is a law and order posture. We havebeen called punitive. 

But the fact is that we are attempting to make the probationer 

live up to the conditions of Probation. The initial contact 

is used to clarify to the probationer what those conditions are, 

what his responsibilities are and the role that the DPO plays 

as a law enforcement officer. 

We use a 777A petition in order to detain for short periods of 

time if we feel a person can benefit from short term incarcera- 

tion. If after repeated violations the probationer cannot 

function in the community he or she is brought before the judge 

with a recommendation for a change of plan. 

Looking over our records for 1982 I found that our five units 

which encompass most of Los Angeles County took out over 700 

people. These are called negative terminations. But we feel 

that they are positive terminations because the people are, at 

least for the time being, no longer in a position to kill or 

be killed in the name of ~hat the gang considers to be a "holy 

war". 

Further it is our contention and it is backed up by Police and 

the District Attorney that if we get tough for the so called 

insignificant violations we just might not have to worry about 

significant violations such as murder, mayhem etc. 

Because the incidence of gang violence in the Asian co,~nunity 

is growing we have assigned one DPO to specialize and handle 

a caseload comprised of Asians. r~st of these probationers are 

foreign-born with criminal roots in their home country. Our 

DPO has teamed up with Police agencies who specialize in Asian 

incidences of crime, 
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Los Angeles County at last count had listed ~00 gangs. These 

gangs are concentrated in 70 of the 8i incorporated cities as 

well as unincorporated county area. 

We are attempting to service these areas in total but I am afraid 

we are falling short. To date I am concentrating our work 

force in smaller geographic areas in order to maximize surveil- 

lance of these gangs. My officers go on ride-alongs with 

Sheriff Operation Safe Streets personnel, L.A.P.D. Crash units 

and other policing agencies with gang squad details. 

Still of the ~00 gangs we are impacting on only about 150. 

In conclusion I would like to ~ate that the Edelman Plan of 

which the Specialized Gang Supervision Program is one component 

is a SUCCess. 

In order for the Specialized Gang Supervision Program to continue 

to be effective ~e must be allowed to continue to deal with the 

basic premise, that of reducing and ultimately stamping out youth 

gang murders. 

The Program at age 2 has earned its wings. It should grow in 

manpower to the point where it can handle i0,000 gang members 

on Probation as well as to turn the coin and work concurrently 

on rehabilitative programs with the help of community based 

agencies. 

Thank you. 



GANG VIOLENCE AND CONTROL 

WEDlq'ESDAY, FEBRUARY 9, 1983 

U.S. SENATE, 
SUBCO~I~YEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE~ 

C0~[~TTEE oN THE JUD~G~AR£~ 
San Fra~wisoo, Calif. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:30 a.m., in room 
13029, 450 Golden Gate Avenue, San Francisco, Calif., Hen. Arlen 
Specter (chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Also present : Kevin S. Mills, counsel. 

0 P E I ~ N G  STATEI~ENT 0P H01~. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SEI~ATOR 
FR0]~ THE STATE 0P PENNSYLVANIA, CHAIRMAN, SU~BCOMMIT - 
TEE ON JUVENILE TUSTICE 

Mr. SPECTER. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. I 'm Arlen Spec- 
ter, chairman of the Subconunittee on Ju~ chile Justice of the U.S. Sen- 
ate Committee on the Judiciary. The purpose of these hearings today 
is to inquil~ into the issue of juvenile gang problems in the Saa Fran- 
cisco area. In the Congress ~ e are looking for the enactment of a Justice 
Assistance Act, which would.be a carry-on of the old Law Enforcement 
Assistance Administration, but on a more reduced and targeted scale. 

Needless to say, the Federal budget is very limited tod~y. But  we 
have secured agreement with the White House late last ~.ear to have a 
Justice Assistance Act with the target figure of $90 million. That  is a 
long way from the old Law Enforcement Assistance Administration 
which in its heyday had a total budget in the range of $750 million and 
more. But  the objective no~ is to find out which programs work best 
under the old LE~kA, which others might work well, and to direct our 
attention to those items. 

The Justice Assistance Act was passed by Congress in the coneludin~ 
days of the 97th Congress, but it was part of a seven-bill package which 
the President vetoed on January  14 of this year, just about a month 
ago, because l~e was dissatisfied with one of the bills involvin~ a drug 
coordinator ~ hich he thought would be an unwieldly level of oureauc- 
racy. So we do have an excellent likelihood of passing the Justice 
Assistance Act this year, and I 've already introduced legislation on the 
subject, since it conies under the jurisdiction of my Subcommittee on 
Juvenile Justice, S. 53. 

Pa r t  of the purpose of these hearings is to get recommendations 
from local oflicm]s as to what the Federal Government can do in a 
directed way, realizing that the funds are limited. We had hearings 
earlier this ~eek in Los Angeles ~here they have had an enormous 
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gang problem, perhaps the worst in the country, with some 351 homi- 
cides in the year 1980. Through a Law Enforcement Assistance Ad- 
ministration grant and a coordinatcd program, they have reduced 
the gang ldllings there very materially. 

This is an overview of where we're beading. And we very much 
appreciate the presence of a member of San Francisco public offl- 
chris. We expect District Attorney -krlo Smith to be with us. We 
appreciate the presence of M,'. Ronald ]:[ayes, chief of the Field Serv- 
ices Division of the California Yot, th Authority, and the presence of 
Mr. William Stapleton: director of the Center for the Assessment of 
the Juvenile Justice System, American Justice Institute. 

I 'd like to call at this time our l:irst witness, Inspector John 
McKenna of the Special Gang Unit  of the San Francisco Police 
Department. Welcome, Inspector McKenna. 

Mr. MOKENN,X. Thank you. 
M:r. Sl,zcrzm I appreciate your being here and look forward to your 

testimony. You,,,, ,na~ proceed. 
Mr. Md(En  xa. uK. 
~'[I °. SPEGTF, R. Al ly  written statement which 3,0,, have, Inspector 

h'iclCcnna, may be made par t  of the record, and you may proceed, as 
you choose, to present that or summarize it as you wish. 

~'[r. MolCE~VNa. Thank you very much, Senator. 

STATEMENT OF INSPECTOR JOHN McKENNA, SPECIAL GANG UNIT, 
SAN FRANSISC0 POLICE DEPARTMENT 

M'r. ]~{G]~.EI~,'NA. What  I 've chosen to do is prepare a written docu- 
ment here tryinf, to f, ivc an overview of the problena as we see it in San 
Francisco. And  I gather I can just go ahe;~d and read this to the 
record. 

Mr. SPECTER. That would be fine. 
~'[r. MCICExqX'A. OK. San Francisco, Calif., is a peninsular-shaped 

city of close to 700,000 occupants. I t  has often been referred to as the 
Golden City, the Pacific Basin, Gateway to the Orient. These state- 
ments epito, aizc tim fact that the gang structure in this area is unique 

• • - -  . , ' r m that tim major gang problems evolve al'otlnd and within our Asian 
community. 

From 1964 to present, the Asian population has grown dramatically 
until at present it is closes to 25 percent. These people fronl China, 
primarily Cantonese speaking, are the largest single group followed 
by Filip'ino, Japanese, and ]~orean grotq~. Witlun the last several 
years, there has been a large influx of ref .gees from Southeast Asia 
and Cuba. 

As a result of this, some of these subjects already had delved in 
criminal activity in their country of origin. Coming into a strange en- 
vironment, they gravitated to areas most consistent with their native 
culture. Many of these people entered into a gang life, proving on their 
own with illicit acts of extortion, burghrry, robbery, and~assaults. 
r ~  f • ] hey • ormed at first a loose amalgamation of groups all w i n z  for the 
control of the community. The nYain purposeof  these group-s was to 
establish their power a,{cl the seeldng o f  prestige within their peer 
group. With their power and prestige establishe~, then the l~rol~t is 
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obtainable. :Roving bands began to be observed eating in restaurants, 
go ing  to the theater and nightch~bs, where they failed to pay relying 
on tile cultural code of silence f,'mn the victim. 

As a result of these transgressions, a vying for power and leadm.'ship 
emerged; and, for a period of several yea,'s, we st, ffered many assaults. 
Close to 50 gang-related homicides euhninated in the Gohten Dragon 
massacres of Sel~tember 4, 1977, wherein a segment of one gang seek- 
ing revenge for a prior incident against a rival gang leader burst into 
the restam'ant and in a hail of gunfire killed 5 innocent people and 
severely wounded 11. None of the victi,ns had any knowledge of gang 
activity. The intended victims, all of whom escaped unscathed, were 
members of two separate gangs. 

This then was the catalyst that established, with the police depart- 
ment, the gang task force comprised of investigators and patrol per- 
sonnel who had knowledge and expertise working in the Asian com- 
munity along with the knowledge of the customs, language, and the 
ability to gcne,'ate information of an intelligence nature. Understand- 
ing tlm history of the comm,mity, the differences that separate tongs, 
family and v;llagc associations," all are paramomlt in establishing a 
trustful  relationship and a mutual desire between the police and the 
community to join in an effort to control these illicit activities. All of 
these abillties, coupled with the desire to firmly and honorably in- 
vestigate and prosecute violators, are essential in abatin~ this problem. 

The area of responsibility of the a, ang task force is iclentifying the 
structure of gangs invol~,,i~{g the Cl~inese, Filipino, Latin, and Japa-  
nese communities. More recently, problems have arisen with the Cuban 
gang  types that have settled here. In order to do this, a central reposi- 
tory of information is essential: A knowledge of customs, area of 
abode, individual backgrounds, autos owned and used, weapon pur- 
chases, graffiti used, associates, schools attended, and. finally, a good 
liaison with other governmental agencies interested in the problem. 
Liaison with schools, other police departments. State and Federal law 
enforcement agencies is essential. 

These gangs do travel. They have established thcmseh,es in other 
parts of the country. Jurisdictmnally, police departments have limita- 
tions in monitorin,r their travel, and liaison with other departments--  
city, State, and F e d e r a l i i s  an asset in monitoring such travel. This is 
successful only if  such agencies are aware of the problems and have 
officers delegated to this task. 

All gangs arc detrimental to a lawful society. They prey on their 
own; they establish turf  control, challenging any other subjects w'ho 
move m. Economically, they can devastate an area, frightening busi- 
ness away. 

Their age should never be considered in file investigation. Agencies 
should always be aware that today's juvenile gang member is tomor- 
row's adult  gang leader. 

Thank you, sir. 
Mr. SVECTF.a. Thank you very much, Inspector McKcnna. What  

statistical base do you have for measurin.ff ~ang violence in the San 
Francisco area ? Do you have, perhaps, homicide figures or other fig- 
ures attributable to gang  activity ? 



Mr. McKE,~^ .  In the community that we work with, it's hard to 
keep statistics. There aim a goodly amount of problems of a police 
nature out there that ~re unreported. To say that a cel~ain amount of 
fi~lrcs is the absolute truth as to tile amount of tile assaults that  have 
occurred is probably a fallacy to deal with. 

Mr. SPECTER. DO yOU not keep statistics on gang-related activities ? 
Mr. M c K E ~ A .  Yes, we do. From 196~ to 1977, we had 50 gang- 

related homicides. 
Mr. SPECTER. From 1964 t ~ - -  
Mr. McKEN~A. To 1977. 
Mr. SPECTER. F i f ty  gang-related homicides? 
~lr. ~CI(ENNA. Right. At  that  time or during that period of time, 

we had units within the police department workl~ng on these problems, 
on these homicides. We had a great deal of difficulty solving these 
homicides. No. 1, the community that we dealt with was quite fearful 
of the problems that were arising, and thel~ was difficulty with the 
codes of culture and so on, :ricking it hard to deal with t'lus pr~blem. 

~ h e n  our unit was formed, we had officers that had worked within 
that community and had knowledge of these and were a'ble t ogo  out 
into the community to get the assistance of the people. The Golden 
Dragon Homicides, where these peop'le were all innocent v i c t i m s - -  

~ r .  SPECTER. That 's where the five innocent victims were murdered ? 
Mr. MC](E~'NA. Yes, sir, and 11 were critically injured. 
~{1". SPECTER. From vio'lence between two gangs?' 
Mr. MCKE~,,~,x. Ri~at. 
/~II'. SPECTER. IS that number of 5 included wi~h your statistic of 50? 
~lr. MCKE~NA. NO. That 's a separate statistic. At that  time our unit 

was formed specificall~y to solve that probh.m and to delve into the 
gang situation ffhat existed at bhat time, that erupted in the Chinese 
community. 

Mr. SI'ECTEm Do you have the statistics since 1977 on gang-related 
homicides ? 

h~r. M c ] ~ N A .  Yes. We've had seven. 
Mr. SPECTER. Seven since 1977 ? Well, Inspector, assuming the accu- 

racy of those statistics, you're in pretty good shape in comparison with 
other communities. 

Mr. MCKE~'~:~. That is true within that community. But we do have 
a number of assaults that are constantly occm'ring. ~rhat  we do have 
occurring is a vying for power and the prestige which leads to the 
monetary--robbery, burglary. 

Mr. SPECTER, Sticking with the statistics for a minute, how do you 
compile those figures? Your figures arc very, very low. 

~'~1'. ]~'.[CKENNA. Yes. We maintain it in our own office ourselves as we 
handle those matters that come up within that group or the gangs. 
So we maintain those statistics in our office. 

~'[1'. SPECTER. HOW many gangs art  there in the San Francisco area 
Mr. MCKE~NA. Presently, within the Asian community, there are 

• ) ,  

four major gangs. There's a Wah Ching, meaning "Youth of China ; 
the Kit  Jai, the "Young Kids. ,) We have the remnants of the Chung 
~hm r wh w .  ra on honuc~des C " gYee ,  o ere responsible for the Go ldenD g " " .'. 

That  means loyalty, f~tithfulness) and righteousness. We have several 
groups of young people related to the tongs, allegedly youth groups, 
involved in criminal problems in the community. 
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Mr. SPEcrEm You started off saying that San Francisco had a popu- 
lation of 700,000. 

Mr. h~'GKENN'A. Close to 700,000 population. 
Mr. SPECTER. What  is the population of the greater metropolitan area 

here 
hlr. hlCIEE~'NA. I have no idea on the greater metropolitan area. But  

I would suspect--but,  within a given workday in San Francisco, we are 
well over i million people. 

hlr. SPEcWrm. So the 700,000 figure excludes Oakland or surrounding 
communities~ 

Mr. MCI(E~CNA. Yes, it does b e c a u s e ~  
Mr. Svr:~'Em Even though they're itmnediately outside the bounda- 

ries of San Francisco 
Mr. MCKEN~CA. Yes, sir. 
Sir. SPEGTER. We were in Los Angeles and, of course, the geographic 

botmdaries of Los Angeles are absolutely e n o r m o u s ~  
h'l'r. ~'I'cl~ENNA. Yes, they are. 
Bit'. SPECTEI¢ [continuing]. With 71/~ million people. San Diego is 

now reputed to be the second biggest city in California. But, compared 
to San I~ rancisco, I wonder if that isn't explaincd hi terms of the way 
they delimit the Stm Francisco population, excluding the metropolitan 
area, as opposed to San Diego which hmludes a much larger geographic 
base or, perhaps, it icludes the entire metropolitaJl area. 

Mr. hlcKEN~CA. I hat's probably correct. 
Bit'. Sl, rcrrm. What  kind of gang problems exist in the balance of the 

area, to the e~xtent that you l~mw--in Oakland, for example 
Mr. h'fCK.ENN,X. In Oaldand, they have probably more of, perhaps, 

the black gangs, some Latino gangs. They have a--we do know that  
some of our Asian gangs go into their Asian community over there. 
'.£1my do not have so many in Oakland, but in communities surround- 
mg Oakland, there is a Filipino gang problem because these people 
are coming to us for assistancc and identifying the membership. 

hlr. SP~CTEm Do those gangs move into the San Francisco area ? 
Mr. MCIEENNA. We have a Filipino gang group here, also. Their 

type of activity is not much of the cautious laying-in-wait crimes of 
assault. I t 's  spontaneous. They have issues over boyfriends-girlfriends 
type of situations, words that offend another person, and they lash 
out rather rapidly. We don't find that in the Asian gangs, the Chinese 
gangs. Revenge c~m wait. i t  can be had at a later dat~ at an appro- 
priate time to do it. The Filipino groups are vel 3, spontaneous, but  
we do have problems within that community. 

Mr. SPECTER, You're suggesting that the Asian gangs engage in 
more careful planning and w a i t - -  

Mr. 5IcKE~c.~x. Yes, they do. 
Mr. SP~CTEn [continuing]. Until there's a opportune time? 
h~r. ]~$cKn~C~CA. Many of the earlier homicides I mentioned were in 

reventze for incidents that had occurred maybe even up to 1 year or 
several yea rs before. 

~'~'1". SPECTER. Can you ~ v e  me an example of that? 
Mr. MCKEN~A. TI~e Golden Dragon is probably the best example 

of that. Here. a grour~ of  people from the Chung Ching Yee--a cell 
of the Chung Ching Yee group--came into a restaurant atten.lpting to 
kill a leader of the Wah Ching and another group, called, at that  time, 



60 

the Hop Sing Tong boys. Prior to that date of September 4, 1977, on 
July 4, 1977, the Wah Ching were in control of the fireworks' sale in 
Chhlatm~n, ~ hich is economical very prolitable to them. 

We have people comhlg from other communities, comhlg to San 
Francisco to buy their fireworks, and they go home tuld set fires to 
their coaununities with the fireworks. But it brings a lot of revenue for 
the Wah Ching in Clfinatown. 

At  that time, a group of Chung Ching Yee came into our China- 
town to at tempt to take the moneys from the profits from the group 
lmown as the Wah Chhlg. What  they (lid is, they lost in five separate 
gun battles tha t  occurred that evening--one of their leaders was 
ldlled. They assumed that  tim responsible party for this matter was 
the chap who was in the Golden Dragon on the night of the massacre. 
They came down there to seek the revenge 4 months later. They had 
lain in wait t rying to track where this pemon~s activities would lead 
him to. They had a subject out in the field that  was constantly circulat- 
ing among tim restaurants and nightclubs in Chinatown. l ie  found 
him that night  to bc at the Golden Dragon. They came into the com- 
nmnity in two vehicles, burst into the restaurant in a hail of gunfire. 
They didn't  get their intended victim. He lived to commit another 
murder at a later time of a young runaway girl from Hawaii. He was 
convicted of that  murder. 

Mr. SPECTF~m HOW fast does the juvenile court try and conclude these 
eases ? 

Mr. McKE,-~xA. Well, we do lmve great cooperation in that juvenile 
court. There's been a great attempt to help juveniles. However, the 
volume of business is such that sometimes we feel that it could be 
expedited. However, budgetary restraints and the amount of pm,son- 
nel they have all lead to what we think is an occasional delay in the 
finality of the cruse. 

Mr. SPECTEn. How many jllvenile court judges are there? 
Mr. McKENxA. There is one judge, several referees. 
Mr. SeECTEm Just  one juvenile court judge? 
Mr. McKE~x~. One superior eomg judge, and there are referees 

that hear minor matters. 
Mr. SPEC~m Do you knmv how many referees there are ? 
Mr. McKnxxa.  No. I don:t. I 'm not in the juvenile system. 
Mr. SrEc~n.  Do you have any familiarity with the sentences or 

dispositions on these juvenile cases ? 
Mr. McKF~,',',~. Yes, I have a hasic familiarity of those people that 

we deal with when they're sentenced. ~'Vc feel that, the com~s are slowly 
but surely becoming more aware of the proclivities of violence in some 
of t h o s e - -  

Mr. ,~eEC'rEm Up to now what is a typical sentence in a juvenile 
homicide case ? 

Mr. McKl.:~,',-,'a. I think that's set within a framework--there are 
probably people here that could hetter address that. 

Mr. Se~:C'rEm ~rhat  is your understanding of it? 
Mr. McKE,','x,~. Well, the fellows that we see--they end up no later 

than o_.3 usually staying in the system, and they're out again. We've 
seen them come out earlier. 
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Mr. SrECW~m Do you think these sentences are adequate? 
Mr. MOKEN~'A. The situation as I see it is that there were many 

of these people that should be tried as adults. There were others that 
. perhaps should remain ill the juvenile system even though the homicide 

is a bad homicide. 
Mr. SPECTE,. How wouhl you recommend nmking that distinction 
~'[r. ~IC]{ENlX'A. It 's very difficult. The thing I think we need is a 

good repository of information on the individual, his proclivities for 
violence, his length of time in the gang, what other activities of a 
criminal nature hc's been involved in, what is his potential likelihood 
to be an explosive personality and to reinjure other people. 

There are young people involved in crimes that we are absolutely 
sure will never be rehabilitated. They have a p r o b l e m ~  

~'r. SPECTER. What  indicators are there for you to reach that kind 
of a conclusion that they will not be rehabilitatec] ? 

~'1". ~'[GKENNA. A series of repetitive assaults that could easily 
have led to a homicide, except for tile intervention of a third party, 
the arrival of police, witnesses, and so on. We have subjects in our 
file that are constantly involved in acts of violence. I t  seems to me 
those people have been in and out of this system constantly, and there 
is no sense in trying to rehabilitate them. 

Mr. SPECTER. "~'~lat would be your recommendat:ion as to what to 
do with somebody who fits into that category where rehabilitation is 
not realistic 

Mr. MCKE~rNA. They should be put  into a system mad kept  therB 
until there is no doubt in somebody's mind that there-- they have a 
chance to succeed. However, to be very honest with you, I don't know 
that the penitentiary system today is prepared to handle that type 
of person. 

Mr. SPECTER. Well, are you suggesting that that determination be 
made in juvenile cases so that  there are the equivalent of life sentences 
for somebody from the juvenile system ? 

Mr. ]~{cKENrcA. In certain cases, yes; not il~ all cases, by any means. 
There a r e  ce l~ in  individuals out there, whatever their age is, and 
they have a series of conduct that is just absolutely reprehensible, and 
this is in acts of violence. There are a lot of young people out there 
that  we've had successftd dealings with, that we've seen them commit 
transgressions and assaults, but we have seen them mature. There are 
other yo lmg  people tarot their maturi ty is only into becoming an adult 
gang leader. They're the type of people that I really feel should be ad- 
dressed. I don't feel that it can be done at a juvenile level. But, cer- 
tainly~ when they reach adulthood and have had transgressions as 
iuvenfleso they have to learn as an adult to try to make a meaJaingful 
fife for  themselves. They become a planner ra'ther than a perpetrator. 
Those are the types of people that are very, very dangerous not  only 
to society, but to other people whose fork ha the road in life may be 
by the ~ood intentions of one or the bad intentions of another. 

• Mr. ~PECa'Em What  rehabilitation facilities are available to juve- 
niles? I know this is outside your specific scope. We have somebody 
from the California Youth AuthoI5ty. But  to your k a m w l e d g e ~  

• Mr. McKENNa. On the local level we have a probation department 
that 's at tempting to address the issue of the background of the in- 
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dividual to try and channel them into tt productive rehabilitation 
rather than just simply an incarceration. I don't want to belabor this. 
They are working into special intensive care units of hldividturls who 
l~low a lot about their t)ackground to see if something can be done. 
Evidently, there is a goodly amount of facilities at the locl~l level 
to channel people into. ~Ve lutve certain community groups that  try to 
be helpful. I f  it works, I don't really know because we seem to get so 
many of these young people into crlminal activities. 

OI'~ the State level, cel~,ainly in the California Youth Authority, 
I think that in the facilities that  they have they try their darndest to 
worlc with the kids, but this is an increasing problem. These young 
peopleI there 's  more and more of them all the time. And whether they 
have the facilities and the time to work with the problem is really 
difficult to assess. But we try to maintain good liaison with them. They 
let us lamw when they're coming out. We try to let them know what 
gangs they belong to so the 3,, can be separate(l from other gangs. 

Mr. Sel':0Tl,:i~. When we talk aboat being toagh with these juveniles 
who have repetitive criminal histories and tLdk essentially about a per- 
manent incarceration, it brings to mind legislation which I~ve pro- 
posed in the Senate trod which also passed last year on the habitual 
criminal statute de~tling with adult offenders, those who have been 
convicted of two or more robberies or burghrries and are charged with 
a subsequent burglary or robbery with the use of a fireamn. There's a 
provision under legislation introduced last year, S. 1688 and reintro- 
duced as S. 52 this ye~tr, which would give Federal courts jurisdiction 
to try those cases with the acquiescence of the local district attorney 
and would provide for a mandatory minimum of 15 years in jail. We 
had looked for a life sentence, but compromised on 15 years. 

I t  is patterned after the habitual offender statutes which are present 
in some '44 of  the 50 States, which call for a life sentence for somebody 
who lms committed three major felonies or, in some States, four major 
felonies. Do you have an opinion as to the desirability of such treat- 
men~ of lmbitual career criminals on the adult level ? 

Mr. ]~'IcKl:~'n,~. Well, that's difficult to tmswer right now~ Senator. 
The only thin~ I would say is it seems to me if a person has had four 
convictions as a major offender on a felony level he certainly should 
1)c considered a career criminal whether it fits the juvenile status or the 
adult status. I would hesitate to sa:v a 14- or 15-year-old subject who 
may be led by an adult or an older ~n any gang all of a sudden should 
be the person to suffer the 15-year sente~me. 

Mr. SPFCTEm YOU say juvenile or an adult~ 
Mr. M:CKF.NNA. Well, you see~ T I I  think that many of these young 

people that  we deal with--and I have tirm opinions on this--are 
directed by elders in the glmg. We have a situation unique in our gang 
structure in that we find there's a lot of elders, and I 'm talking any- 
place from 17, 18, 19, and maybe into the 20~s. 

Mr. Sr'r:c~,,. What  is the maximum age which you customarily see 
invol red in this kind of gang activity ? 

]~']'r. ~cKENI~A. Everything from 14 into the early 30's. These are 
the people Z would feel are the ones that !aw enforcement agencies 
should concentrate on. 
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Ml'. SPECTER. Whell you were testifying about juve~liles earlier, you 
said those with the repetitive career criminal tendencies ought to be 
s~paratcd permanently, or you used language similar to that. 

Mr. McKExxA. Right. We don:t see tMt  in the real young because 
" they're just starting out. We do see in the 17-, 18-, 19-year-old 

1)racket- 
Mr. S,,EC~n~m That's why I asked y o u I  
Mr. McKENNA. They've gained this ability because at an earlier age 

they've been part of the groul) ,, part of the gang. They've been directed. 
Essentially, my assault wot, ld be on the leader, the director of the 
gang, tim ones who are calling the shots, so to speak. 

ll,~r. SPECTER. When you talk about that long sentence for the juve- 
Jlile offenders in tile l~-year-old category, then I would assume you 
would be in favor of such treatment for the career criminal in the 
adult category. Cerfainly, it's going to be a lot harder to bring that 
kind of lengthy incarceration into the juvenile picture where the trend 
has been .to tre'tt juveniles as really being in a different status. So you 
would be tough with young people. You would be a lot tougher with 
the older people. 

MI'. I~CKENNA. I have to go back to the criteria--i t  has to be where 
the person fits into the gang structure. That 's  why, once again, we 
need a good repository of information, ever.ytbing possible known 
about them, his I)rio ' offenses both as a j Iveni[e and :/dult, what posi- 
tion he has in the gang structure, is he actively recruiting people into 
the gang structure, does he show propensities for violence himself or 
has he directed his propensity to violence onto others. This.is the type 
of pemon that I feel if we can address, if we can attack, if we can 
remove him, then we can have a better chance of rehabilitation of tim 
younger olrender who may be imitating his life style. 

h~[l'. SPECTER. Let me see if I can imagine the picture you have here. 
I know San Francisco, you described, as 700,000. 

l~Ir. MCKEXXA. Yes. 
liar. SPECTEm Oakland is across the bay. Does the San Jose juvenile 

problem affect law enforcement in San Francisco ? 
]~[r. h~CKF~N~,x. Yes, to a certain degree. In San Jose, of course, tim 

Latino gangs are dominant. 
Mr. SPEC'~m ~qla t  other cities are in tile metropolitan area? 
Mr. MCKF~XXA. San Jose is one. You have San Francisco; you have 

Oakland: you have cities like Fremont, Union City with the Filipino 
gang problem. You have to a lesser degree San Leandro, San Pablo 
that  seem to h a v e - -  

~l ' .  SPECTER. What  is the apl)roximate radius of the metropolitan 
area which would impact on juvenile gang violence within the San 
Francisco area ? 

Mr. MCKEXNA. We are talking probably about a 50- to 75-mile 
radius. 

l~r. Sr,F.C'rm~. Have there been any Federal assistance programs 
. from tim Law Enforcement Assistance Administration or otherwise 

for San Francisco? 
lift. ]~[ClCENNA. Yes, to a certain degree. We have been working 

with Federal agencies regarding the older group leaders or gang 
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leaders who travel to cities such ns New Yell< ; Houston, Tex., Seattle, 
Vancouver, Toronto, and out of the country involved ill a more orga- 
nized structure of criminal activity. 

Mr.  Sm.'.c'I~R. Have you received Federal fm~ding at all? 
]~'[l'. ]~[C]~.ENNA. NO, not that  I know of. I believe a year or so ago 

Mr. Smith, tim district attorney here, .itteml)ted to get a funding 
for a j~Jveni]e gang attorney, and I don't think we were successful 
in that. 

Mr. SI,ECTER. What  assistance would you like, if any, from the Fed- 
ernl Government 

Mr. MCICENNA. Well, I think to-- I 'm sure Mr. Smith, the district 
attorney, will address the problem. But I feel he's absolutely right in 
asking for tunds in trying to establish a gang unit within the prosecu- 
torial arm of law enforcement, namely, t~m district attorney's office. I t  
is veLw difficult to go to trial with some of these young people unless 
the attorney, the 1),'osecuting attorney, has a historical perspective of 
how these groups work, where they came from, the country of origin, 
what dialect they speak, what gang they're with, who they show up 
with as witnesses for them, and why, certainly, they may not be 
telling the truth. There are abundant reasons why these people have 
to be specialists in their own right. 

The gangs are fat" different from the isolated instances of assault. 
The gangs are not monolithic, but they have cells. There may be cells 
within the gang that will be going off on their own forays, yet not 
reporting in to other cells. This is tim code of silence type of thing. 
T/my'l/ join togctJler when another gang is prepared to assault them. 
This is a time they become a large gang. 

lXlr. SPEGTER. Inspector, thank b, OU very much. Is tlmre anything you 
would care to add at this time ? 

Mr. MOICE~A. No. I thank you very much. 
Mr. SPECTER. I very much appreciate your being here with us. 
Welcome, Mr. Ha'j, es. I note that  you have somebody with you. 

Would you identify yourself for the record, please, sir. 

STATEMENT OF RONALD HAYES, CHIEF, FIELD SERVICES DIVI- 
SION, CALIFORNIA YOUTH AUTHORITY, ACCOMPANIED BY ESTE- 
BAN P. CASTANEDA, A PAROLE AGENT WITH THE YOUTH 
AUTHORITY 

Mr. HAY-ES. Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, my name 
is Ronald ~'V. Hayes. I am the chief of tlle Division of Field Services 
in the Prevention and Community Corrections branch of the Cali- 
fornia Department of the Youth Authority. I supervise the depart- 
ment's law enforcement eom,mmications team which has responsibility 
for identifying and tracking youth authority wards who have gang 
associations or affiliations. With me today i sEs teban  P. Castaneda, 
parole agent II ,  a member of the L E C T  unit and one of the youth 
authority's gang experts. Following my presentation, Mr. Castaneda 
will be availabl(~ to answer any technical questions the committee may 
have. 

The Department of the Youth Authori ty currently has a total of 
13,056 wards under its jurisdiction, 5,815 in 16 institutions and camps 
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and 7,941 on parole in communities throughout the State. Commit- 
ments to the youth authority may be from both juvenile and criminal 
courts. Age of jurisdiction can range from 8 to 24 years. Currently, 
approximately 58 percent of the ward population are juvenile court 
commitments, and 4.9 percent are criminal court commitments. Four  
percent of  the ward population is female. Although we do have a few 
11-, 12-, and 13-year-olds, the average ward age is 18.8 years. Avera.,,e 
length of  stay in institutions is 14.6 months and 18.3 months on parole. 

In  December 1982, institution population consisted of 73 percent 
minorities, with 40 percent being black, 31 percent Spanish speaking, 
and the balance from other ethnic groups such as Asian, Native Amer- 
ican, Filipino, e~ cetera. Tile proportion of whites in youth authority 
institutions has decreased from a high of 40 percent in 1973 to 9~7 
percent in 1982. 

I t  is difficult today to find a community tlmt does not have a youth 
gang problem to one extent or the other. A substantial number of 
wards who come into our system are already involved in and are so- 
phisticated in tile ways of street gangs. This number is steadily in- 
creasing. In  1979, approximately 40 to 45 percent of youth authority 
wards were identified with gangs. Currently, approximately 70 to 80 
percent of  all youth authority wards can be identified as members of 
or affiliated with a gang or ha~.'e been involved in some type of gang- 
related activity. 

While white gangs are l~presented in tile youth authority, gang 
members tend to be minority membel~, particularly brown and black. 
Generally, they are dropouts from school, jobless,'from single-parent 
homes in low economic neighborhoods, and are alcohol and drug 
abusers. They h.lve basically nothing going for them except the respect 
and steam they get from their fellow gang members. They will fight, 
kill, and be killed for  their personal reputation and tile reputation of 
their neighborhood gang or barrio. 

The youth authority's population is only a reflection of society's 
gang population. We now have second- and third-generation gang 
members in our institutions, as well as on the streets. A connection has 
been established between Some street gang members within tile youth 
authority and major prison gangs. We know that prison gangs do 
recruit street gan~ members that have proven themselves on the street. 
Some of the youth authority street gang problems have found their 
~ ay into the ~alifornia Department of Corrections ms the alliances and 
rivalries continue on up the line. 

Gangs present problems in youth authority institutions, including 
security and safety for both staff and wards. Therefore, with the per- 
centage of  gang-involved population steadily increasing, it becomes 
obvious that  early identification of individuM gang affiliation, as well 
as gan~ trends and individual and ~ana group rivalries, is vital. 

In 1977, the youth authority established a special unit l~nown as 
the law enforcement communications team. for LECT,  to act as a 
central depository for gang information. The major purpose of this 
unit is to identify and track youth authority wards with ~ang affilia- 
tions and gang-related activities from the d~te of commitment io a 
youth authorit-y institution through parole and fo share this know|- 
edge both internally and externally with law enforcement and other 
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components of the criminal justice system who have similar needs and 
interests. 

Designated gang information coordinators at each of the youth 
auth_ority's 16 institutions and camps and four parole regions attempt 
to identify gang affiliations and gang-related activities of all wards in 
their insti'tutions or parole area. 

The sooner gang-related information can be obtained and shared 
with al)propriate staff, the better. Therefore, gang coordinatm~ at the 
youth ~ruthority's reception centers play an especially crucial role. At 
the time of  first admission to the youth authority, even the more 
sophisticated gang members arc apprehensive of what is ~oing to hap- 
pen to them and arc generally willing to relate information they thil:tk 
may protect them down the road. We have found that immediately 
after admission is the best time to elicit information which wards may 
later be reluctant to share with staff. 

Information related to wards' gang involvement may be obtained 
from nmnerous sources inc|~ding l:atoos, ward's self-admission of 
membership and/or  rivals and problems, pictures of ward with other 
gang members, docmncnts containing gang information and gang 
writing~ police and probation reports, witnesses to gang-related 
offenses. 

This information is then shared with and used by youth authority 
staff in determining program, institution, and dorm assignments in 
order to separate members from rival gangs and to make necessary 
decisions to manage institutional programs more effectively. 

In order to intcnmlly share relevant gang information, the L E C T  
staff work closely with the gang information coordinators and also 
meet monthly with them as a group. In addition to verbally sharing 
gang-related information at the meetings, the coordinators submi~ 
reports that  are compiled and disseminated to various locations 
thro~,ghout the department. These reports contain information re- 
garding new commitments, transfers, and discharges of gang-related 
wards, as well as information on new gangs, current individual and 
group gang rivalries, and current trends aaad gang characteristics that 
have been observed. 

Coordinators also prepare a gang affiliation file on each identified 
ward. This file contains information on the ward's monikers, nick- 
names, gang name, whether the ga.ng identifies north, south, blood, 
erips, et cetera, and whether the ward is a leader, aggressor, or victim. 
There is also a form for a ehronological log of alY~an~-related inci- 
dents obtained. When a ward is transferred or paroled, this file is for- 
warded to the ~ang information coordinator and the ward's new 
location. A copy of this information is also maintained in the L E C T  
headquarters office. Procedures have now heen established to com- 
pvterize this gang information and distribute monthly confidential 
printouts to the gang coordinators. 

The L E C T  unit also initiated a procedure for including wards' 
monikers or Jficknames in the youth authority~s computerized ward 
data files. The trend is for gang members to identifv others in the 
gang scene by their monikers. Many times that  is the only identifi- 
cation known. 

The department currently has approximately o~,000 of these nick- 
names in the system. I t  is now possible, for example~ .to obtain the 
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name and location of all wards in the system with the nickname of 
"Boxer" or "Mad Dog." By the process of elimination by age~ location 
et cetera, the specific indi~ idual may be identified. 

L E C T  unit staff attend ap~)roximately 15 various statewide, re- 
gional, and local gang intelhgence meetings held throughout the 
State. Approximateil  .00 law enforcement and correctional agencies 
arc represented at these meetings. Trends and changes in gang cul- 
tures~ characteristics and identffication, activities, leadership rival- 
ries~ and si~dficant incidents in institutions and on the streets are 
noted and discussed at these meetings. Relevant information is then 
shared with appropriate staff' and/or  agencies. 

Ongoing telephone contact is also maintained with these and other 
correctional agencies in order to disseminate and receive information 
relevant to significant gang-related individuals and activities through- 
out the State. Recently, this exchange of gang-related informat'ion 
has also extended to several correctional agencies outside the State 
of California. 

In  addition~ the youth authority has a procedure for notifying 
local law enforcement agencies when a youth authority ward is to be 
paroled in their area. I f  the parolee has a gang identity or has been 
r a v e l e d  in gang-related activities~ that information is conveyed to 
the local law enforcement agency, including gang name, identifica- 
tion of rival gangs, witnesses, victims or other significant individuals~ 
and any other pertinent information. 

Although we have a significant number of gang members in our 
institutions~ only a few of the hardcore gang members continue their 
negative gang activities within our institutions. With our system for 
gathering and sharing relevant gang information, institutional staff 
can focus on heavy gang members and thereby prevent major gang- 
related incidents t~rom happening. 

The Youth Authority experienced one gang-related incident in 
1978 involving the death of two wards. There have been no gang- 
related deaths in Youth Authori ty institutions since that time. 

~ a j o r  gang-related incidents, sllch as the one in 1978, can bc and 
are prevented by the expedient sharing of gang-r~lated in.cid.cnts, in 
our communities by law.enforcement gang umts x~ ~th our mst~tuhon 
gang coordinators. For  example, last month in the southern Cali- 
fornia community of Wihnington, gang members from the South 
Los gang attended a baptismal party. A confrontation occurred, and 
the South Los gang members were asked to leave. They left, but  
waited outside. When the par ty broke m), the South Los gang mem- 
bers opened fire on departing guests, killing one and seriousl), injur- 
ing several others. The gang members then drove their vehicles over 
the victims. I t  is immaterial whether any of the victims w e r e  gang 
related. The fact is that the gang members from Wihnington~ Wihnas~ 
will more than likely retaliate against the South Los gang. 

In order to prevent immediate retaliation in our restitutions be- 
tween those two gangs, the following precautionary steps were taken : 
The previously identified more sophisticated meinbers of both po- 
tentially rival groups were locked down; staff will talk to wards in 
both groups to determine what their stance is in relation to the inci- 
dent in Wi lmin~on  ; mediation will be directed to defuse any poten- 
tial retaliation within the institution. 
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I wish to make it clear that gang-related activity is unacceptable 
behavior in outh Authorl t  3 restitutions. In addition to mediation, 
institutional staff also use direct confrontation to deal with gang prob- 
lems. Gang members are not alloxxed to display gang identities by 
using gang colors or flashing hand signs. Gang'bchavmr is rer)orted 
on dlsciphnary reports, and ,upon aL tr-tm finding, wards may r'ec6ive 
added time in the program and/or  a change to a more restrictive 
program which may include transfer to a more restrictive institution 
and more time in the Youth Authority. 

Another responsibility of the LECT unit it to provide training 
on gangs, their identification, culture, characteristics, and activities. 
The unit, with Mr. Castaneda as the primary trainer, provides on- 
going training to all gang information coor(,linators; prevention and 
community corrections branch administrative stall'; all new Youth 
Authority institutions and parole staff'; local probation, juvenile in- 
stitutions, and law enforcement administrators and staff; California 
Department of Justice Training for Law Enforcement Personnel, 
annually. 

Upo~ request, gang training has also been provided to school board 
members, school district administrators, and members of boards of 
sup_ervlsors, as well as other local officials. 

Duri!lg 1982, a total of 57 training sessions were conducted for 
approxmmtely 2,000 participants. An additional 10 to 12 requests 
for training are received each month, but due to insufficient shtff re- 
sources, we are unable to fill these requests for training at this time. 

The gang information coorclinators are doing a commendable job 
in gathering and sharing relex ant infolTnation. However, due to fiscal 
constraints at this time, their gang-related duties are not their primary 
assignments, and, as a result, th%, are unable to spend full time in 
this area. This, as well as the lack of training resources, impacts the 
full potential of the LE.CT r)rogram. 

A cop.), of  the following documents published by the Law Enforce- 
ment Communications Team are being submitted to the committee for 
reference: "Prison Gang Influences on Street Gangs," dated Febru- 

~ l:~, 198_1; "White Youth Gangs," dated April 1981; "Jacarandina 
Gang Slang)," dated October 1981; "Guide for Ident i fying Youth 

Gang Gratiiti or Fatoos," dated April 1981. 
An additional source of information on gangs in California is t]m 

attorney general's youth gang task force "Report  on Youth Gang Vio- 
lence in California," date June  1981. 

This concludes the department's formal testimony. We appreciate 
the opportunity to explain our program and operations to you and 
offer our future assistance if we can be of service. 

Mr. SPECTI¢,~. Mr. Hayes, who is it that you have with you 
Mr. HAaT~s. The gentleman I have with me is Mr. Esteban P. Casta- 

neda. I-[e's a parole agent with the Youth Authority,  a member of the 
Law Enforcement Communication Team and one of the department's 
experts on gangs. 

~'[r. SPECTER.- ~relcome, gentlemen. We very much appreciate your 
being here. 

Mr. I-IA~s. Thank you. 
Mr. SeECTm~. You may proceed, Mr. Hayes. 

. 
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Mr. HArris. I 'd like to start  out by giving a very brief overview of 
the department of tim Youth Authority. At  the current time, we have 
13,056 wards under out" jurisdiction, 5,815 in 16 institutions and camps 

- and 7,9.41 on parole in communities throughout the State. 
Mr. SrECTEm ~Vould you repeat those statistics ? 
Mr. HAYES. We ]lave 13,056 wards totally under our jurisdiction. 
Mr. SPEGTF~R. By "wards," you mean juveniles ? 
Mr. HA]~ES. Juveniles and adults. We receive commitments from 

both the juvenile court and the adult court. 
Mr. SrECTEm AI~ you speakhlg about the California Youth 

Author i ty  
Mr. HAYES. Yes. 
Mr. Se~-cwFm. Why do you receive commitments of adults 
Mr. HA~S.  The statutes provide that persons under the age of 21 

who commit a crime ,nay be committed to the department of Youth 
Authori ty  from tile superior court if the crime was committed before 
the 21st birthday. 

Mr. SPECTZ~I~. When you say "adults," you mean people 18 to 21 
Mr. HAYES. Yes, yes. 
Mr. SPECTER. The California Youth Authori ty has jurisdiction for 

incarceration of anyone under 21 ? 
Mr. HAYnes. Yes, at the discretion of the court. 
Mr. SI"ECTF~m All right. And if they're 18, 19, or 90, they could be 

sentenced to an adult prison 
Mr. HAYES. They could, yes. 
Mr. SrECTEn. Meaning people under 21 
Mr. HA~'r_s. Yes. 
Mr. SPECTEa. Would you oroceed. 
Mr. HA~S.  Then of that number we have 5,815 in 16 institutions 

and camps, 7,941 on parole in communities throughout the State. As 
I previously stated, commitments to the youth authority may be from 
both the juvenile and adult court. Age of jurisdiction can range from 
8 to 24 years. 

Mr. SPECTr~R. NOW you've just  put  the jurisdiction up to 24. That 's  
because once thev have been committed I 

Mr. I-IAV~S. The age of conlmitment--they must have committed 
the crime up to the 21st birthday. 

Mr. SPr~CTEm And they can be retained in tile youth authority till 
they're 23 

Mr. Ha~:s .  On juveJdle commitments jurisdiction expires on their 
21st birthday. I f  they were committed to us from the juvenile court, 
jurisdiction exl~ires on their 21st birthday. I f  they were committed to 
us from the superior court and it's for a misdemeanor or for a second- 
degree crime of some sort, iurisdiction can extend to their %d birth- 
day. I f  it 's a felony, it's up to their o~5th birthday. 

Mr. SeECTEm OK. 
Mr. I-In]~s. Currently, approximately 58 percent of the ward r~ovu- 

lation are juvenile court commitments, and 42 percent are criminal 
court commitments from the superior court. Four  Dercent of the ward 
population is female. And, although we do have a few 11-, 12-, and 13- 

• year-olds, the average ward age is 18.8 years. 
Mr. Sr~cT~. For females 
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Mr. I-L~YES. No, totally. 
Mr. SPECTER. Totally ? 
Mr. I-IA:~ES. That's total population, 18.8. 
Mr. Sm~'cTEm What  is the youngest ward you have ? 
Mr. H,~YEs. At  the current time, we have l l -year-old--few,  very 

few. 
Mr. SPE~I'ER. What  are they committed for 
Mr. HA]7:s. A variety of offenses, again, out of juvenile court. 
Mr. SPECTER. Any homicides ? 
Mr. HA:'ES. I 'm not aware of any ll-year-old homicide. 
Mr. C^STE~ADA. Yes. 
Mr. SPECTER. You say "Yes" ? 
Mr. CASTE~ADA. Yes. I 've been involved in a puree snatch-type 

incident where the victim is elderly and the victim has expired. 
~[1". HAYES. The a~ erage le~lgth of stay in institutions is 14.6 months 

and 18.3 months on parole. This is total. For  the total population, that 
is the ~vel~ge. 

Mr. SPECTER. HOW is the time determined that a person will spend in 
custody ? 

~[r. HA]~ES. We have an indeterminate structure in the youth 
authority system, and it is governed by a youthful offender p~role 
board. And they fix the time based upon the age committing offense 
and things of  that nature. 

~r .  SPECTER. HO~.~ big is the board.  
Mr. I-IA:mS. The board is currently a seven-member board. 
~[r. SPECTER. DO they divide into .panels to make these decisions 
M:r. HA~ES. Yes. They sit in panels, except on some cases. On the 

more serious cases, they sit as a full board. 
Mr. SPECTER. How big are the panels when they sit in panels ? 
Mr. HAYES. They can sit with two members as ~ quorum to sit on 

cases. 
Mr. SPECTER. And they make the determination as to how long the 

individual will serve~ 
Mr. HAYES. Yes. They set the time. 
Mr. SP~.CTFm. This is perhaps u difficult question for you to answer, 

but I would like your opinion, if you care to give it, as to the adequacy 
of the consignment or sentencing. 

h~r. HAVES. Under the current structure, you're talking about? 
Mr. SPECTER. Yes. 
Mr. HAVES. In terms of length of time? 
hlr. SPECTEm Correct. 
Mr. HAYEs. Well, there are many factors that have to be taken 

into consideration. And one would probably be the desirable sit- 
action, and the other is the reality of the situation. Currently in the 
youth authority, population in the institutions is full to capacity• 
We're into an era of declining resources. I t  makes it very difficult at 
any time to extend the time of jurisdiction because youh:e, of course, 
usir_g up your bed stays. You can't turn as many people over, et cetera• 

Although the length of stay at 14.6 probably--in my opinion, be- 
cause of the type of offenders we're now seeing come into out" systems, 
more serious offenders, older age group offenders, if we had the re- 
sources, I suspect we could do a better jo b if we could keep them for 
a longer period of time. 
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Mr. SI"EC'rE, R. Are you saying the youth authority would probably 
like to keep people longer, but they simply can't because there's not 
sufficient space ? 

l~'Ir. HAYES. Yes. That's part  of the reality. We're not going to 
release, cez'tainly, extremely serious type offender's before we feel that 
they can be adequately supervised in the community. But, neverthe- 
less, again, we're forced also by our limited resources m tierms of 
what we can do in our programs. 

Mr. SPECTEm YOU say there are 5,815 wards in 16 institutions? 
HAYF.S. Yes. 
SPECTEm That  represents capacity-  
HA~ES. We're currently at capacity. 
SrECT1m. The maximum fullness? 
HA~ES. Yes. 
SPEOTER. Aro you able to have two or more juveniles in one 
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HAxms. Up until the present time, we have been able to by and 
avoid that. 
S~'ECT~a. IS it lawful under California law to have two or 

HA~-~:s. I t  depends on the square-footage size of the rooms. 
SPEO'~m. Do you know those requirements oz" standards? 
HArms. They have to have for double occupancy 100 square 
a room. Six by e i g h t - - -  

Mr. SrECTEa. That 's  not too big, 10 by 10. What  is the average- 
sized room ? 

Mr. HA~ES. I would imagine it's been , 
Mr. C,~STI~AnA. Six by eight in the indi~ idual rooms is the average 

in those institutions that do have individual rooms. Most institutions 
are open dorm. 

Mr. SPI':CTEm Six by eight. Well, that's pretty tight, obviously. A 
6-foot bed, presumably ? 

l~r. CASTF.XADA. Very narrow bed. It 's an individual bed. But  most 
of our institutions are open dorm. 

Mr. SI'ECTEm Opera dormitories ? 
Mr. CASTAN'EDA. Yes. 
Mr. SPECTER. HOW many individual cells do you have within that 

confine of  5,815 
5'Ir. I-IAmbs. I don't have the exact number. I t  depends----it varies 

from institution to institution. They're not all standard. They're built  
differently and for different purposes. Our reception center's where the 
wards are fi rst brought in for observation m~d the like--they're almost 
all single cell because of the nature of tim fact that they're there for 
the fil~t time. When you get into our camp situation, the camps are all 
dorms. So it depends upon tlm structure of the institution and the 
pur~ose of  the institution. 

Mr. SPECTE.m You may proceed, Mr. Hayes. 
Mr. HAVES. In December 1.q82, restitution population consisted 

of 73 percent minorities, with 40 percent 'beinff black, 3l l~ercent Span- 
ish-speaking, and the balance from other ethnic groups such as Asian, 
Native American, Filipino, et cetera. The proportion of whites in 
youth ~uthority institutions has decreased from a high of 40 percent 
in 1970 to 27 percent in 1982. 
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I t  is difficult today to find a community that does not have a youth 
gang problem to one extent or the other. A substantial number of 
wards who come into our system are already invoh, ed in, and are 

• ' r ,  • . • sophisticated m, ways of street gangs. I his numbe~ is steadily increas- 
ing. Ira 1979, approximately 40 to 45 percent of youth authority wards 
were identified with gangs. Currently, approximately 70 to 80 percent 
of all youth authority wards can be identified as members of, or affili- 
ated with, a gang or have been iJivolved in some type of gang-related 
activity. These statistics are based primarily on the obsem ations and 
statistics kept  by staff at our reception center. , 

Although whqte gangs are represented in the )outh authority, gang 
members tend to be minority members, particularly brown anc] black. 
Generally, they are dropouts from school, jobless, from single-parent 
homes in low economic neighborhoods, and are alcohol and drug 
abusers. Tlmy have basically nothing going for them except the respect 
the esteem they get from their fellow ~an~ members 

hlr. SPEC'rrl¢. Are you familiar with in any way," perhaps even gen- 
erally, with the mtmber of gangs that there are tllroughout the entire 
State ? 

Mr. HAYv~s [to Mr. Castaneda]. How many have you recently 
identified ? 

STATEMENT OF ESTEBAN P. CASTANEDA 

]~1". CASTANEI)A. Those types of statistics are not kept in the State. 
There was the attorney general's youth t~anff task force "Reoort  on 
Youth Gang Violence in California" in~198"1. The result fr(;m that 
survey was that  there are 765 active gangs in the State with a survey 
return of approximately 60 percent of the questionnaires returned 
from law en forcemen t agencies. 

Mr. Sr~:CTEm With 60 percent of questionnaires returned, the esti- 
mate was 765 activeAgang s in California ? 

]~'[r, CASTANEDA, worrect. 
Mr. SPECTEm Are those gangs distributed all over the State~ 
i~II'. CASTANEDA. Yes, they are. 
Mr. SPECTF~. You beard earlier" the testimony of Inspector McKenna 

as to the number of gangs in the San Francisco area ? 
Mr. C,~STA~ED,X. Yes, I did. 
~'[r. SPECTErt. Would .)ou agree with his statement that there are 

four gangs in San Francisco 
Mr. CASTA~EDA. I 'm not sure, but the gang members tell me there 

are more. 
Mr. SPZGT~a. Obviously, the definition of a gang may vary from 

one~------- 
Mr. CASTA~EnA. Yes, it does. 
Mr. S r E C ~  [continuing]. Law enforcement agency to another. I 'm 

not seeking to develop any conflicts in testimonv, obviously. I'nl really 
interested in your per.~pcctive of it. As you hear'd me say, I 'was frankly 
sTJrprised to see the relatively few homicides of 50 gang-related killings 
from 1964 to 1977 and the statistic beyond that point. 

:Based on your  definition of a gang, how many would you say there 
are in the San Francisco area 

Mr. C,~STA~CEDA. I couldn't give a valid answer on that one because 
I haven't done in-depth research in this area• 
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Mr. SrECTER. What  is the geographical area that you work with, 
Mr. Castaneda ? 

Mr. CASTANEr)A. I specialize mostly in northern California. 
Mr. SPECTEm HOW do you define northern California? 
Mr. CASTANEDA. Everything north of the Tehachapi Mountains on to 

the Oregon border. 
~ r .  S~'ECTER. You have to tell me where the Tehachapi ~'[ountains 

are. 
Mr. CASTArZEDA. It 's Kern County, across to Santa Barbara,  all the 

way to the Oregon border. 
Mr. HAYF.S. You're talking about approximately 40 counties in 

northern California. 
Mr. SPECTEm Would that encompass San Francisco ? 
Mr. CAST,'~NEDA. Yes. 
Mr. I-IA~'ES. I t  does include San Francisco. 
Mr. SPEcl~m How big an area would you say within the metro- 

politan San Francisco area would be a contiguous unit for evaluating 
the gang unit in this area? What  radius, say, from where we are 
sitting now 

]~r. Ct'IST,~,NEDA. We're talking about San Francisco itself? 
Mr. SPECTER. Yes. 
Mr. CASTAWeDA. The city limits could be used as file delineation. 
Mr. SPr:CTEm How about the greater metropolitan area? 
Mr. CAST2tNEDA. You have very few other gangs in the metropolitan 

area itse] f. 
Mr. SenCTEm Where are they ? 
Mr. CAST,~NF~DA. Mostly in the areas they reside in most of the time. 
~{r. SIq.:GTER. Well, how would you define the metropolita~ area? 

Would it include Oakland ? Would it include San Josd? 
Mr. C,xsw,x~1~,x. We're talking right now about San Francisco in 

reference--Oakland has their own unique problems. Every city in the 
bay area that Inspector McKenna talked about in a 75-mile radius has 
their specific gang problems. 

Mr. SpncrrEr. I 'd  be interested to lmve a picture of the entire area. 
Could you describe the differences in the gang problems in the various 
communities in the metropolitan area, which I believe Inspector 
McKenna put a 75-mile radius on ? 

Mr. CAST,~,WEDA. I have never sat down and estimated that. I 'd  have 
to research that. 

~ r .  SeF~c~.'.r. Can you tell me about the ~ang problems of Oakland ? 
Mr. H,x~'vs. Senator, basically, we're talking about the gan~ prob- 

lem from the standpoint of the Department of tlm Youth Authority. 
Even though we work in the other areas in the State of California, we 
do not have that kind of indepth knowledge about the total commu- 
nity itself per sc. Our exl~ertise is primarily in the area of gangs who 
are committed to the Department of Youth Authority and subse- 
nuently go back out on the streets. So, not that we're reluctant t~ 
testify, in these areas, it's simply that we don't have that kind of 
indepth knowledge that I think you're requesting. 

Mr. Spv.cw~,,. TO the extent that you have some knowledge, it, would 
be useful to this committee to know what's happenin~ in this area, 
recognizing the limitations that you have just describe~l. As I under- 
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stand it, your statement earlier, Mr. Hayes, Mr. Castaneda does have 
knowledge of tile gang problem, and I wollld be interested in tim gen- 
ertflities. You know more al)olJt tile problems in California than the 
committee does. So, to the extent yolJ can help us, I 'd  bc interested to 
know what happens beyond the San Francisco geographic confines, to 
the extent tlmt you care to testify. 

Mr. C,XSTANEDA. Zn my expert opinion--I was a member of the 
attorney general's task force on youth gangs. So I was exposed to gang 
l)rol)le~{ls not only to Jmrthern California, but to the entire State, and 
was involved in that research. Considering the agencies that did not 
respond to the surveys, I could safely say in my opinion that  figure of 
765 gangs tlmt were reported as active could easily be doubled. 

Mr. Sl'v:c'rl.:m What  do you know, if anything, about the gang prob- 
lem in, say, Oakland ? 

Mr. H,xYl.:s. The gang problem there is proportionate to tlm popula- 
tion they lmve. We're having a lot of young blacks committed to the 
Youth Authority, and as we receive those individtmls, we talk to them 
in o~tr institutions. 

Mr. SPECTER. Did you receive responses to your snrveys in Oakland ? 
Mr. CASTANEDA. I did not look at the responses for which areas they 

were ~rom. 
Mr. SrECTEn. :Do you have a~ opinion as to the approximate number 

of gan_o~s in Oakland 
Mr. ~ASTANEDA. NO, I do not. 
Mr. SPECTra. As to San Jose ? 
Mr. CASTA~EDA. San Jose has their share of problems, also. And we 

work with them. Tlmy have sigqfificant problems, also. Tiffs was 
brought out by Inspector McKenna. They have a preponderance of 
¢ r  " " " 

~angs tlmrc--Clncano gn.ngs, hispanic-type gangs. 
Mr. SVECTEa. Are the methods for la~' enforcement's dealing with 

the gangs significantly different between San Francisco and Oakland 
or San Jose? 

Mr. H,xa'l~s. Every agency has their own differences, and they impact 
differently. 

]~![1". SPECTER. "~¥]]flt are the differences? That 's what I 'm trying to 
find out, if there are any you can discern and testif 3, about. 

]~'[r. CASTANEI)A. ~ly experience worl¢ing with the different units 
within the section--there are 15 major geographic intelligence meet- 
ings held throughout the State of California that our unit participates 
within, and I participated in all those in nolehern California. When 
I happcu to be in southern California, I attend those. And our experi- 
ence Ires been that tlm range of dealing with the gang members varies 
from jm'isdiction to jurisdiction, and their perception of the problem 
varies. The impact on the gangs has a lot to do with how tlmy actually 
deal with the ganlz members on the gang activity. You have heard 
it referred to with the t~rm "~"lng busting'" 

Mr. SPECTEa. Can yon gwc me any illustration as to how you deal 
w i th two gangs i n a di fferen t way ? 

Mr. CASTANF.nA. The gan~ busting is you go at a gang to impact 
on their leaders, remove the leaders from the street. Some law enforce- 
ment agencies provide an a l te~at ive  or assistance in one way or an- 
other to the remaining. ~, gang member, s once their leaders are off the 
street to help chvert those individuals out of the conmaunity, out of 

° 
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the gang scene to be productive citizens. Other law enforcement agen- 
cies just impact on tllc leaders and provide no other alternatives for 
thos~ involved in the ~an~ scene. Tlmt only just slows down the gang 
Drob-lem until the ga l~  lc~tders come backout  or new leaders surface. 
~)thcrs, like Los Angeles County, provide tile eoordim~ted law enforc.e- 
ment-probation approach, the program tlmt )ou were apprised of m 
Los Angeles. 

M:r. ~t  ECTER. IS there any other jurisdiction which has that  coordi- 
nated approach besides Los Angeles ? 

Mr. CASTA~X'EDA. That 's  tlle only one at that scale. Thel'e's other 
law enforcement agencies that provide--like, Stockton provides ~ pro- 
gram where the l~lice department assists gang members that want 
to get out of the gang scene, assistance in providing them jobs. 

~[r. SrECTER. What  is your cvahmtion of the coordinated program 
in Los Angeles? Good ? Bad ? lndill'erent ? 

Mr. CABT,~,NEDA. I have no opinion on that because I have not been 
working down there while the problem has been act, ually working, nor 
have I been exposed to it on the streets. 

Mr. SrEC'rEm Could you evaluate other juvenile gang violence pro- 
grams in other parts of the St~tte besides Los Angeles ? 

hll'. CASTANFDA. Ill  soIne areas, very positive. 
Mr. SrEO'rER. Where ? 
Mr. C,xs'rANEDA. Other areas just maintain control of the gang 

problem. 
Mr. SVEC'rER. Where is it very positive, Mr. Castaneda ? 
~'[1". C~*tSTANEDA. in Stln Joaquin County, it's very positive. 
Mr. Sr,~C'rER. What  do tile.), do in San Joaquin County ? _ 
~lr. C,XST,XNI'.I)A. San Joaquin did tile traditional approach of ~oing 

to, as the te,'m is used, -an, ,  bustin,~ after the heavy ~ang mcml)ers 
after  known committed off'eases were committed. After  incarcerating 
the heavy members, then they actively established tile unit within the 
police department to offer jobs to gang members and advertising. And 
gang members dropping out of the gang scene have been utilizing that 
program. 

Mr. SPECTER. ~qmn yOU say they proceed against the gang members 
in a hcavv fashion, are you suggesting tol,gher sentences? Longer 
periods of'incarceration ? 

Mr. CAST,~XE,)A. That ' s - - the court system is involved in that. I t  
involves probation, also. And the departments have established experts 
within their own jurisdictions. Stockton's, San Joaquin Comaty 
Sheriff's Office, and. 

~[I'. SPECTEIt. Ill SIIn Joaquin County, do the juvenile courts make 
any effort to get longer periods of incarceration ? 

Mr. CAs'r,~nEDA. Tim probation department does include tile infor- 
mation in tilt probation report on the ~ang members. They have the 
ve~¢cical gan~ prosecution pattern as Los Anffcles also has. 

]~'l:r. SPEC'rI.'.R. Well. do the law enforcement officers in San Joaquin 
make an effort to have lonzer periods of incarceration ? 

Mr. CAST,XXEn,X. The police officers--this falls in the realm of the 
probation, not the police. 

M:r. Srl.~c'~n. So the m'obation department has the responsibility to 
make the recommendation ? 

~'[r. CASTASEDA. Correct, as part of the presenttencing report. 
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~I'. SPECTER. In S~n Joaquin County, do they make a stronger 
effort for longer periods of incarceration ? 

Mr. CASTA~;,)A. Yes, they do. 
Mr. SPECTER. DO you think that is salutalT or helpful 
~ll'. CASTAI~,~EDA. I t  is helpful in the community in that the gang 

members see others in~ olved in the gang ending up incarcerated for 
longer terms in different programs, whether it be the county or youth 
authori ty or  the State prison~ and are reluctant to become deeper 
involved. 

hi,'. SPECT~:m On the deterrence issue, do you think it would be help- 
ful to have a specific term of incarceration announced as opposed to 
the indeterminate sentence ~ I know your system does not provide for 
a specific sesltence~ but would it be more useful for the deterrence of 
others if  there were a specific sentence ? 

Mr. H .x~s :  ~rell, you would have to go back in California and 
cha~lge the - - )ou  would hax e to change the whole juvenile court law 
and the Youthful  Offender Act in order to have a determinate sentence. 
From our standpoint, the basic philosophy is one of rehabilitation, 
and that ties into indeterminate sentences. So the s~hole structure in 
California would have to be changed at least in the juvenile court and 
the youth authorities if we went to determinate sentencing. 

Whether that  would bring about more desired results~ I suspect that 
in the older age offenders that it would. I 'm not so stH~ about those 
coming to us at a yomlger age through the juvenile court. But  I 
t h ink~my  opinion is that  probably determinate sentencing in some 
cases for older commitments to the youth authority might well be 
appropriate. 

~']'r. SPECTER. "~'~r]lat age would you use as a b~ak  point~ 
Mr. HAYES. Well~ the age now in California for when they become 

adults is at the age of 18. 
Mr. HA]~s. Yes. But  we're talking about the youth authority, com- 

mitment to the youth authority. It 's  not determinate at the youth 
anthority at the present ime. 

Mr. SI'EC'I'ER. AS to adults the sentences can be for specific terms; 
correct 

Mr. HAVF~. Yes, that is correct. 
Mr. Sm.'.CTE~m You say as to some juveniles below the age of 18 you 

think it would he desirable t ( > ~  
Mr. H A ~ s .  Well~ 
Mr. SPEC'rEm Let me finish my question. Didn't you say as to some 

juveniles below the age of 18 you think a determinate sentence would 
be desirable as an cxanmle to others ? 

Mr. l-InY~. I was talking about the Department of Youth Authori ty 
where we receive adults from the criminal cour± and they also are 
subjected to indeterminate sentencing if they come to the vonth au- 
thoi'ity~ not to the Department of Correction.~. And I~m tallying about 
that population being subjected to determinate sentencing~ and I was 
not tall¢ing about Jux enile'courts. 

Mr. SP~.C'rEm That population is already subject to a determinate 
sentence if they're prosecuted as adults when they're over 18 

Mr. :HAVES. And go to the Department of Corrections and not to 
the youth authority. 

O 
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Mr. SrECTEn. As to those under 18, do you think there would be any 
utility in having determinate sentences for an},, in that  age category, 
that is, under 18 

Mr. HAYEs. Across the board one---you know, we, again, accept kids 
down to the--could possibly a~cept kids down to the age of 8 years 
old. And  I 'm not willing to make that broad statement as far as the 
juvenile court is concerned. As far as determinate sentences, perhaps 
on certain cases depending on the--the age of the offender, his past 
history, his committing offense, on a select basis using some criteria, 
I would be in favor of determinate sentencing. 

i%~r. SPECTEm What  kind of criteria would you look for? 
Mr. Hx~:s .  Again, I would look for the age, sophistication level, 

prior offenses, things of that nature. 
Mr. SPEGTER. 1~l'. Castaneda, earlier you talked about providing 

jobs for  the gang members. Would you elaborate on that, please. You 
were talking about San Joaquin Cotmty. 

l~{r. CASTANEDA. San Joaquin County--E1 l%:[onte also has a similar 
type program. San Joaquin County is parallel to that where the 
specific section set u p i a n d  they call it  community outreach pro- 
g r a m i w h e r e  they advertised any individual involved in a gang scene 
that wants to get out of the gang scene, this unit will provide assist- 
ance providing funds, and they have a lot of contnets in different 
coxmnunity agencies, different businesses. 

l%~r. Sz'~=cvEm How successful are they in finding such jobs? 
Mr. CAST,~Enh. They've been very successful so ~ar. There's a lot 

of cooperation in the community in San Joaquin County, not just off 
by itself. 

Mr. S,'ECTF~n. What  is your evaluation of the success rate for those 
who are found jobs? 

Mr. CASTA,','En,~. Tile majority of them have stayed completely oHt 
of the gang scene, the ones that I have been exposed with. 

Mr. SI'F.,(3TER. Have any of the other counties ,lsed the San Joaquin 
model ? 

Mr. CASTANEDA. Yes. There's been---one other city used it. I 'm not 
aware of  their studies. Hay~vard is currently using the same type of 
program as El Monte, same type of pattern. 

Mr. S~ECTE,. Wha t  kind o~ assistance would you like to see the 
Federal Government provide, if any, Mr. Hayes, in this area~ 

Mr. H ^ ~ s .  We have not had an opportunity yet, Senator, to de- 
scribe our program and ]low we operate our gang program. I 'd like 
to do that, if I may, and then answer your question. 

Mr. S,ECTEa. Fine. 
Mr. HArms. Basically, what we developed--what the depnrtment 

developed in response to an incident that occ||rred in December 
197Y--that incident being a couple murders in our institutions down 
in southern California that were gang related--in 1978, we estab- 
lished the law enforcement commzmications team. At the current-time 
it consists of 16 institlltion coordinators, gang information coordi- 
nators, each institution having one, and three staff o,lt in the field, 
Mr. Castaneda being one, and two in southern California, the p,lrpose 
being to, as quickly as possible, iden t i~  gang members and gang mem- 
bers who come into our institution anrJ to track and follow these gang 
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members throughout the youth authority system on into parole; and, 
in addition to that, to communicate with la~ enforcement throughout 
the State what's ~oing on with these gang people, where they are, 
what their status nappens to be, and to exchange information: 

We found that  in this manner we're better able to cont,'ol the gang 
proble,~m in our hlstitutions and t~lso be of assistance to law enfo,'ce- 
ment as these people are paroled out on the streets. Mr. Castaneda 
mentioned to you that we meet our staff in the field, meet with ap- 
proximately 15 different law enforcement age,ales throughouV--each 
month~fo, ,  the purpos¢ of exchanging information. About 200 law 
enforcement ofilcem totally are involved in this process and, also, cor- 
rection workers, where we can meet and exchange intelligence-type 
information as one method of maintaining, control. 
• "Ihat procedure has been fairly successful in our institutions. ~Ve 
have not had any major, ma.jor ~ncidents since 1977. We are able to 
keep track of  and conf,'ont active gang membel~ as they start--or,  
if they start to display gang behavior in our institutions, they're im- 
mediately confronted with t~at. Majo," steps are taken to do something 
about their behavior if it continues. 

M,'. SPECTEm This relates to the aetLdties of gang members within 
the institutions only 

Mr. ]-L~YES. Yes, yes. This is our area. And, to the extent, then, that 
we are able to exchange this information with law enforcement, again, 
that has been most helpful. In addition to that, we provide training 
to law enforcement communit) groups about the gang phenomena and 
gang activities. Mr. Castaned~'t is one of our principal trainel~. 

And, he,'c again, we lack resources to expand this training. I believe 
that we put on--~htring the last year, we've been able to expose this 
type of training on approximately, 2,000 people. Our institutional 
coordinators work pat~ time. This is not their full-time job. I f  funds 
~.vere available, we would expand the program. We would have full- 
tlnlo coordmtttot~ in each of our institutions; we'd expand our staff 
out in the field for greater cooperation with law enforcement; and we 
would expand our tra.ining capability. That's where I would like to 
see resources, as far as the youth anthority is concet~ed. 

Mr. SPECTER. Hax e there" been any Federal grants in this area in 
the pas t  ? 

Mr. HA~,~s. No, there have not been, not to our knowledge. We have 
not been the reci~ie.nts. 

h'~l'. SPECTER. Have there been any applications for any such gra~nts 
to the old Law Enforcement Assistance Administration ? 

Mr. ]-Lx~'~:s. Not in this area, no. Not by the department, no. 
Mr. SPECTEm I f  you had an ideal situation with respect to space 

available re," the youth authority, how much space do you think you 
need in California? You say you have 5,815 m custody now~ How 
much sj~ace would be adequate in your judgment~ 

Mr. J-LxYF~s. I haven:t seen the recent projection "fi~,o'ures, [uld I 'm not 
reality able to- - to  respond to that, what our institutional needs will 
be in the future. At  the current time, because of the population shift 
in the youth authority and the bigger problem being with population 
of Ca.lifornia, you calt't take a look at one par t  of the system ; you have 
to cake a look at the total system. The Department of Corrections is 
far more crowded than the youth authority is. 

¢, 
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Mr. SPEC~R. What  is tile capacity of the Department of Correc- 
tions, i f  you know ? 

Mr. ]-IA~a;s. In the last projection figures, I saw that they were going 
up over 30,000. Mr. Castaneda, is that 3,our recollection 

]~r. CAS'rANEDA. Yes. 
Mr. :I-L~Y~=s. They probably, if they h~ve not already, will soon 

exceed 30,000. Now, they, of course, have the far more dangerous 
offenders than we do. So we've had to, as ~t total system, shift  some of 
our - - sh i f t  one of our major institutions to CDC. 

Mr. SI'FC'J~zm CDC means what~ 
~Ir. ]IA~-ES. The Department of Corrections. They will take over one 

of our major institutions in July  because of their crowding and prob- 
lem. That  in turn places a population problem on us, also. 

M:r. SrEc'n~m How big an institution arc they going to take over ? 
Mr. HA]~ES. I t  currently holds approximately 1,000. 
~ ' r .  CASTAN EDA. 1,200-bed institution. 
Mr. SrECTEm That 's  a secure institution ? 
Mr. HAYES. Yes ; it is. 
Mr. CASTANEI):X. Yes; it is. 
~[l'. SPECTER. That will make it a lot tougher fo r  you spacewise. 
Mr. HAYI.:s. I t  will make it a lot more difficult, 3 es. 
Mr. SI'I.:C','Em There have I)cen proposals from time to time to have 

the Federal Government eJlter into the picture of providing correc- 
tional facilitics~ jails. A few years back, there was a proposal in the 
Congress to have a very substantial jail building program in the 
neighborhood of $41/~ million. That  has been sidetracked in the current 
deficit problems in the budget. I take it you think that would be help- 
ful for Federal involvement if funds could be located ? 

Mr. :I:I,~vl.~s. Yes. Again, as we take a look at the total system, all of 
the facilities i.n California arc crowded, our CDC~ the Department of 
Corrections, the yol,th authority. And: then, as you go down in local 
level, you talk about jails. And there:s definitely a need for jail funds 
to improve the jail system in the State of California. 

~l ' .  SPECTER. On R local level, you're talking about detention, as well 
as short-term sentences ? 

Mr. HAw~. Yes, both. 
Mr. SrECTF.m Does the detention facility have pretty difficult 

overcrowding? 
Mr. H,XYES. They're experiencing the same burden as the rest of the 

system is. 
M:r. SrECTEa. That  is prior to trial ? 
Mr. HAYES. Yes. 
Mr. SPECTr:U. How about after trial on the lesser sentencing for the 

local agencies ? 
Mr. HA~:s. They tell me that their jail facilities are--are either at 

or operating over capacity. 
Mr. SrEC'rEm All right. Now, so I undel~tand you clearly, the fa- 

cilities for  corrections have a capacity of about 30.000. and for juve- 
niles in 16 institutions, it's about 5.800. And you're about to lose one of 
your  maximum security iuvenile institutions for 1,9~00 because of the 
need for  that st)ace for adults 

Mr. HAvEs. Yes. 
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Mr. SrECTr:a. Which is going to make it all the more difficult for 
juvenile------ 

Mr. HaYEs. That's true. 
Mr. SPECTER [continuing]. Detention facilities to accommodate the 

violent juvenile offenders. 
Mr. HAYES. That 's  true. 
hit'. Seac'rrm. How many secure facilities do you have among the 

5,800, if you know? I would think that 1,200 would be a big, big per- 
centage of the secure facilities. 

You're nodding yes, Mr. Castaneda. 
h'l'l'. CASTA:NEI)A. We have two major institutions that house our most 

violent and serious offenders plus the older youth trainhlg school. 
We're losing a 1,200-bed population of individual rooms. 

Mr. SPECTER. What is the capacity of the other secure facilities in 
the juvenile institutions besides the 1,200 facility~ 

hit'. C,xswa~E,)a. The other more secure institution, which is the 
Preston School of Industry that I was formerly investigator at, has 
two living units in the general population that are all individual rooms. 

h'[l'. SPEC'rEIL H o w  many individual rooms? 
Mr. CaSTarCEDa. There's 50 individual rooms in those living units. 

The others are a combination--mostly all open dorm. 
Mr. SPECTF~. ~'Vhat I 'm trying to get at is out of the 5.800 in 16 

institutions which 3ou currentl 3 have, how many of those spaces 
accommodate really hardcore violent juvenile offenders. 

Mr. HAal~s. "Well, if you talk to---if you talk to our line workers in 
the institutions, they would tell me that all the inmates ha there, all 
tim wards arc hardcore violent oll'endex.,~. It 's a matter of, if this is 
what your population has to be, you find a way to accommodate that 

2 , . 

population. And you go to a more rigid classlficatmn system. ]Vc'rc 
talking about now increasing our camp program so that by obtaining 
a couple more camps 

Mr. Sl'~Ca~R. When you talk about camps, you're not talking about 
an instit~,t, ion with secure walls~ 

Mr. HAr~:s. No. But our 16 fi~lre includes camps. 
~Ve have, what, six camps currently 
Mr. C,~STarCEr)A. Six camps. 
Mr. I-[aa~s. Of the 16 we have 6 camps currently. I f  we are able to 

obtain another camp or two camps, t, hen we'll go back into our in- 
stitt, tiomtl populalhon and reclassify the less serious offenders out of 
that and put them ira least secure facilities. 

]~{l" SPECTEI~. 13ut when you lose 1,200 s p a c e s - -  
Mr. ttAYES. Yes. That  is ~ significant number. 
]~r. SPECTER [continuing]. I t  sounds to me as though you're losing 

a significant part  of it. You may be losing most of it. 
Mr./-IA~ms. That 's  true. That 's  true. 
Mz:. SPECTER. I f  you have 6 of the 16 institutions in camps, you can't 

put tho violent offenders there who would find it easy or relatively easy 
tx) escape. I would be interested to know if you could refine further 
for me what that 1,200 figure represents on secure prison facilities 
because it sounds, at ]cast on the surface, as if you're losing a tre- 
mendous amount of your secure facilities on the necessity to shift  1,200 
to the adult prison. 
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Mr. HAYES. You have to understand that the adult Department of 
Corrections will house more than 1,200 inmates in that  facility. 

Mr. SPECTER. Because they can put  more than one to a cell ? 
Mr. HAYES. Yes, that's right. 
~ r .  SPECTER. How many will they hol~se? 
~'~r. HAYES. I 'm not sure what their tot~tl population will be, but 

it will increase that population at that institution because they will 
double cell. 

Mr. SPECTER. Are there plans for additional prisons to be built in 
California ? 

Mr. I-L~-ES. Yes, there are plans for that. 
Mr. SPECTER. How many and how soon~ if you know ? 
Mr. HAYr:s. I imagine it would take at ~ minimum, if they could 

start  today, 5 years to bring a bed on the Ibm. And I 'm not. 
Mr. SPECTE,. Ho~ does that comport with the move against taxa- 

tion and the budget crunch which you have in Sacramento? 
h{r. HAYES. Well, obviously~ it's going to put a crunch on that. 
l~{r. SPECTER. ]-~as there been an authorization for additional prison 

facilities 
Mr. HAYES. I 'm not sure what the status of that is for increased beds, 

prison beds. 
Mr. S1"ECTER. Well, thank you very much, Mr. Hayes and Mr. Casta- 

neda. Is there anything you would like to add at this time ? 
Mr. HAYES. No. 
Mr. SPECTER. We appreciate very much your coming. 
Mr. HAYEs. Wc appreciat~ very much the opportunity to testify. 

Thank you. 
i~I1". ~PECTER. Thank you. I f  you could provide any additional in- 

formation as to how that removal of the 1,200 units is going to impact 
on the youth authority, I would be very interested to know. I would be 
very interested in that figure. 

Mr. CASTANEDA. The one part  there--Z would like to include, even 
though we're losing the 1,200 beds, one of the options we have within 
the law is that we can house youth authority wards under its jurisdic- 
tion in tr department Of corrections facility. So we would probably 
leave the most violent offenders under department of corrections' 
jurisdiction, evcJ~ though they're youth authority wards. 

Mr. SP~:CTER. So you may not use the 1 ~ 2 0 0 ~  
Mr. CASTANEDA. We would not lose the 1~9,00 per se. 
l~r. SPECTEI~. YOU may lose 1,200 beds, but you may send the adult  

unit  some of the occupants of the beds ? 
Mr. CASTAm~nA. Correct. 
Mr. SPECTr:R. That  may be, then, a paper transaction. 
Mr. HAY'ES. :In some cases. 
Mr. Ĉ ST,X,W~=DA. In a sense. But  we do have right now approximately 

25 youth authority wards in the departmeut of correction facilities 
because they have--they have depleted our resources within the youth 
authority. 

Mr. SPECTEn. Depleted the resources m e a n i n g ~  
Mr. CASTANEDA. Right. 
~lr. SPECTER [continuing]. You've used all your space ~. 
Mr. C~STA~EDA. NO, the progxams we ]lave, and they've been so 

violent, yet  not violent enough to be tried under a new criminal offense 
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within our institutions. So they're housed in the department of 
corrections. 

Mr. SVECTEm In the adult facilities ? 
~'[I'. CASTANEDA. Yes. 
~1'. SPECTER. Thaalk you very much, hit'. Castaneda. 
District Attorney s'mith h]ls arrived. ~'Vc welcome you here, Mr. 

Smith. We appreciate your coming today to assist this subcommittee 
in our in.quiry into the problems of juvenile offenders and how that 
impacts dwectly on adult crimes and on the tremeudous range of prob- 
lems which you have as tile chief law enforcement officer in a big 
metropolitan area like San Francisco. I hnvc had experience myself in 
a similar line, lmving been district attorney in Philadelphia from 1966 
to 1974, and I hax e some understanding of your problems and of the 
time pressures which you face. So we arc very grateful for your com- 
ing, and we look forward to your testimony. 

STATEMENT OF ARLO SMITH, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, SAN FRAN- 
CISCO, ACCOMPANIED BY LENARD LOUIE, ASSISTANT DISTRICT 
ATTORNEY 

~ r .  S)I:ITH. Thank you very much, Senator. I appreciate being 
invited to attend this bearing, and I have with me Lenard Louie, who 
is assistant district attorney in charge of one of our felony teams and 
also is the person who works most closely with the gang task force 
here in San Francisco. 

As you know, San Francisco is a unified city and county, lVe have 
one government that haaldles both what would ])e the normal problems 
of a city and county, a unified government. So we have one police 
department, a sheriff's office who handles only the correctional prob- 
lems plus the problems of bailiff and service of civil process and no 
criminal enforcement responsibilities. So that does give us one advan- 
tage in terms of planning and unifying law enforcement efforts 
between the .police department and the district attorney's office. 

But  we are a core city of approximately 700#00 with all the prob- 
lems of a core city. Because we have the individuals who float into 
San Francisco--and I don't want to insult anybody present but, 
when they come from Chicago o1" they're sent from Los Angeles or 
whatever it may be, they don't want to go to San Jose. They end up in 
San Francisco. 

And we also have a unique history. We have a history of diversity. 
Our pol)ulation in San Francisco is approximately 25 percent Asian, 
121/.o percent black, and 121/2 percent Latinos. The Latinos in this 
city are principally Central Americans, rather than Mexican Amer- 
icans. And, of course, we ]lave a cross-segment or section of all other 
groups from Europe. 

Our diversity is not something new. Of course, the Latins were 
in California for 200 ),cars. The Chinese Americans ha~e,- been here 
for many generations, going back at least 120 years. Many of the 
problems that wc now face in San Francisco in terms of ' juveni le  
gangs have occurred very recently, as I 'm sure Inspector McKenna, 
who is one of the outstanding authorities on youfll gangs in this 
State, probably the country, has told you, principally is as a result 

D 
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of the new groups coming into California from Hong Kong and 
Taiwan and from Southeast Asia, Vietnam--Vietnamese are basi- 
cally, however, ethnic Chinese, but culturally different--Vietnam, 
Cambodia, and other Southeastern nations. 

So we have seen a strong increase in the Asian gang problem in the 
last 15 or 20 years in San Francisco. In spite of tha t - - I  don~t think 

, we should overemphasize f l m t i w e  have what I call in San Francisco 
tL magnificent diversity of peoples. And we get along very well. We 
have problems of youth gangs, of course, that reflect a problem that 
probably has existed and has in fact existed in many cities and coun- 
ties throughout this State and throughout the country over the yea~-s. 

I 'd  like to first give you kind of a quick overview of the law iuvolv- 
ing juvenile and adult crimes and then how we handle it here in San 
Francisco in terms of the process and, thirdly, how I 'd like to see it 
handled. And, finally, I 'd  like to talk about some of the Federal 
programs. 

Now, the htw in California be tweenIwe  have the basic 18-year-old 
cutoff between adult and minor crimes. The juvenile court authority 
is up to the age 18. Above that, at 18 and above, it's adult jurisdiction. 
However,  there have been a number of amendments recently. And 
in California we have a statute, section ~07 of the Welfare ant] Insti- 
tutions Code, that provides that the district attorney may make a 
motion to have a 16- or 17-year-old tried as an adult ~n a certain set 
of offenses. Basically, they are violent crimes. They are robbery with 
a ~mm, assault, attempted murder, murder, rape, those types of serious 
offenses. 

There have been some changes to make clear the standard for the 
judges at least as to certain of these offenses. And we have vigor- 
ous ly~ the  policy--well, I'll get into that later. 

Fif teen and below, they must be tried in the juvenile court. Between 
16 and 17 in serious offenses, they are tried in the j~venilfi court bas- 
ically, but  they may be tried in the adult court on the basis of a motion 
by the district attorney's office. Over 18 they are tried in the adult 
court. 

Now, what in fact happens in terms of the wa~y it actually operates 
is that, of course, there's an arrest made of • juvenile; that case is 
brought to the juvenile probation department; and they, under the 
statute, refer that case, if they feel it wmlld be a proper case, to the 
district attorney for the filing of a petition in the juvenile court; the 
district attornc'.v's office files that  petition and then procecds to take 
the case to a hearing in that court, or, as I said, we may make the 
motion to have that case tried as a adult if, in fact, the age is 16 or 17 
in the serious violent case. 

I t  has been the policy of the San Francisco district attorny's office 
to try all serious violent crimes committed by 16- and 17-year-olds in 
tim adult  court. And that polic:v has been am~ounced by myself. I par- 
t icularly became concerned about the attitude and the perception of 

"" the young people in this city in a case l~own here as t'he Debra Chin 
case. She was a young woman coming out of night school, and she was 
kidnapped by four youn~ people--it  wns not a youth ~aug--but  these 
four .voun.~ people. She was robbed, kidnaped, raped, shnt, ran over, 
and left  for dead. And one of those young people said to the police 
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inspector, "For  this I may get log cabin, which is the equivalent of 
1 year in tlle county juvenile facility. 

I wanted to make it clear that  anyone who engages in that kind of 
violence ill this city will be tried as all adult and will be treated as an 
adult by tlle courts. 

M'r. SPEG'FER. How old was that person 
Mr. S~ttWH. There were a group of them. They were 16 and 17, all 

four of them. There were, I believe, two 16 and two 17. 
And, of course, that motion was granted and, in fact, they were 

tried and convicted and received under our determinate sentence laws 
sentences running between 40 and 60 years each. And I, personally, 
made the appearance there, not for the purpose of any showmanship, 
but to be sure that the word got out so there would be more coverage 
so the word got out to the young people that  was out" policy. 

We've had that  policy in a number of other cases and inc]eed had to 
take some on appeal, which we won. I t  makes it cleat" now that in those 
kinds of violence, the juvenile judge has very little alternative but 
to have that case .set over for the adult court. 

~'r. SPECTER. In cases where the juvenile judge had declined your 
m o t i o n ~  

Mr. Smwm Yes. We took a case where the judge had declined the 
motion, and, actually, the district attorneys pm~ued the appeal, and 
I won't go into tile reason why we had to pursue it. But  I, with my 
experience, decided that that was the right com,se to take, and it turned 
out to be the right course. The judge was reversed. So the standard is 
set that those kinds of serious violence, t~gardless of all the other 
standards set out in the statute, the judge is virtually compelled to 
send that  case to the adult court. 

~.Vhen they get to the adult corn% those cases are handled in the 
fashion I baslcally, of an adult case. In California we have what we 
call a preliminary examination, rather than a grand jury. They must 
be brought before the judge and have a minitrial to determine 
whether or not there is probable cause to hold him to answer. It 's also 
a discovery technique for the defense counsel with cross-examination, 
additional witnesses, et cetera. And then they are held for the felony 
trial. And that  is the procedure that we follow both for adults and for 
the juveniles who are sent to the adult court. 

Mr. SeECTF.a. There is no grand jury. in California? 
Mr. S~nTH. We have a grand jury, but under California law, if you 

indict someone under the ga'and j u r y ~ a n d  we still use it as an investi- 
gative tool, particularly here in San Francisco. And we brought some 
130 indictments last 3,eat'. But, if the defendant demands a prelimi- 
na~3, examfnation, you must also hold a preliminary examination 
under some theol 7 of our Californi~L Supreme Court, which is unique 
to California. So you cannot avoid it if tile defendant demands it. And 
then we proceed to the trial. 

What  we need and what I 'd like to see is a system whereby w e ~  
I might say before I get into that  that there are some differences in 
terms of the nature of tlm case, for example, if tlm case is in fact a 
homicide. In certain other offenses, we have in San Francisco what 
we call vet¢ical teams, a homicide team that  handles that  case from 
start to finish. As you know, it is vertical prosecution where one prose- 
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tutor  takes the case from the be~nning and handles it to the end. But 
most o f  the casesiassault ,  robbery, and those cases---are handled with 
different teams of lawyers. We'd have one in the juvenile court, one 
in tim preliminary corn% and another one in the--at  the felony trial 

• stage. AJld, of course, that  has a particularly bad effect on the kinds of 
juvenile gang cases, and we tr) to separate them out to the extent 
tlmt we can. ~3ut, of course, it's a question of staffing, aad it becomes 
a serious problem. 

Mr. SPECTEm HOW many assistant DA's do you have ? 
l~lr. S~ttTH. Well, I have 90. But, incidentally, we just happen to be 

tho most understaffed district attorney office m the bay area, if not 
the State. 

l~r. SPECTER. HOW many do you think you need ? 
Mr. S~rrrH. Well, we 'd  need at least'25 percent more. Most other 

counties comparable have more than we do. For example, in San 
Francisco, each felon), complaint we handle costs approximately $800. 
In otlmr bay are~ counties, other metropolitan counties, the average is 
like $1,600. 

Mr. SeECTEm HOW many counties are there in the bay area ? 
Mr. S~trrlr. Well, if you speak of it geographically, we speak of nine 

counties, but there are five of what you call really metropolitan San 
Francisco--Alameda, San Mateo, Santa Clara, Contra Costa, Maria. 
The bay area has approximately 51/~ million people as a whole. So wc 
do have some constraints. 

I would like to see a system whereby we had in addition to Lcnard 
Louie here, who works with the gang task force and, in fact, in the 
felony area personally handles many of the gang-related cases, youth 
gang-related cases that are brought to the adult court, as I say, except 
for the vertical prosecution cases, and he attempts to supervise and to 
guide those cases from an early point in the case--and I 'd like to see 
more vertical prosecution--I don't want to use the word here--but 
more individual ease handlinff by the prosecutor from start to finish in 
these cases. And I 'd  like to see it at the juvenile level where we have 
many of these cases, and many of these cases are handled by the staff 
out there and then are brovghi~ into the adult court. And there are a lot 
of reasons for that. We have special witness problems, as you know, 
with these kinds of cases. The witnesses a r e I t h e y  have language prob- 
lems. We have .problems of their unwillingnaess to cooperate due to cul- 
ture differences and also due to their concern. The police and the 
prosecution in South Vietnam may not have been what it is here. They 
expect it  will be like it was there. It 's  a different kind of orientation. 
And there's also the fear that the witnesses have. That 's why it's 
important  to identify these cases early, to proceed with them by the 
same prosecutor. 

A classic example: Not long ago we had a case involving a youth 
gang where the-- they came into the preliminary examination and 
attempted to stare down the victim and tim witnesses. And, finally, the 

• day before the trial, the night hefore the trial was set, they fired a shot 
" through the front ~ indoor--someone fired a shot through" the window. 

I shouldn't  sav "they" because we don't know. I think we can iJafer 
someone on hehalf of the defendant shot through the front window of 
the victim's house--home--the night before the trial. 
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So I think tha t  we need to handle those witnesses in a different way. 
We need to spend more time with the,n. We ,mcd to know the back- _. 
ground. We need to have some liaison, carcfnl liaison between the 
police gang task f o r c e - -  

Mr. S,'J.:CTEm Did that victim whose living room was invaded with 
the shot come forward and testify ? "" 

Mr. S~ttwm Yes, they did come forward. 
Mr. SP.I~C'I~R. Good. 
hlr. S~ttTH. They did come forward and testify. But those are the 

ki,lds of ~)roblems of fear and of cultural differences that we do face 
that  require tL different kind of handling. And, ha fact, I" would like 
to sec Federal programs that would encourage experimentation in this 
field. I know a lot of people are ~ cry critical of LEAA,  and there may 
be much to criticize in that  program. But there have been many, many 
excellent programs that have arisen as a result of the experimentation 
in LEAA. At  least the career criminal program is one which has been 
most effective not only ha Sali Francisco, but in California statewide. 

Mr. SI'ECTEm Has your office received Federal grants in the past, 
Mr. Smith ? 

Mr. S~t~w~. Yes. We've received criminal grants, and we received 
special prosecution grants. We received victi,n-witness grants. And 
all of those programs are now being funded by the county of San 
F, 'aneisco--"ad valol'em taxes" we call them, tax moneys and- 

Mr. SP,~CTER. Career criminal, and what else? 
Mr. S~ttT1.t. Special prosecution, victim-witness, and, actually, a 

fotn~h, family violence. 
Mr. S"ECTEm Could you describ~ each one of those briefly as to the 

grants which were received by the San Francisco DA's office? 
Mr. S~ttwtt. Yes. The career crimhaal program, which is probably 

the ,nest sucessful throughout the :Natron, is a program x~hmh is de. 
sig~led to identify and specially handle cases involving criminals who 
are making tL career out of crime. And those cases are identified first 
by the police departnaent and their special unit and brought to the 
dlstrmt attorne) s office. Basmally, it revolves an individual who has 
committed a series of crimes or an individual who has committed 
fewer crimes with a long past record. 

And I ml~.ht s~y at this pohat that the woman who is in charge 
of our juvenile division, an assistant district attonmy by the name of 
Nancy Stretch, works in the career criminal program, and she advises 
me, as well as the other members of that program, that  most of the 
individuals who they see with this kind of past record have serious 
juvenile records, as well as adult records, when they receive the case. 
And the object, of course, is to handle those cases, as we said, verti- 
cally, to handle-- to let one assistant or deputy handle the case from 
stal% to finish, to obtain--to resist ~my bail, maximize the bail, to 
maximize the penalties, and to, of com~e, assure conviction. We~vc 
been very succe~ful in all of those, as have the programs around the 
State and the Nation. . .  

Mr. SPECteR. M". Smith, my experience as a prosecutor was similar 
to yours ha deft,ling the career criminal problem, and has led me to 
propose legislation at the Federal level, which was passed by the Con- 
gress last year~ but was pa,~ of a package of seven bills which the 
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President vetoed because he dicbdt like one of the bills on the drug co- 
"" ordinator. And the legislation which I had introduced and which has 

been r~introduccd in this session, S. 52, provides that  where someone 
, has been convicted of two or more robberies or burglaries and is 

.- charged with a subsequent robbery or burglary with a firearm that  
there would b~ jurisdiction in the Federal coux% to t ry that  person~ 
given agreement between the district attorney and the U.S. attorney, 

• with a maudatoh'y minimum of 15 years in jail. We had patterned 
that  after  the Habitual Offendel~ Statutes which are present in some 
44 States providing for a life sentence where someone was convicted 
of either three or four major felo,~ies. But we had compromised it to 
15 years because of the view of some that  a life sentence was too harsh 
under those circumstances. 

This legislation has been endorsed by the National District Attor- 
neys Association once we had the amendment, which has caused some 
interesting controversies as to requiring local concurrence with the 
U.S. attorney's office. We're between a rock and a hard place on that 
issue becatlse the attorney general doesn't like it. He wants the au- 
thority. The National District Attorneys Association felt that there 
ought to be agreement between the U.S. attorney and the district 
attorneys, which I personally believe to be the preferable course. There 
is widespread understanding that there ure plenty of cases to go 
around. Nobody is going to be fighting over them. There may be an 
unusually celebrated case, ~tnd, in tJmt event, my own sense'is that 
it's the local prosecutor's option. He ought to have it. I f  the local 
prosecutors could handle all the cases, my view is they ought to he, idle 
them. 

But  one of the things I 've lookecl toward here, again, based on my 
experience, if I, as DA, could haxe sent a half dozen cases to the 
Federal prosecutor where those defendants wotfld have known they 
would be getting 15-year sentences on an individual judge~s calendar, 
speedy trial, it woulcl have induced 50 other career crimblals to enter  
guilty please in the State courts and get a much lesser sentence, but 
at least it would move the cases along. 

Mr. S~tIv~. Not in our State courts. 
Mr. SPEc'r~. No ? 
Mr. S~[rr~. No. 
Mr. SPECTEm Why not 
Mr. S~wrm We would charge those priors, and we'd add those on 

under State law. 
Mr. SPECTEm HOW mlnch of a 
Mr. S]~[IT]L Ill fact, we don't even have to prove under prop S that 

they served time in a State prison and the fact they've been convicted 
of a felony. We can add all those on. 

]~r. SPECa~:R. HOW fast can you try those? 
Mr. S~IITH. We try them in San Francisco; we have very probably 

one  of the--I~m brag~ng.  
." Mr. SPECTER. Fine .  

Mr. S~TTII. But  the fact of the matter is, from start to finish in 
a custody case--I 'm talking about from the arraignment~ first arraign- 
ment, in mnnicipal court--approximately 68 days. 

Mr. SPECWR. In a custody case ? 
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Mr. S~trrH. In a custody case. In a noncustody case, it will run- -  
thc averagc is going to be closer to 100 days. So that we bring t h o s e - -  

Mr. SPECTER. DO you have sufficient judges to try your criminal 
cases 

Mr. S~tITH. Yes, we do. And we also have the policy of our superior 
court, which is a master calendar system--they have a policy off  not 

~ ranting any continuances, taking--accepting an3, waivem of the 
efendants, time waivel~s, beyond 60 days unless tl~ere is a very sub- 

stantial reason like a scrious health problem of the attorney. No con- 
flicts and not the usual excuses that are given for waiving time and 
continuing area accepted. And, in effect, in San Francisco, the people 
get what the constitution provides in California, a speedy trial, as 
well as the defendant. 

Mr. SPEC'~R. So tim average trial time is 100 days in criminal cases, 
you're saying? 

Mr. S~rtTrl. Lass than that. 
Mr. SPECTF~. Less than 100 days? How much less 
Mr. S~rITH. I 'm just dividing between t h e - -  
Mr. SvEcan~m Between the custody c a s e s ~  

S.~HTH. I'm separating out between the custody and noncustody ~1'. 
cases. 

Mr. SPEGTER. W]l a t . -  
Mr. S.~t~Trr. In fact, they set them--when they come in after the 

preliminary examination, then they are arraigned in superior court, 
and they are set on the calendar 5 weeks down the line. So you can 
see how it is very speedy, as it should be, both for tile defendant and 
for the people. 

Mr. SPECTER. Are you are to say approximately how man), cases 
you try a year  out of your office~ 

Mr. S~rlTIL Oh, approximately 200 jury trials. 
]~r. SPFGTER. Approximately 200 jury trials. 
Do you have many nonjury trials? 
Mr.'S~rITH. lVe have some, not too many. These are Superior Court 

trials. I 'm not talking about misdemeanor trials now. I 'm talking 
about superior court felony trials. 

h~r. SPECTER. Would you have an approximation as to how many 
noniur~ trials there are? 

Mr. 'S~nTJ:r. Not too many. There are some of them occasionally 
submitted on the transcript, some of them snl)mit, ted on--well,  basi- 
cally on the transcript of the preliminary examination. 

~f[l'. SPECTER. Are  there  a great many of guilty pleas? 
Mr. S~riTrr. Oh, yes, tremendous number of guilty pleas. As you 

know, in any system tlm number of guilty pleas are the high per- 
centage of tile cases. 

h~l'. SPECTER. Could you give me an approximation as to what per- 
centage that is? 

Mr. S~rrT~r. It 's got to be--it 's  got to be over 90 percent; 90 per- 
cent--it 's  around there. 

~1". SPECTER. Would you say tile sentencing is adequate when you 
come to the violent offenders, as a generalization 

Mr. S~rlWH. Yes, absolutely. In San Francisco it is-- i t  is very deft- 
nitely Ndemmte. In fact, in San Francisco in the last fiscal ycar, we 
committed to the State prison 1,056 persons. I f  you call see on the 
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statewide basis since we represent less than--we represent about 4 
percent of the population, it would be--if  it were done at that  rate 
on a stutewide basis, there would be about 50 percent more people ill 
the State prisons than as I thhak there are. 

l~r. SI'ECTER. We had testimony earlier today about tile Cnlifol"aia 
State prisons being full to capacity and about to take over some 
juvenile facilities. 

Mr. S~tI'rl~. Yes. 
Mr. SPECTFJL How does that situation impact, if at all, on the 

judge's sentencing or t h e ~ - -  
Mr. S~tiTlt. I don't believe it lms any impact oa the San Francisco 

judges. 
MI'. SPECTER. They simply sentemce them 
Mr. S~ttTrt. They simply sentence them. That  has been a problem 

in California as you--we have not increased the capacity of our State 
at'ison system for over 20 years. Population has gone up 50 percent. 
'ime has gone up a hundred percent. We simply have lind and do 

have inadequate jail facilities due to--~.nd I 'm not going to place 
blame anyplace. ]3ut the fact of the matter is, in 20 years with all of 
this tremendous increase in population and in crime, there has been no 
addition. And the public in Californit~ recognized that  mid indeed 
have made a strong statcment in support of strong law enforcement by 
voting, first, in tim ,Iune election last year for a State bond issue to 
build more State facilities and in the November election voting for a 
bond issue to assist in building and refurbislaing and adding on the 
county j a i l  facilities, as well as passage of other propositions. 

Mr. SPECTEa. Were there dollar figures on those bonds 
Mr. S~t'rt:t. I 'm not sure offhand. I could get them for you. I think 

one was 350 million, and the other I 'm not positive of. I can get those 
numbers. 

~[r. SPECTER. DO yOU think that  it would be useful from your point 
of view to see this Federal career criminal statute enacted .~ Would it 
be of any assistance to you ? 

Mr. S~wrrt. Basically, to me, no. We are currently funded by-- in  
California there's funding from the State for approximately more 
than 50 percent of the career criminal efforts. And the rest are funded 
by the city. And the problem of separating out these cases, I th ink--  
you know, we handle them. And, of course, our criminal cases im olve 
more than simply robbery and burglary. They involve a number of 
other offenses, althougla those are the two major cases. But the State 
statute has broadened the kinds of eases that can be included in the 
career criminal program. 

Mr. SPECTEm The effort on the Federal level was to limit it as much 
as ,~ossible, just tMdn¢, the two The maior felonies of arson and rape 
and raise and homicide were dehberately e x e l u d e d ~  

Mr. ~t'IT~t. Yes. 
Mr. SPECT~R [continuing]. To try to narrow the confines as much as 

possible to the two principal crimes of violence. 
Would you have an opinion as to the desirability of such n statute 

on tim national level 
Mr. S ~ .  I think that  it would serve on the national level. The 

situation may be far  different than in other States. AJtd I found out 
long time ago in working with the State legislature aud nay expert- 
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enee in tlle State attornev general's office, that you can't have one solu- 
tion, as I say, for Los 'Angeles  Comity and" the same solution for 
Modoc County or, for that matter, for S~m Francisco and Los Angeles 
because the problems arc different; the situation is different. And I 'm 
confident tlmt that is also true when you take that in terms of metro- ; 
politan areas or in terms of States around the Nation. 

Mr. SPEc'll':m So you think that the career criminal statute I 've 
described to you on the Federal level would be appropriate even 
though it wouldn't  necessarily have any applicability to your local 
situation ? 

Mr. S~ttTrr. Yes, that's correct. 
Mr. SPECTr:R. You stal~ed to describe, Mr. Smith, the other Federal 

programs. H o w  was the special prosecution program fashioned 
]~'~r. SMITm I t  was fashmncd with a team of lawyers working with a 

team of investigators and other assistants to look into, basically, 
organized-crime type activity and corruption cases involving govern- 
mental ottices. 

~'[r. SPECTER. HOW did that  work? 
Mr. SI~[ITH. That has worked excellently. In fact, we're just un- 

fortunate it's more work than that unit can handle. And we work 
closely with the Federal strike force. And, in the State of California, 
we have a unit in the State attorney general's office which is com- 
parable to the strike force idea, and  we work with those--both of 
those units, although nmst of out. efforts, of course, involve San 
Francisco problems.,  

Mr. SPECTEm DO ~ ou recall what the amount of these grants have 
been ? 

Mr. S~Trr .  Roughly, I think in the case of special prosecution, 
around $360,000. But  this goes back 3 yeats. With inflation you've got 
to add to it. And, in the case of career criminal, I think it was approxi- 
mately $250,000. 

Mr. SPECTER. And what was t h e - - - -  
Mr. S~rITH. The ci ty--go ahead. 
Mr. SrEcTEn. What  was the essential par t  of the victim-witness 

grant ? 
Mr. S~EITH. Our efforts right now in career criminal with the State 

and the city nmneys is about ,eM~50,000. 
Mr. SP~CTEn. Would you describe briefly what programs you had 

under the Federal grants for victim-witness and family violence. 
Mr. S~twrr. Yes. We had a victim-witness program to provide what 

should have been done for many, mal.ly yea~,  as the victims have been 
literally the most forgotten person m our whole system of criminal 
ttlstice , as you're well aware. And it provides a number of services. 

is aimed at, No. 1, assisting the witness in terms of the State victim 
compensation law so they can apply. I t  assists them immediately if 
they have any kind :fft~,elle,~mrgency problem and require help, if  
the'y've been ~'obbed "" ast dollar, to see if we can direct them 
to the proner a=encies Or indeed, we have also a small fund called - 
frmnds of victims, in which we can assist them in small ways. 

Also, of course, it's to advise them of the---of what they can antici- 
pate in court so it isn't a complete mystery to them and to bring them, . 
1.f necessary, to---to provide transportation to court for somebody who 
is able or somebody who is disabled or elderly. And we'd have a wit- 
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ness room. It 's very inadequate, but, nevertheless, it is a place where 
the victim or a witness can come in San Francisco in tile MII of justice 
and not have to sit out in the hall and be confronted by the- -by  the 

I individual who mugged them. 
Mr. SVECTEn. How about the family violence program 1. 
Mr. SmTH. The family violence j~rogram is one that is particularly 

new, and it is a program which is ammd at - -a t  looking at family 
violence across the spectrum. As you kJlow, the problem is one that, 
in my jtidgmcnt, is one of those j)roblems that has bcen neglected by 
both the police department and the 1)rosecutor's office for mall),, many 
~¢ears. And one of the most ditlicult things confronting a police officer 
is a family dispute because he gets in the middle of a very serious 
dispute that changes sides. 

We do a number of things: No. 1, we had a number of educational 
programs with the police department and the socia} agencies and, 
indeed, the identification in San Francisco of family ~ iolence cases in 
the area. In our survey, it has gone up 60 percent, i t ' s  simple identi- 
fication. ~qlen those cases are identified, the family violence project 
will provide again counseling, will provide shelter, if they need it, 
direct tlmm to the appropriate agencies, and will indeed serve as a 
support  system when they go into court. 

As you know, frequently, those victinls change their mind for a 
number of reasons. ~Ve also have a service for the batterer, which is 
normally the spouse or the lover, whatever the situation may be, in 
which we provide direct counseling or direct them to other agencies. 
And the program has been a tremendous success. And, in fact, the State 
attorney general's office, Governor Deukanejian, cited it as a model in 
the State  of California. And, in fact, the San Francisco Foundation 
gave it a separate grant for excellence in the past year. And it is a 
program that breaks tip that cycle. 

As you know, the cycle of violenc c~--~, it is clear that it goes from 
generation to generation when )ou hax e that kind of violence in the 
family. Also, there is a great relationshilp between high degree o f - -  
degree of  relationship between violence m families and violence on 
the street. 

Mr. SVECTEI~. Mr. S m i t h -  
Mr. Smwr~. I f  we can do something about that problem, I think 

that it's one of those core problems in crime that we need to address. 
~'[1'. SPi.:crrEll. Oil the issue of calendar control and speed of I)rosecu- 

tion, to yollr lmowledge, is there ally significant problem ill California, 
perhaps in the adjacent counties, on speed of bringing criminal cases 
to trial 

Mr. SmTir. I think in tile bay area it's fa i r ly-- fa i r ly  fast. I know 
that in some of the counties--in'Los Angeles they have a serious prob- 
lem in both civil and criminal cases. 

Mr. Srv.zrEm In Philadell)hia we had a tremendous problem of 
inadequacy of the number of jud.,res, courtrooms, and assistant DA's  
and voluntary defenders so that there were, mffortunately, occasions 
when someone out on bail would be charged with other offenses. Is that 
a common problem that you have here ? 

• Mr. S~fTl:[. Well, I d o n ' t I I  don't think the problem relates to the 
speed of  trial. It 's not at all an uncommon problem to have the person 
bailed seek--well, go out and commit another crime for whatever rea- 
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son, particularly the crime he's been accused of. Robbery is a classical 
examp]e. 

h'[l'. SPEGTER. IS it realistic in your opinion to shorten the time of 
trial to deal with the problem of a person on bail who is charged with 
other offenses? ~ .~ 

hfr. S~t~TIt. Well, I think in San Francisco we-- i t  could b e I i t  
would shortened. There's very little area in which we could shorten it 
any more because we have to br ing--from the original arraignment, 
you have 10 days to bring it to prelim. Then you've got--we have 15 
days to file t!m informat(on, 10 days to get it to the superior court~ and 

ten they-- then it must be tried in 60 (lays. And the judges follow the 
rule~ the statute. In fact~ it is very difficult to get a waiver beyond the 
60 days in which we :nust bring them to trial. 

]~r. SPEGTER. How about the issue of  
Mr. S~tiT1:t. I~m sure we could shorten it~ but  I don't think 

significantly. 
]~fi'. Sl,nCTrm. HOW about the issue of revoking bail ? That's a matter 

which we're now debating in the Congress, ~md the Senate did pass a 
law. In some places it is known as preventative detention. I f  there is a 
particularly dangerous individual~ there can be a motion to deny bail. 
What  is your feeling on that subject ? 

hfr. S~tlTH. We did have along with proposition 8 last y e a r i p r o p  8 
had a differcJlt procedure, but there was another proposition, proposi- 
tion 4, that was voted by the people that basically has the notion of 

] )reventative detention. I f  indeed the individual is-- if  you can prove 
tis dangerousness, you can set--deny bail. 

h'[r. SPFGTER. DO you a~'ee with that proposition 
3'Ir. S~HTH. ~Ve--I agree with that proposition. The procedures-- 

it's fairly limited, and we have no t - - I  think we:ve only made a couple 
of requests so far. 

hit'. Sm.:C'rEm So that was passed on a referendum under your 
s y s t e m - -  

h~r. SMrrH. On an initiative. I~m sorry. That  was-- that  was a 
change with the legislature put to--not  an initiative by the people, but 
a constitutional change which the legislature placed before the people. 

hIr. SeECTER. Originated in the general assembly 
l~fr. S~tTTI[. Right. 
hfr. SeE(TEa. And then the people passed it 
l~lr. S~ttTH..Right. 
Mr. SrECTEa. And then that becomes law ? 
l~fr. S~ITI[. That 's  correct. 
h'fr. SeE(TEa. And that law provides certain standards where you 

can hold people without bail 
]~Ir. S~tIT~. That 's correct. 
Mr. SeECTF~. Pending trial~ 
Mr. S~[rm[. That 's correct. 
]~fr. Sen(TEa. You used it in a limited number of cases? 
Mr. S~TH.  Yes. It 's limited in its definition. "- 
h'Ir. SeEc'rFm. Can you give me an example where you have used it? 
hfr. S~TH.  We asked ~or it in a case where the individual had 

murdered his wife, his spouse. They were separated, divorce proceed- 
ing. They made threats to h a v e I t o  other persons aimed at the daugh- 
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ter, whom subsequently we arranged to have sent back to the_grand- 
mother in Illinois or Ohio. I forgot what the State was now. In that  
case we sought it, and the judge in that  case granted a very, very 
high bail. 

Mr. SPECTEm He did not deny bail 
Mr. S~ITH. No. 
Mr. SeECTEm Has there been a case where the judge denied bail 
Mr. S~[ITH. No. 
Mr. SPECTER. How long has it been in effect? 
Mr. S~tITH. A few months now. 
Mr. SPECTER. i s i d e  from the issue of Federal funding for the ver- 

tical prosecution of juvenile cases, would you have any other sug- 
gestions as to what Federal funding might be useful for in the 
juvenile area 

Mr. S.~t~Trr. Yes, I do. I believe that what we need is to have more 
interchange and exchange of information and m o r e I a  closer moni- 
toring of these cases, both at the--at  all levels of the system. Not 
only the police, which do it, the prosecution, the correctional agen- 
c i e s - a n y  information that any other agency has following--we 
ought to be advised when they release somebody from an another 
agency into San F,'ancisco who hal)pcns to have this kind of back- 
~rtound to the State Department of Justice and the Federal agencies. 

hink we need to have more exchange of information, some of it 
in a kind of seminar way, the way in which the State Depa,'tment of 
Justice atten~pts to do it now, and they do it very successfully. I 'm 
not criticizing. I think we need a more intensive effort. 

Sometimes what you need is to have a counterpart in another agen- 
cy to even talk ttr--a police officer, a deputy, or an assistant district 
attorney. I t ' s  that kind of immediate exchange of information that 
can be critical to a case in te,'ms of knowin.g the background or know- 
ing some of the problems that might ar~se with an attempt at the 
victim for some other incident that relates to the incident that  oc- 
cu,','ed here that shows a kind of pattern. I think that is one of the 
most---one of the ve,'y important things that ought to be done. 

Mr. SPECT~m. M,'. Smith, we very. much appreciate your joining 
us this morning, ve.ry much indeed. Is there anything that  you would 
care to add at this time, Mr. Smith or Mr. Louie? 

Mr. Lo~rrE. No. 
Mr. S~tITH. NO, not that  I know of. 
Mr. Lo~rtE. It 's r~retty inclusive. 
Mr. Sr'ECTEm It 's very helpful. It 's a pleasure for me to talk to 

another district attorney about the prohlem. You're on top of the trial 
calendar, which is one of the toughest lines. We'd like to inquire into 
the specific total number of cases tried between felony and misde- 
meanors and the speed of trial and the number of guilty pleas to get 
some overtrll ideas to your calendar situation. 

Mr. S~[rr]l. Sure. 
." Mr. Sl, r~'WEm We tha.nk you very much for coming. 

Mr. S~rtwm Thank you. 
Mr. SPEaTEn. I 'd next lilee to call Mr. William Vauzha,, St.apleton, 

• director of the Center for the Assessment of the .T,,venile .Tustice Sys- 
tem. I appreciate your being here, Mr. Stapleton, and look forward to 
your testimony. 

91 -K71 (~ - 8.q - 7 
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STATEMENT OF WILLIAM VAUGHAN STAPLETON, DIRECTOR OF 
THE CENTER FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE 
SYSTEM, AMERICAN JUSTICE INSTITUTE 

~1". STAPLETO*N'. Thank you, sir. Y'ou have, perhaps before you a ~ 
report released by the U.g. Department of Justice approximately 1 
month ago. In short form it's 18 pages entitled "Response Stratea~, for 
Youth Gang Activity." - _ . _v 

This is part  of a larger study commissioned by the National 
:Institute for  Juvenile Justice and Del!nquency Prevention entitled 
"Police Handl ing  of Youth Gangs." lh is  larger study is currently 
under review for accuracy and is not yet official. 

I should like to outline some of the major points. The study was 
commissioned to find out principally what police departments in 
major cities in this country were doing about the youth gang problem. 
I t  is a s tudy confined to a survey of a scientific sample of cities. 
78 cities were selected on the basis of geographic l~gJon, population, 
size. 60 cities responded, and~ of those 60 cities, 27 responded that they 
had gangs. This, then, became then the focal point for further  inter- 
views with the police departments. 

Our interviews concentrated on what they ~vere doing to handle the 
gang problem, trying to find if there ~ as a "t) pology of strategies that 
could be derived from this particular survey. The survey confirmed 
the U.S. Attorney General's task force recent findings that gangs and 
law violating youth groups are clearly a grow!ng problem for this 
Nation's cities and their law enforcement agencms. This comes from 
the U.S. At tonmy General's Task Force on Violent Crime, 1981 
l~port. 

Gangs are not exclusive to large urban areas. Manv intermediate 
and small city police departments recognize gang activity as a con- 
tributing fact'or to escalating crime rates. We can neither confirm nor 
den), on the basis of our present survey the Attorney General's con- 
clusions concerning the problem's overall seriousness or magnitude. 
This assessment is a political art rather than an exact science. 

The degree to which a police department responds organizationally 
to juvenile gang activities depends upon a number of factors. Al- 
though young gang and problem youth group members commit a sub- 
stantial number of crimes, this number may be large or small 
depending on how you count them. For  instance, is one homicide 
counted as a homicide of one victim ? Or, if l)erpetrated by eiglit in- 
dividual gang members, is it counted as eitzht individual instances? 
Depending on your counting system, the crime rate may be large or 
small. 

Youth gangs prevent a dilemma to the police admini~rator  with 
limited financial resources. Modern police dcpartmeat management of 
several hundred to, in ~ m e  cases, many thousands of individuals, 
requires administrative iudgment on resource and manpower alloca- 
tions to critical areas. The organization of a specialized youth gang "- 
response, whether it be one person or a full gang unit. is not a casual 
exercise. In its most extreme form, there is extensive division of labor 
and expense entailed in the development of gang intelligence units " 
and gang enforcement activities. 
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We found three specialized organization forms thht characterize 
those police depal~cments reporting youth gang or youth group prob- 
lems. In ascending order of specialization, they are the youth ser~ ice 
program, where traditional police unit persounel--most commonly, 
the youth section or bureau are assi~md gang control responsibility. 
Personnel are not assig3md exclusively nor principally to gang control 
work. 

~re then go to the gang detail, where one or more officers of a tradi- 
tional police unit are assigmed responsibility for the control of gang 
problems. These officers are typically assig~md exclusively to gang con- 
trol work, but tlmy'ro within a traditional division. 

Finally, the gang unit. A police unit is established solely to deal 
with gang problems. The gang unit typically encompases a compre- 

• hensive intelligence function, and personnel are assigned exclusively 
to gang control work. 

There are four functions of gang control activities found in police 
departments across the country. These are intelligence, prevention, 
enforcement, and followup inv'estigation. Surprisingly, however, we 
found tha t  the functions,, of g~mg control are diffused throughout 
police departments, ex en though 3 ou may have one unit in charge of 
gang control. The various functions of p~'evention, intelligence, infor- 
mation processing, and followup investigation and enforcement are 
diffused thro, Jghout various divisions in police departments. 

The amount of resources that agencies are now investigating in 
gang crime prevention and control cannot now be measured accurately. 
This is a veiny difficult thing to estimate. We did find out through our 
survey tha t  some police departments invest a substantial amount of 
money, in some cases millions of dollars~ in gang control work and 
activities. 

We found that many gang control programs have management prob- 
lems. The overwhelming majority of agencies operate without benefit 
of written policies and procedures and with personnel who have re- 
ceived no professionally administered training. The most serious flaw 
by general agreement in the management of present programs is the 
failure to evaluate the effectiveness of gang control programs, and to 
set performance standards so that one may compare jurisdictions and 
their effectiveness. 

Mr. SPECTF.R. ~'Vhat's your judgment as to a good way if not the 
best way, of  dealing with gang problems ? 

~I'. STA] LETON, Our judgment, again based upon surveys of these 
police departments, was a comprehensive community gang control 
program. 

Mr. SPECTE~m Consisting of what ? 
Mr. ST^Pr.~.TO~. Cnnsisting of a liasion between the police who are, 

of course, the front lines on gang control pro~raming, especially when 
gang violence or gang misbehavior escalates. Bnt the police themselves 
cannot handle it alone. They must coordinate with the prosecutors, 

-" with the court system, with probation officers, and with the various 
community a~eneies that are active within a community. I t  is gen- 
erally recognized among gang control 

Mr. SPF.CTER. What  kind of agencies ? What  kinds of agencies ? 
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Mr. STAPLETON'. I cannot specify the precise names of the agencies. 
I would call the agencies the various social service agencies that  have 
operated in comnn~nity youth programs that may or may not con- 
centrate specificall3 on gang activities. But  these are youth programs 
directed toward kids. 

hit'. SPECn'Em Arc you familiar with the Los Angeles pro~Tam 
~ ' [  1". "* " " ~ . . . . . .  " STAILm0X. I m famflmr perq)herally with it as one of the 

programs that  respoJlded. 
Mr. SVECTEm Do 3 ou have an opinion as to the value or effective- 

ness of the Los Angeles program 
Mr. STArLETON. I have no opinion, sir. I can report that they re- 

ported it as effective. I lmve no personal opinion and no persona} 
knowledge of  how effective it is. 

Mr. SP~;CTEm Did you hear tlle testimony about 50 gang homicides 
in San Francisco for the period of 1960 through 1967 and, I think it 
was, 16 from 1977 to the present? 

Mr. ST:XVLETO~¢. Ycs, I did. 
Mr. SPECTrum Did those figures sound about right to you? 
~II'. STAPLE'rON. I have no way of  knowing whether the figures on 

the number of homicides are correct or not. Again, I would have to 
know whether that is counted as the number of homicides based on 
the number of incidents or the mmaber of individuals arrested for 
those. 

]~Ir. SPECTEm Assume the number of 50'. Does it sound about right 
to you ? 

~'[l'. STAPLETON. I would have a hard time answcring that, sir. 
Certainly, i t  is within line with what San Francisco reported at the 
time of the survey as the numbcc of gangs active compared with Los 
Angeles. I f  we took the number of gangs active in the community, it 
wotild seem to be in line, if somewhat low. But, again, it depends on 
how you count the number of incidents versus the number of 
pernetrn tors. 

Mr. SPEaTEm ~rell, on homicides I have never seen them counted 
any way other than the numher of dead people, the number of victims. 
You can have a lot of cases. I f  you have a dozen defendants, you could 
have a dozen cases. But  the number of homicides themselves, the 
number of fatalities, would be the number of people who are killed. 

~Ir. ST,XPLETO.X-. That is one standard method of reporting, crimes 
known to the police. Another standard method of reporting to the 
F B I  Uniform Crime Reports is the number of arrests made for a 
particular incident. In that event you'll have probably more arrests, 
especially for  gang crimes, than there are incidents. - 

Mr. SVECTFm. AS a result of your studies, would you have a recom- 
mend~ltion to this committee a.s to how we might approach the prob- 
lem of juvenile gang control nationally? 

Mr. ST,XVr,V, TON. Nationally, there seen~s to be a need in several areas, 
as expressed by the responding police departments. One area is in 
terms of coordination--and you have already heard testimony to this -- 
effect this morning---coordination between not only police depart- 
ments and other elements of the law enforcement community includ- 
ing prosecutors and courts, but coordination with communitywide 
agencies. 
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Mr. SPEUrEI1. What  can the Federal Government do about that, in 
your judgment  ? 

Mr. STAPLETON. Coordination of those various elements means 
bringing people togetlmr, and that's time, effort, and money. The Fed- 
eral Government can be asked by individual communities to provide 
tile wlmrewithal, either the opportunities o1" tim funding to bring to- 
gether the experts in given communities to share their information. 

Mr. SeECTEm ~'.Vhat can tim Federal Government do beyond the issue 
of coordination ? 

Mr. STarLm'O,W. Training, sir. An express need by many of these 
departments was in the arc~t of training. Of 27 police departments 
reporting on their training methods, only 17 reported some formal 
training. California, of course: has taken'the lead in its training ef- 
forts. But, still, nationxxide we reread a great need for information 
sharing and training of police officer's in the characteristics of youth 
gan~ crime and the different ways to approach this problem. 

I would see that a major need as expressed 133, tim responding police 
departments is in the area of formal training in youth g a n g I t h e  
nature of youth gangs, youth gangs' activities, and strategies to corn- 
bat their activities. 

Mr. Se~:c'vmt. What  beyond coordination and training? 
Mr. Sv,xer,vwor¢. Par t  of training would be technical assistance in 

the management of manpower resources in police departments; train- 
ing in identification of the gang problem: how to comet the number 
of crimes ; whether or not a ~ang problem is expressed solely in terms 
of the amount, of graffiti on t~be walls or whether it's reflected in other 
problems in the community; and, in terms of helping police depart- 
ments, implementing effective strategies. 

For  instance, in ~l~dn~ worl~shops around this country in national 
~minars  sponsored by the National Institute for Juvenile Justice nnd 
Delinquency Prevention, several 13ol ice departments have responded 
on the basis of workshop materials flint, if they land had this informa- 
tion prior to their organization effort.~, they could have saved a lot 
of time and money. Information dissemination and coordination of 
training activities are necessary so that police departments who are 
now just beginning to experience the gan~ problem in smaller cities 
have access to the body of mat'erials and information developed in 
areas, such as California, that  have had a ~-ang: problem for some time. 

Mr. SrEca'~m. Anything more that the Federal Government could 
do? 

Mr. STAPLETON. On file basis of this study, no, I could not say so. 
Mr. SrECT~m. What  is your own backgromad, Mr. Stapleton ? 
5~[r. STAeI~ETO,X'. h'iy background is, I have a de.gree in anthropology. 

an advanced de~'ee in sociology, and training m law. My specialty 
is practical st~ldies if  applied social science in the legal fiel'cl. I 've lmcl 
training at  Yale and Northwestern ga'aduate schools and law schools. 
I am currently director ot~ the Center for the Assessment of the Juve- 

- nile Justice System of the American Justice Institute in Sacramento, 
Calif. I have 18 years of experience in practical and applied research. 

~,Ir. SPECTEa. Did you make an e~aluation of the juvcnile justice 
• ~ y s t e m  n a t i o n w i d e  ~ 
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Mr. STAPLETON, Par t  of the mtmdate of the center, sir, is to conduct 
studies to evaluate the nat,,re of the system. Yes, I am considered an 
expert on the nat~H~ of the justice system nationwide. I t  is part of our 
ingoing efforts at the center. I t  is not a specific study at this time. 

Mr. S,'EC'rEm ~'Vhen was the American Justice Institute organized,: 
and of whom does it consist? 

Mr. ST,XVLE'rox. American Justice Instit'ute was o~,ganized back in 
1959, Z believe. I've only been with the American ,hlstice Institute 
~ little under a year and a half. It 's been ia existence, I think, 22 or 23 
years. I t  w~\s founded by a g,'oup of individuals to be an institute for 
research and iustice to provide practical sohttions to justice problems. 
I t  has a boara of directors and now has a permanent staff of now about 
18 individuals. The center has a permanent staff of five. 

Mr. Sm.:c'rrm. Aside from tim problem of juvenile gang works there, 
there is a current issue facing this svbcommittee as to the administra- 
t'ion's proposal to zero out the juvenile justice funding. In fiscal ),car 
1980, I believe that the fi~lre was $100 million at the national lax, el. 
And President Carter's last budget was set at $135 million. When Pres- 
ident Reagan c~une in, ha put a figure of zero, and we had t]uite a battle 
in the Congress and ended up with a compromise of $tO million, which 
we have maintained. 

What  is your opinion as to the need for maintemtnce of tt juvenile 
justice apparatus at the national level, an Office of Juvenile Justice 
and Delinquency Prevention. if I may ask you a nonleading question ? 

Mr. STaVL!.:T?N. Well, sir, 3,ou realize I 'm limited as to what I can 
say as my opmmn. Essentially, I live o11' of funds to do research. 

Mr. SI'ECTEU. W h y  are you limited as to what you can say as to your 
opinion ~ 

Mr. S'ral"LETON. Because I make my living off of moneys devoted to 
research; tuld, therefore, naturally, I would be for such moneys. 

My. Sm~C'rER. That  might turn on bias, but not limit you on what you 
may say as to your opinion. 

Mr. S'rm'LETO~. Let's say that j.uvenilesT:-as a class of individuals-- 
juveniles and young aclults are dmproportmnately represented in tim 
criminal and juvenile justice system. I t  would seem to me that simply 
on a matter of allocation of resources, that it demands a special effort, 
at a local, State, ~md National level to keep funding l~search, technical 
assistance, and studies of tiffs age group. I 'm speaking of an age group 
starting at the age of risk of 10 to 12 and moving up on into the late 
teens and early 20's. I t  is very difficult for me to recommend specifi- 
cally juvenile rehabilitation programs other than that it is a generally 
accepted opinion among experts that juveniles arc still anae~dable to 
certain kinds of treatment alternatives. The problem for the future is 
the diagnosis and identification of which juveniles can be helped by 
treatement techniques and which juveniles are not amendable to such 
treatment and should be processed on a m o r e - - -  

Mr. SeECWEm DO your studies give you any insight as to the cate- 
gorization or delineation ? .. 

Mr. ST,XPLETO,','. They're begifining to------ 
Mr. SPECTER. That is, at what point would you apply a limited 

resources to assist juveniles on rehabilitation ? 
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Mr. STArLETON. Par t  o f - -  
Mr. SrEc'rEl¢. How many offenses, for example? That  was a subject 

of a very extensive hearing which we had. Dr. Wolfang: from the Uni- 
versity of  PennsylvaJda~ gave tim opinion that the appropriate spot 

., was after three offenses because juveniles committed so many offenses. 
I f  you start  early, you just have too many juveniles. 

~'~1'. STAI?LI':TON. I would say that one of the greatest predictors from 
what we know now of juvenile misbehavior m past behavior. And, 
certaiz]ly, I would pick three to live offenses. But  we have to be careful 
how ~e classify these offenses. And this is, again, a matter of art 
rather than a scmnce. 

You heard Mr. McKenna speak earlier that you have certain types 
of assaultive behavior by juveniles that could lead into more damagang 
behavior. But  because of some interruption of that behavior at  that 
time, it's a simple assault ra.ther than an a ~ r a v a t e d  assault or, indeed, 
a homicide. Juveniles, classically and histo=rC]cally, are going to get into 
trouble, and they're going to get into trouble in groups. The problem 
facing us now is how to isolate those juveniles who are habitual, 
chronic, violent~ and serious offenders and figuring out which modes 
of treatment or which modes of intervention can best be applied. 

~'[r. SPECTER. Give me an example of what kind of mode of inter- 
vention or treatment you would suggest as a possibility. 

Mr. STAPI,E'IX)N. ~-Iel'e I have to leave my official studies and base it 
noon my background in this area. 

"Mr. SPEC~.m. "£hat might not be a bad idea. 
Mr. STAPLET0~. One of the areas that we should be concentrating 

on, of course, is the nature of group crime. I would also like to see 
more effort placed into the relationship bet~een substance--that is, 
drugs and alcohol ; specifically, alcohol abuse--and violent and serious 
crime. There is a heavy correlation between, let's say, the drug of 
choice of juveniles, whmh is alcohol~ and the propensity to commit 
serious and violent juvenile crimes, especially as it's engaged in by 
groups of individuals, whether these groups can be classified as gangs 
or rumply congregations. 

Mr. SP~CTEm YOU think it's a good idea to raise the drinking age 
to 21 

~Ir. STAPLETON. I would say there are limite,~! studies to show that 
that is effective in reducing" things like drixing while intoxicated 
arrests. 

Mr. SPECTER. HOW about other crimes 
M:r. ST,~PLETON. I have no information on that, sir. 
Mr. Sm.:c'n.m. How about an o~)inion? How about a judgment? 
~'[r. STAPLFTON. On the hardcore offenders that you're talking about 

raising the a g e s -  
" Mr. SPECTER. I f  we were dealing only with conclusions based on 

information~ we might not come to any conclusions in the Con~'ess. 
Mr. STAPLETO,'¢. Based on what I know, the hardcore offender who 

.. is going to partake in substances in order to abuse them, no amount 
of legislation or raising or lowering of ages is going to help because 
thev ' regoing to find it and get it. 

• Mr. SPr~CTEm Why not? I t  might be harder to get. I t  would be 
harder to get, yes. 
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l~{r. STArLETOI~, T. In terms of liquor, no. Only those who are law- 
abiding or likely to,obey a law are going to make it harder to get. 
Those that want it ~ ill have somebody buy it for them. 

Mr. SrECTER. Bartenders are likely sometimes to obey the law. 
Mr. STAP~,F:rOX~. Yes, sit'. But what is to prevent an older juvenile or '. 

an older adult  from going and buying bottles of wine or liquor for 
underage juveniles ? 

Mr. ~I,F.CT~:R. I t  would make it harder. You and I wouldn't do it. 
Th~, 'd have to ask move people. I t  slows it down. 

Mr. ST,XPLETON. Again, sit'; we're law-abiding citizens. 
~'~1". SI,EGTER. Sonle people are. 
~'~1". STAPLETO~. That  is the effect of my statement, that the law has 

most e f f e c t ~  
Mr. SI,ECTEm. It  makes it more difficult. 
~ r .  STAPLETON'. Yes. The law has the most effect on those that are 

more likely to obey the law. The hardcore o f f e n d e r ~  
Mr. SI'ECTEm I '~ou ld  agree with that. 
~{l'. STA:PLET0~ ~ [continuing]. Isn't going to pay much attention. 
M,'. SI,ECTER. DO you ha~e anything else you would like to add at 

this time, Mr. Sta]~leton~ 
~'r.  STAPLETO:N'. -[NO, sir. 
Mr. SI,ECTEm Thank you very much. I very much appreciate your 

being here. 
The hearing is adjourned. 
[The hearing was adjourned at 12 o'clock noon.] 
[Mr. Stapleton submitted the following report for the record:] 
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INTRODUCTION 

Youth gangs and appropriate law enforcement response strategies toward youth 
gangs have been the focus of recently revived interest by the general public 
and Federal, State, and local government agencies. These groups expressed 
concern that youth gangs are a major contributing factor in U.S. crime, 
particularly those crimes classified "Index," by the FBI Uniform Crime 
Reports. 1 

Previous social science research has concentrated on description and analysis 
of youth gang structure and type of activity2 with little information availa- 
ble on law enforcement response to the youth gang phenomenon. "How serious is 
the youth gang problem? Is there a problem? If so, how do police departments 
respond to law-violating youth gangs? Where are youth gangs located?" To 
answer these and other questions, the National Institute £or Juvenile Justice 
and Delinquency Prevention requested that the Center for the Assessment of the 
Juvenile Justice System review existing literature and conduct a nationwide 
police department sample survey. 

A 60-department representative sample, stratified by region and city size,'was 
surveyed in late 1981 to determine how police departments were organized to 
meet the challenge of youth gang crime. Twenty-seven of the 60 departments 
s~rveyed reported youth gang problems. The full report~ "Police Handling of 
Youth Gangs," has been submitted to NIJJDP. 3 

According to this survey, youth gangs and law-violating youth groups are a 
m~jor problem to many police departments. Youth gang activity, as well as 
juvenile crime, should be .considered within the context of total law enforce- ... 
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men, r e source  management. ) Po l i ce  responses are best measured against the 
situation's perceived magnitude (defined locally) and the degree to which man- 
power can be allocated to handle a targeted problem. 

SERIOUSNESS OF THE PROBLEM 

The U.S. Attorney General's Task Force on Violent Crime, citing Harvard Uni- 
versity Professor Walter B. Miller's draft report, "Crime by Youth Gangs and 
Groups in the United States/' has estimated "...that about 71 percent of all 
s e r i o u s  cr imes  by youths are a product of l a w - v l o l a t i n g  youth groups ."4  This  
a s s e r t i o n  i s  tempered by M i l l e r ' s  e a r l i e r ,  more cau t ious  approach: 
"[R]eporting that one's city has problems with crime by gangs or groups does 
not necessarily mean that such problems are considered tO be serious."5 

Measuring the ser iousness of  youth gang c r im ina l  a c t i v i t y  is  complicated by a 
number of factors. University of Chicago Professor Franklin Zimring pointedly 
comments that the crime rate, measured by the number of juvenile arrests, ia 
confounded by the use of aggregate data that do not take into account juris- 
dictional differences in age classifications and diversity of criminal 
behavior. 6 Both Zimring7 and Miller8 emphasize the inherent problems of esti- 
mating "group" vs. "individual" crime rates from statistical tabulations that 
report each offender, rather than each event, as a separate offense. Counting 
the number of  crimes in this manner over-emphaslzes the individual as the sta- 
tistical unit. The result, claims Miller, is a "...reluctance to exploit 
systematically the collective nature of youth crlme...nnd to play down both 
the amount and significance of serious youth crime which involves multiple 
o~fenders acting in concert."9 

Other factors inhibit interpretation. In estimating the juvenile crime rate, 
it is not unusual to select a particular database to support a point of view. 
Simply put, the increase or decrease of the denominator in the crime rate 
equation (number of crimes/number of units in the base population) inversely 
affects the race. For instance, 789,648 juvenile Part I (Index) crimes were 
reported in 1980.10 Measured as a p ropo r t i on  o f  t o t a l  j u v e n i l e  crime 
(2,025,713) ,  the ra te  is 39.0 percent.  Calcu la ted as a p ropor t ion  o f  t o t a l  
Part I crime, adult and juvenile (2,198,077 arrests), the rate is 35.9 per- 
cent. However, the crime "rate," computed as a proportion of total arrests 
reported by police departments in 1980 (9,703,181 arrests), falls to 8.I per- 
cent as a function of the enormous increase in the denominator. 

Comparable statistics for Part I (Violent) crime are just as dramatic. As a 
proportion of  adult and juvenile violent crime (446,373 arrests)~ the juvenile 
arrests for violent crime (86,220) represent 19.3 percent of the total. How- 
ever, as a proportion of total juvenile crime (2,025,713 arrests), or as a 
proportion of total Part I (Index) arrests (2,198,077), the statistics drop to 
4.3 and 3.9 percent respectively. More startling is the revelation that the 
number of juveniles arrested for v i o l e n t  crime in the United States for 1980 
is only 0.8 percent of the total number of arrests reported by police during 
that year  (9,703,1gi). 

The Assessment Center's survey of police responses to youth gang crime asked 
departmental spokespersons to estimate the problem's seriousness by listing, 
in order of their prevalence, the types of offenses attributable to youth 
gangs (see Table I, ). Thirteen of 26 departments (50 percent) listed 
Part I offenses (FBI Index crimes) as the most serious problem encountered 
when d e a l i n g  with youth gang activity. Under Part I offenses, violent crimes 
(i.e., robberies, aggravated assaults and muggings, gang vs. gang, and gang 
vs. citizen violence) were considered most serious by I0 (38.5 percent) of" 
the departments. Three departments (11.5 percent )  l i s t e d  other Par t  l 
(property) crimes such as burglary, larceny, and auto theft. 
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Additionally, 13 departments (50 percent) reported Part II offenses (FBI non- 
Index crimes) the most serious problem encountered. Youth gang-related crimi- 
nal a~tivities cited were criminal mischief and vandalism, purse and chain 
(jewelry) snatching, school disturbances, and harassment/intimidation. 

WHERE ARE THE GANGS? 

Youth gangs are no longer unique to large urban areas. Twenty-seven of 50 
police departments report youth gang problems. Although the expected 
relationship of city size and youth gangs was conflrmed--five of six (83.3 
percent) large population centers of one million or more persons host youth 
gangs and four of II (36.4 percent) in the 500,000 to ggg,ggg population base 
report gangs--the survey also found that six of 12 cities (50 percent) with 
populations of 250,000 to 499,999 report youth gang presence. In cities of 
100,000 to 249,999 persons, 12 of 31 (38.7 percent) report youth gangs as a 
law enforcement problem (see Figure I, ). 

These statistics generate uncertainty about prior assumptions that one can ac- 
count for  most U.S. youth gang a c t i v i t y  by concentrat ing on large populat ion 
centers. Only nine of the 27 police departments reporting youth gang problems 
are in urban areas of 500,000 or more persons. The remainder (two-thirds) are 
in cities vlth population bases of less than one-half million. 

Regional differences are even more striking: B7.5 percent (14 of 16) of the 
Western cities sampled acknowledged youth gang problems as compared to 40 per- 
cent (four of I0) of the Northeastern cities, 26.7 percent (four of 15) of the 
North Central region, and 26.3 percent (five of ig) o[ the South (see Figure 
2, ). 

California is a major contributor to the national youth gang problem. Of the 
14 Western police departments, the eight California departments constitute 
57.1 percent of the total. This figure, computed as a proportion of the total 
police departments reporting youth gang activity, accounts for about one-third 
(29.6 percent) of the cities reporting youth gang problems. 

ORGANIZATION FOR GANG CONTROL 

Three specialized organizational forms characterize the 27 police departments 
reporting youth gang or youth group problems. In ascending order of special- 
ization they are: 

The Youth Service Program: Traditional police unit personnel,-~most com- 
monly the youth sect ion or bureau,, are assigned gang contro l  responsi- 
b i l i t y .  ~ersonnel are not assigned exclusively nor principally to gang 
control work. 

The Gan~ Detail: One or more officers of a traditional police unit, most 
commonly youth or de tec t i ve  un i t s ,  are assigned r e s p o n s i b i l i t y  for the 
control of gang problems. Officers are typically assigned exclusively to 
gang control work. 

The Gan~ Uni t :  A pol ice un i t  is establ ished so le ly  to deal with gang 
problems. The gang unit typically encompasses a comprehensive intelli- 
gence function, and personnel are assigned exclusively co gang control 
work. 

Traditional police department units (patrol, investigations, community rela- 
• tions, and crime prevention) either share gang control responsibilities or 

support the organizational unit that has primary responsibility. 
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Table 1 

POLICE DEPARTMENT RANKING OF YOUTH GANG 
CRIMES CONSIDERED THE MOST SERIOUS PROBLEMS 

Part I Offenses 
V io lent  38.5 (10)  

Property 11.5 ( 3 ) 

Part 11" Offenses" 5 0.0 ( 13 ) 

100.0 (26) "  
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.Figure 1 

POLICE DEPARTMENT REPORTS OF YOUTH 
GANG PROBLEMS BY CITY SIZE 
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Figure 2 
POLICE DEPARTMENT REPORTS OF YOUTH GANG PROBLEM BY REGION 
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# A depar tment ' s  o r g a n i z a t i o n a l  form appears p o s i t i v e l y  r e l a t e d  to three fac -  
t o r s :  

Can~ populatlon--the larger the population, the more specialized the 
form. The average reported number of gangs in cities employing the youth 
service approach (the least specialized) is 5.78, while the average num- 
ber of gang members is 16.25. The gang detail and gang unit's comparable 
figures are consistently higher in each category. In gang detail cities, 
the average number of gangs reported is 11.5; the average number of gang 
members is 22.3. In gang unit cities, the average number of gangs 
reported is 46.1; the average number of members is 36.9. 

Seriousness of the gang problem--the survey results indicate gang prob- 
lems are perceived more seriously by respondents in departments with es- 
tablished gang details (e.g., perceived seriousness is strongly asso- 
ciated with degree of specialization). Respondents in nine of 12 depart- 
ments employing the youth service program classify their gang problems as 
minor. (One respondent labeled his city's problem moderate. Two 
respondents viewed their gang problems as major.) 

In comparison, four of seven respondents in gang detail cities labeled 
their problems as minor. The relationship between organizational spe- 
cialization nnd seriousness of crime emerges with more clarity in cities 
with gang units. Five of the eight departments where gang problems are 
perceived to be serious have established gang units, the most specialized 
organizational level. (Respondents in two of the remaining three gang 
unit cities classified problems as moderate; one department classified 
the problem as minor.) 

Police department slze--the survey data indicate size is associated with 
organizational level--specialization is principally a characteristic of 
l a r g e r  depar tments.  In  departments w i th  gang u n i t s ,  the average number 
of  sworn personnel is 7,600.  In  comparison, c i t i e s  w i th  gang d e t a i l s  
have an average of  885 sworn personnel ,  and c i t i e s  using the youth 
se r v i ce  approach have an average of  364 sworn personnel .  

The relative significance of each of these factors is not know'n precisely, and 
al though ques t ions  remain regard ing  the r e l a t i o n s h i p  of o r g a n i z a t i o n a l  types 
and f a c t o r s  be l i eved  assoc ia ted w i th  them, the scope of the present  research 
precludes d e f i n i t i v e  statements about such r e l a t i o n s h i p s  ( i . e . ,  in some c i t i e s  
with gang units, gang population is smaller than in several cities where the 
youth service program mode[ is used). Although department size appears asso- 
ciated with organizational form, several large departments do not have gang 
units. Finally, the relationship between the problem's perceived seriousness 
and organizational type is  not yet  understood and merits further research.  

THE YOUTH GANG CONTROL FUNCTION 

The youth gang con t ro l  f u n c t i o n  encompasses four  classes of  a c t i v i t i e s .  

I n f e r = a l l e n  p r o c e s s i n g - - i n v o l v e s  g a t h e r i n g ,  f i l i n g ,  r e t r i e v i n g ,  and some- 
t imes ,  ana l yz ing  youth gang and youth gang member i n f o r m a t i o n .  A r r e s t  
r e p o r t s ,  f i e l d  i n t e r r o g a t i o n  r epo r t s ,  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  r epo r t s ,  in fo rmants ,  
gang member assoc ia tes ,  and gang members themselves, are p r i n c i p a l  i n f o r -  
mat ion  aources. 

P r e v e n t l o n - - i n c l u d e s  deter rence and suppression a c t i v i t i e s  and programs 
t a r g e t e d  d i r e c t l y  at  gang members and gang a c t i v i t i e s ,  such as school i n -  
f o rma t i on  programs, and po l i ce  med ia t ion  e f f o r t s  in c o n t r o l l i n g  i n t e r -  
gang v i o l e n c e .  
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Enforcement--includes traditional arrest-orlented police practices such 
as visible patrol, random or directed surveillance, and task force use. 

F o l l o w - u p  i n v e s t i g a t l o n - - / n c l u d e s  a p p r e h e n s i o n  o f  g a n g  members who have  • 
o r  a r e  a l l e g e d  to  have  c o m m i t t e d  c r i m e s .  

Unexpectedly, the survey results demonstrate the gang control function in the 
27 cities is diffused. Despite existence of specialized organizational forms 
in  many d e p a r t m e n t s ,  gang  c o n t r o l  a c t i v i t i e s  a r e  c o n d u c t e d  by some or  a l l  p e r -  
s o n n e l  in  s e v e r a l  u n i t s  in  e v e r y  d e p a r t m e n t .  

GANG CONTROL PROGRA~ING 

Programming in reporting departments is characterized by application of com- 
bined s t r a t e g i e s  co:  (1)  p r e v e n t  c r i m e  by y o u t h  gang  members ,  and (2)  a p p r e -  
hend and incapacitate youth gang members who do commit crimes. 

The most popular prevention programs are recreational and include police 
a t h l e t i c  l e a g u e s ,  a l o n g  w i t h  n e i g h b o r h o o d  and p a r e n t  c o u n c i l s  to  h e l p  
i d e n t i f y ,  c o u n s e l ,  and r e f e r  t r o u b l e d  y o u t h ;  s c h o o l - b a s e d  p r o g r a m s  t h a t  
i n v o l v e  c o u n s e l i n g  and c r i m e  p r e v e n t i o n  work;  b u i l d i n g  b e t t e r  p o l i c e - y o u t h  
r e l a t i o n s ;  i n f o r m i n g  s t u d e n t s  a b o u t  employment  and s o c i a l  s e r v i c e  
o p p o r t u n i t i e s .  P r e v e n t i v e  p a t r o l  and o t h e r  s u p p r e s s i o n  a c t i v i t i e s  a r e  common. 
In  many d e p a r t m e n t s ,  e s p e c i a l l y  those t h a t  have s p e c i a l i z e d  gang  p e r s o n n e l ,  
c l a s s i c a l  s o c i a l  s e r v i c e  " s t r e e t w o r k , "  o r i e n t e d  to  s u p p r e s s i o n  as we l l  a s  
p r e v e n t i o n ,  i s  in e v i d e n c e .  

R e s p o n d e n t s  i n  14 of  the  27 d e p a r t m e n t s  r e p o r t i n g  gang  p r o b l e m s  s t a t e d  t h e y  
d id  not  c o n d u c t  p r o g r a m s  d i r e c t e d  e x c l u s i v e l y  to  y o u t h  g a n g s  o r  gang  members ,  
bu t  use  the  same p r o g r a m  r e p e r t o i r e  d i r e c t e d  a t  y o u t h  in  g e n e r a l .  The m a j o r -  
i t y  o f  t h e s e  c i t i e s  employ the  y o u t h  s e r v i c e  p r o g r a m  a p p r o a c h .  

T h i r t e e n  r e s p o n d i n g  d e p a r t m e n t s  have  e s t a b l i s h e d  s p e c i a l  p r o g r a m s  e m p l o y i n g  
the  same s e t  o f  s t r a t e g i e s  used  to  dea l  w i t h  o t h e r  j u v e n i l e  o f f e n d e r s ,  po ten -  
t i a l  j u v e n i l e  o f f e n d e r s ,  and a d u l t  o f f e n d e r s .  

In many c i t i e s ,  g a n g  c o n t r o l  p rogra raming  h a s  an e x t r a - d e p a r t m e n t a l  d i m e n s i o n .  
P o l i c e  d e p a r t m e n t s  j o i n  w i t h  o t h e r  l o c a l  p o l i c e  a g e n c i e s ,  S t a t e  and l o c a l  
gove rnmen t  a g e n c i e s ,  and communi ty  a g e n c i e s  f o r  c o o p e r a t i v e  r e s p o n s e s  to  g a n g  
p r o b l e m s .  I n f o r m a t i o n  e x c h a n g e  c o n c e r n i n g  gang  a c t i v i t y  and gang  members 
among law e n f o r c e m e n t  a g e n c i e s ,  p o l i c e  p a r t i c i p a t i o n  in  the  a c t i v i t i e s  o f  
c l t y - l e v e l  human r e l a t i o n s  and s o c i a l  s e r v i c e s  p l a n n i n g ,  a d v i s o r y  g r o u p s ,  and 
s t u d y  g r o u p s  a r e  p o p u l a r  fo rms  of  e x t r a - d e p a r t m e n t a l  p r o g r a r m i n g .  

Whi le  e x t r a - d e p a r t m e n t a l  a l l i a n c e s  presen t  f a v o r a b l e  c o n d i t i o n s  f o r  
f o r m u l a t i n g  i n n o v a t i v e  g a n g  c o n t r o l  p r o g r a m s ,  t h i s  o p p o r t u n i t y  has  no t  been  
f u l l y  e x p l o i t e d .  Only.  14 o f  the  27 p o l i c e  d e p a r t m e n t s  r e p o r t i n g  y o u t h  g a n g  
p r o b l e m s  p a r t i c i p a t e  in  e x t r a - d e p a r t m e n t a l  g a n g - o r l e n t e d  a c t i v i t y .  E x c h a n g i n g  
i n f o r m a t i o n  on g a n g s  and g a n g  members seems to  be the  most p r e v a l e n t  k i n d  o f  
e x t r a - d e p a r t m e n t a l  a c t i v i t y ,  y e t  se ldom o c c u r s  w i t h i n  the f r amework  o f  f o r m a l  
information systems. Rather, it is in the shape of  informal requests from one 
a g e n c y  to  a n o t h e r ,  and i n f o r m a l  r e v i e w  and i n f o r m a t i o n  e x c h a n g e s  among g a n g  
o f f i c e r s  on an  u n s c h e d u l e d  b a s i s .  

The s t r a t e g i e s  mos t  f r e q u e n t l y  employed to  a p p r e h e n d  y o u t h  gang  members who 
h a v e ,  o r  a r e  a l l e g e d  to  h a v e ,  commi t t ed  c r i m e s  i n c l u d e  s t a n d a r d  p a t r o l  t a c t i c s  
such  as r a p i d  r e s p o n s e  d u r i n g  or  j u s t  a f t e r  t he  commis s ion  o f  c r i m e s ,  imme- 
d i a t e  f o l l o w - u p  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  by p a t r o l  o f f i c e r s ,  y o u t h  o f f i c e r s ,  o r  s p e c i a l - .  
ized gang  p e r s o n n e l ,  and more t r a d i t i o n a l  f o l l o w - u p  i n v e s t i g a t i o n  by p e r s o n n e l  
f rom a v a r i e t y  o f  u n i t s .  A p p r e h e n s i o n ,  when s u c c e s s f u l ,  i s  g e n e r a l l y  f o l l o w e d  
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by a p p l i c a t i o n  o f  the most app rop r i a t e  of  the standard t r i l o g y  of  a l t e r n a t i v e s  
tha t  po l i ce  use to deal w i th  j u v e n i l e  o f f ende rs - - counse l  and re lease ,  s t a t i o n  
adjustment, referral to juvenile court and, where statutorily permlssiblep 
referral to adult court. In some cities, selection of the "most appropriate" 
alternatives is influenced by a deliberately conceived gang control strategy 
kno~m as gang-breaklng. 

GANG-BRF_.AKING AS A SPECIAL EMPHASIS PROGRAM 

Gang-breaking is a method whereby police personnel work to incapacitate gang 
leaders and the most visible gang membersp making the gang itself less cohe- 
sive as an organization. This strategy is innovative, non-tradltlonal, and 
unique because it is directed toward the phenomenon of the gang itself and not 
at gang members exclusively. 

Practices used in this approach include making youth gangs aware that police 
have them under surveillance, getting cow, unity members to introduce police to 
youth gangs, and getting youth gang members co cormunicate with the police 
regarding their problems~ both internal and external. Respondents in five de- 
partments mentioned success with gang-breaklng. The gang-breaklng concept 
consists of four elements which are illustrated in Figure 3 and dis- 
cussed below. 

Preven t i on  Strategies 

Prevention t a community endeavor consisting of social service agency, 
police, community, and private sector interaction t is believed the best 
approach for controlling youth gang crime. This preventive role is reflected 
in Box I of Figure 3. The co~unity's social service system, with any 
assistance it receives from citizen and private sector organizatlonsv i s  
responsible for treating conditions assumed to breed criminality in young 
people--poverty, inadequate housing, poor health, inadequate health care, 
unemployment, and inadequate education. These social service programs ore not 
targeted directly toward gang members, but rather are administered broadly and 
for the welfare of all. 

A strong police department prevention program can augment and operate within 
the framework of community prevention services. The police program can 
coordinate strategies with services in three directions: general services for 
youths and adul.ts; services for youths alone; and youth gang-specific 
strategies. General prevention services directed toward adults and youths can 
include those normally encompassed within the typical departmental crime pre- 
vention program: patrolt random or directed; community crime prevention 
techniques such as neighborhood watches and crime prevention education; and 
c~unlty relations programs. Usually, these prevention services are 
delivered by unlcs other than those responsible for youth and gangs. Youth- 
oriented prevention services can include any or all of the strategies, tech- 
niques, and practices mentioned by survey respondents. Prevention services 
targeted directly at gang members complete the repertoire of prevention 
services. These can include having youth workers interact directly with gang 
leaders; having leaders of competing gangs talk and mediate problems; having 
police and gang leaders mediate problems; and "removing," through arrest and 
prosecution, gang leaders. This latter recommendation is not only a control 
technique, but a preventive measure as well (i.e., police feel that removing 
leaders impairs the gang's functional abilityp if only temporarily, and 
impresses members with the "vulnerability" of gangs). 

S t r a t e g i e s  for Followers 

When prevention fails and crimes are cormaitted, police identify those believed 
responsible and apprehend them. A critical element of the gang-breaking 
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concept begins once gang members have been apprehended. Gang members who have, 
or are alleged to have compiled criminal acts should be treated 
programmatlcally through existing procedures for handling youth who become 

4 involved with police. As depicted in Box 2 of Figure 3 (p. 9), depending on 
the incident's nature and circumstances and the individual's history and 
characteristics, police should select the most suitable alternative: counsel 
and release or informal adjustment at the station. Followers who ere 
counseled and released or station adjusted can be diverted in many instances 
(i.e., encouraged or required to participate in remedial social service 
programs administered by the social service agencies of a community and/or by 
the police department). These actions are consistent with the traditional 
public and police intent to rehabilitate or protect youth involved with the 
justice system. Should the gang member in question be beyond the juvenile 
age~ an entirely different set of disposition alternatives begins, principally 
referral to the criminal justice system. 

Strategies for Leaders 

Gang leaders or hardcore members require special programatic handling. These 
special control strategies are illustrated in Box 3 of Figure 3 (p. 9). Gang 
leaders or hardcore members who violate the law and are of legal juvenile age 
are referred to juvenile court, and those beyond the legal juvenile age are 
prosecuted in adult court. Prosecutors and judges in either jurisdiction have 
obligations in this conceptual scheme. Prosecutors are expected to gain 
convictions, while judges and probation officers are expected to recomend and 
impose stiff aanctlons~ including prison terms when possible and appropriate. 
Ocher options should be elected when appropriated but emphasis should be on 
punishment and incapacitation rather than on re-dlrectlon and release. Police 
are expected to aid in successful prosecution and convince courts that 
incarceration is juetified.ll However, respondents did not volunteer 
information about how aggressive and proactive police should be in eltm£natlng 
leaders from gangs or on the legal techniques useful for so doing. 

Evaluation 

The final element of the gang-breaking concept is evaluation (see Box 4 of 
Figure 3, p. 9). Evaluation can be comprehensive and encompass all agency 
programming; police departments and social service agencies can evaluate 
prevention, controlp and remedial strategy effectiveness. Additionally, 
agencies can use the evaluation results to direct efforts toward research and 
reprogramming. The present survey did not uncover any systematic or 
methodologically sound evaluation strategies. 

A COHI~REHENSIVE COHY~UNITY GANG CONTROL PROGRAM 

A comprehensive cormaunlty gang control program is the preferred method in 
dealing vith youth gang crime problems. This concept is a structural approach 
designed to direct the activities of all relevant organizations toward carman 
goals without materially impairing the autonomy of participating agencies. 
Every organization concerned with the welfare of gang members or potential 
gang members should be involved in the program. Countyvide organization is 
preferable since it enables county and municipal agencies and institutions to 
parclcipace. It is essentlal that police agencies in cities where gang 
problems are centered participate.. Participation of social service agencies, 
prosecutors, judges, probation and parole agencies is also reco~nended for 
effective program function. 

, Each community's key policy and administrative officials can organize the 
program to reflect the community's serious cotm~itment to managing its gang 
problems. The program should be given formal status, and be governed 
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by the representatives of participating agencies. Public members and other 
governmental agencies can be added to the board if deemed essential. A budget 
and a staff should be provided. 

Though variations uill occur among communltles~ the governing body and its 
staff can perform a series of operations designed t o  overcome two major 
programming flaws; fragmentation, and absence of fixed responsibility. These 
operations a r e :  

• Determine the extent of a community's Bans problem: determine how many 
gangs there are, how many members are in the gangs, and the criminal 
history of gangs and gang members. 

• Analyze the ~an~ population: describe the economic, social, health~ 
educational, ethnic, sex, and age characteristics of members. 

• Establish objectives: define what the community and each agency should 
strive to accomplish with respect to the behavior of gangs and gang 
members. 

• Formulate programmatic responses: identify strategies chat participating 
agencies should administer both individually and cooperatively to 
achieve the objectives set forth. 

• Mobillze the necessary resources to employ the strategies selected: 
gather resources and services from government agencies, the communlty~ 
and the private sector to administer selected strategies. 

• Evaluate program results: gather, process, and interpret the data 
required to determine whether program strategies are producing desired 
program results. 

• Trslnln~ program participants: develop and administer training programs 
for personnel of all participating agencies. Training programs should 
cover the nature of comprehensive com~nunity gang control programs~ the 
roles of participants in them, and substantive matters pertaining t O  

prevention and control of gang crime. The very act of establishing a 
comprehensive coo~nunlty gang control program will be a major step toward 
unifying the many agencies that now administer gang progratmaing 
independently. Escabllshing objectlves t identifying strategies, 
coordinating current programs, and mobilizing communlty resources can 
eliminate the fragmentation that currently exists. Accountability is 
established by setting specific goals, formulating programs t and 
implemenclng evaluation procedures. 

The comprehensive community gang control program structure may transcend its 
expected value for gang control; such a program could become a mechanism to 
integrate a communlty's juvenile justice system in its entirety and provide a 
forum for addressing and implementing recorm~endations of study groups, task 
forces~ and agencies concerned wi~h juvenile justice planning. 

THE POLICE ROLE IN ESTABLISHING COMPREHENSIVE COH>IUNITY GANG CONTROL PROGRAMS 

e 

I, 

There is reason to expect police to react favorably, if cautiously~ to the 
comprehensive comznunity gang control program concept. This optimistic 
expectation is rooted in the belief that many practitioners are not only 
persuaded of the value and need for integrated community program~nlng t but have 
already begun to establish integrated programs. 
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Many Of the gang control personnel surveyed underscored the need for more 
integrated organizations of gang control programming and resources. Those who 
called for "greater liaison with the Board of Education," and an intensified 
"attack on social causes of problems," those who noted that the solution lies 
in "more social progra~mmlng," and the entire cadre of individuals who called 
for greater mobilization of community resources and programs, seemed to be 
calling for more effective mobilization and integration of co~m~unity resources 
and programs, if only implicitly. Other practitioners have gone beyond 
expressing their beliefs in the wisdom of joint attack on gang problems by 
actually establishing integrated agency programs. The most prominent example 
is the Safe Streets Project (OJARS, 1981),12 a joint effort of law 
enforcement, prosecutorlal, and probation agencies. The Probation and Police 
Suppression of Youth Gang Activity Project (Attorney General's Youth Gang Task 
Force, 1981),13 which seeks to develop more productive police-probatlon 
department relationships, is another. A third model, the Juvenile Gang 
Reduction Specialist Project (Attorney General's Youth Gang Task Force, 
1981),14 seeks to coordinate more effective police and juvenile court action 
on gangs. These actions no= only substantiate the favorable disposition of 
the police and the rest of the criminal justice community toward integrated 
prograrmaing, but also point to the formation of such programs. Thus, 
comprehensive co~maunity program=sing represents less a dramatic departure from 
the current programming style than a mechanism for accelerating a movement 
that has already begun. The favorable disposition of police toward this 
movement places them in s prime position t o  exert leadership in the 
development of comprehensive community gang control programs. Police .are 
urged to assume such leadership positions since other agencies are expected to 
respond favorably to these initiatives. 

MANAGEMENT OF GANG CONTROL PROGRAH~ING 

The gang control program management analysis revealed three areas needing 
improvement: coordination, training, and evaluation. The following 
improvement recommendations apply to police departments irrespective of size, 
organizational gang control form~ or gang problem severity. 

Coordination 

The survey results indicate the gang control function is a collaborative 
endeavor with as many as four units involved in gang control. Goal, policy, 
and operation coordination is important in such environments. Inconsistent 
and conflicting administration of gang control activities creates and 
maintains problems in program delivery. 

A variety of mechanisms are used to coordinate diffused police functions; the 
most effective involves centralizing responsibility for goal setting, 
planning, operations, and monitoring in one unit. Such units have formal 
authority over all other units with respect to the activities in question. 
Centralized authority is formalized through written policies and procedures 
which esrefuly delineate roles, powers, and responsibilities of the several 
units that participate in or influence the various functions and are issued to 
all personnel involved in the coordinated functions. Measures ensuring 
compliance with these policies and procedures are implemented. 

The present survey data indicate that neither centralized responsibility nor 
written policies and procedures are being used widely. The information 
gathered shows a widespread absence of written policies and procedures; only 
four of the 27 departments have them. Unless agencies maintain coordination 
in other ways, such as frequent and effective oral corm~unication in either 

Iformal or informal settings, gang control program coordination in many 
agencies is probably less than adequate. 
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T r a i n i n g  

Gang specialists and non-speciallsts must master important concepts to 
function properly. These may be conveyed on-the-job, but are taught most 
effectively in formal training settings. Important training issues include 
the nature, structure, and history of gangs, departmental goals and policies, 
and useful strategies for prevention and control of youth gang problems. 
Subjects of interest and relevance co gang control personnel often emerge more • 
f r e e l y  in formal t r a i n i n g  s e t t i n g s  (which are u s u a l l y  less t h rea ten ing  than 
o n - t h e - j o b  s i t u a t i o n s ) ,  perhaps because f ree  exchange is  encouraged and o f t e n  
r e w a r d e d .  

Gang control personnel in. 17 of the 27 departments have not had formal gang 
control training. If these officers have not been trained, it is a virtual 
certainty that members of other units that share the gang control function are 
untrained as well. Agencies that currently do not provide training for those 
involved in gang control programs, o r  that only provide occasional 
opportunities, can cake steps to alter the situaCion. Without formal 
training, officers and their superiors must discuss concepts, policies, and 
i n d i v i d u a l  needs o n - t h e - j o b ,  an approach usua l l y  viewed in the po l i ce  wor ld as 
an ad junct  to and c o n t i n u a t i o n  of  formal t r a i n i n g - - n o t  a s u b s t i t u t e  fo r  i t .  
I t  is  essen t i a l  tha t  gang u n i t s ,  gang d e t a i l s ,  and a l l  o the r  personnel who 
deal w i th  youth gangs ( i . e . ,  p a t r o l  o f f i c e r s ,  i n v e s t i g a t o r s ,  youth o f f i c e r s ~  
and com~Qunity r e l a t i o n s  personne l )  rece ive  t r a i n i n g .  

Two problems may hamper p o l i c e  e f f o r t s  co implement t r a i n i n g  programs. F i r s t ,  
departments have l i m i t e d  fund ing resources fo r  t r a i n i n g .  Host agencies are 
expected to accept  the r e c o ~ e n d a t i o n  to t r a i n  a l l  personnel  who deal w i th  
youth gangs; however,  many cannot a f f o rd  broad-based t r a i n i n g  programs. Cost 
l i m i t a t i o n s  can be c i rcumvented by adopt ing a technique used co maximize 
t r a i n i n g  inves tments .  This method invo lves  sending one or two i n d i v i d u a l s  to 
a v a i l a b l e  t r a i n i n g  courses; those i n d i v i d u a l s  then r e t u r n  to t h e i r  own 
departments to t r a i n  personne l .  In  order  to conduct in-house t r a i n i n g ,  a 
course must be developed. Therefore, departments considering this strategy 
should send both program members and instructors to training courses. The 
instructors could then develop more effective in-service courses. Systematic 
evaluations of this technique for dealing with funding limitations have not 
been conducted. 

Second, gang control training technology is not readily available to police 
departments. Few public or private organizations offer gang training courses. 
Training materials such as model curricula, participant work materials, and 
audio and visual presentation materials are either scarce o r  unavailable. 
This techno logy gap notwithstanding, most agencies have no alternative for the 
irmnediate future other than the developmefit and delivery of their own 
training. 

Effectiveness 

Effectiveness is the degree to which objectives (goals) are successfully 
achieved. Clear and precise articulation of goals and valid measures of them 
are prerequisites for calibrating effectiveness. Discussion with respondents 
in the 27 cities that report youth gang problems produced no evidence that the 
police departments have systematically employed valid and reliable , 
effectiveness measures. Judgments about the va lue of current programming, 
whether traditional or innovative, can only be properly based on evaluative 
research. The absence of evaluation information impaired the ability Co 
identify effective or promising gang control strategies. 

departments were willing to provide subjective ~ Respondents in  o n e - t h i r d  o f  the 
appraisals of their gang control program's effectiveness and to state the 
criteria by which they reached these conclusions. A l l  but one of  t h o s e  



115 

r e s p o n d i n g  d e c l a r e d  t h e i r  d e p a r t m e n t ' s  e f f o r t s  as  s u c c e s s f u l .  The a p p r a i s a l s  
r a n g e  from " d r a m a t i c a l l y  s u c c e s s f u l "  to " s u c c e s s f u l  to a d e g r e e . "  Respondents  
der ived t h e i r  appra isa ls  in d iverse  ways. Some based t h e i r  conclus ions on 

; c r i t e r i a  t y p i c a l l y  considered to be ob jec t i ve  ( e . g . ,  a r r e s t  races~ clearance 
r a t e s p  c o n v i c t i o n  r a t e s ,  and p rogram p l a c e m e n t s ) .  While such m e a s u r e s  might  
be valid appraisals of success, the reliability of the statistics provided is 
ques t ionab le .  The respondents'  general i n a b i l i t y  to supply q u a n t i t a t i v e  
statistical data on other subjects covered by the survey (i.e., "Nhat 
proportion of crime is co~m~itted by gang members?" "Nhat proportion of 
juvenile crime is co~mnitted by gang members?") strongly suggests that 
conclusions provided about favorable arrest, clearance, and conviction rates 
are more likely based on unsystematic evaluation efforts than on statistical 
information. Other respondents used more subjective criteria (e.g., requests 
for assistance and positive responses from the public). Some respondents used 
no criteria at all, preferring instead to comment on police potential in 
managing or eliminating gang problems (e.g., responses such as "can't 
eliminate gangs, can reduce violence," and "problem is manageable but can't be 
eliminated"). 

Evaluation 

The ability to measure program effectiveness, defined as the degree to which 
program goals and objectives are achieved successfully, is the paramount 
requirement for managing and improving any police program. Measuring 
effectiveness enables police executives to perform a wide range of critical 
management functions in a systematic and formal manner. Critical management 
f unc t i ons  inc lude eva lua t i ng  the impact of new programs, a l l o c a t i n g  new 
resources, trading off current resources, and budgeting. Failure to measure 
the degree to which goals and objectives are achieved precludes insightful 
and, in some cases, even minimally effective conduct of these functions. 

Unsubstantiated evidence suggests police agencies are unable to measure gang 
control program effectiveness, although this has not been demonstrated 
conclusively. Few departments could respond authoritatively to effectiveness 
queries. None of  the departments surveyed had systematic quantitative success 
indicators available. Few departments gave evidence of having program 
objectives; one of the tools or prerequisites for measurement. 

Po l i ce  departments that  are unprepared to adequately measure e f f e c t i v e n e s s  
should rectify the situation (departments should begin developlng the systems 
and information needed to gauge t h e i r  total program e f f e c t i v e n e s s ,  and of the 
individual strategies that are employed within it). Departmental efforts will 
be impaired, again, by a shortage of readily available technology and funding. 
In addition to the development of measurable objectives and reliable 
standards, evaluation efforts should concentrate on (1) acquainting police 
departments with the standards, and (2) on the types of information necessary 
to implement them. Few of these tools are available now. Neither the 
t e l e p h o n e  s u r v e y  nor the  l i t e r a t u r e  y i e l d e d  much t h a t  is  of  use fo r  m e a s u r i n g  
e f f e c t i v e n e s s .  P o l i c e  d e p a r t m e n t s  a r e  f a c e d ,  t h e r e f o r e ,  wi th  the formidable 
t a s k  of  d e v e l o p i n g  t h e i r  own e v a l u a t i o n  t o o l s .  P r o c e d u r a l l y ,  g o a l s  and 
o b j e c t i v e s  must be d e v e l o p e d  p r i o r  tO es tab l i sh i ng  eva lua t ion  t o o l s .  

CONCLUSION 

• T h i s  r e p o r t  i n d i c a t e s  p o l i c e  a r e  a t t e m p t i n g  tO p r e v e n t  and c o n t r o l  youth  gang 
problems in a system characterized by substantial fragmentation. This is the 
result of the  myriad of public, privatep and law e n f o r c e m e n t  agencies' 
association with youth gangs and youth gang members. Although many agencies 

• c influence gang members, no organization is "in charge" of gang progra~ing-- 
none are accountable for effective prevention and control of youth gangs and 
youth gang crime. The data on inter-agency relationships suggest agencies 
function i n d e p e n d e n t l y  and without formal corm~unication. 

@ 
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The consequences of fragmentation and absence of accountability have not been 
subject to systematic inquiry. However, they are probably similar to those of 
other progr~ing areas studied (i.e., police and other agencies working with 
gang members are often at cross-purposes because of general inconsistency and 
lack of coordination). Where this is the case, the organizational and 
financial resources committed to prevention and control of gangs are poorly 
invested. Often, jurisdictional resources are not being applied productively. 
Perhaps worse, the gang member becomes frustrated and angered by the barrage 
of inconsistent advice, guidance, and direction. Fragmentation impairs 
effectiveness. 

The juvenile justice system should be able to prevent end control gang 
problems in an environment where all agencies involved in the gang control 
f unc t i on  have clearly delineated roles. The comprehensive community gang 
control program model is a departure from the currently dominant style of gang 
control program organization, but not a dramatic one. Agencies that wish to 
strengthen or create new gang control programs may consider this an alternate 
approach. W~T~ther this program can actually produce better results than 
current programs is not known. The program, as it has been described in this 
brief report, suggests ways that departments and agencies may effectively 
measure the success or failure of their gang control strategies. 
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